
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Thursday 1 December 2022 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Friday 9 December 2022, 1.30 pm 
 

Council Chamber, Allerdale House 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Michael Heaslip (Co-Chair) Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes (Co-

Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Barbara Cannon 
Councillor John Cook Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Patrick Gorrill Councillor Malcolm Grainger 
Councillor Iain Greaney Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Sally Lansbury Councillor Paul Scott 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 516809. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 
2022. 

  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda, in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 
 

  



4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two clear 
working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

5. Public Participation   
 

 To hear representations from members of the public on items which appear on 
the agenda – submitted in writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 
working days before the meeting. 

  

6. Housing Grants and Assistance Policy  (Pages 9 - 42) 
 

 To consider the draft Policy. 
  

7. Quarter 2 Performance Report 2022/23  (Pages 43 - 74) 
 

8. Quarter 2 Finance Report  (Pages 75 - 118) 
 

9. Verbal Update on Local Government Reorganisation   
 

10. Progress on responses to questions on Safer Streets Project   
 

11. Forward Plan  (Pages 119 - 128) 
 

12. Work Programme and Outcomes Monitoring  (Pages 129 - 130) 
 

13. Task and Finish Group/Working Group Updates   
 

 

 
Interim Head of  
Paid Service 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Friday 13 January 2023, 1.30 pm 

Council Chamber, Allerdale House 
 
 



At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in Council Chamber, 
Allerdale House on Friday 11 November 2022 at 1.30 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Michael Heaslip (co-Chair) Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes (Co-

Chair) 
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor John Cook 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Sally Lansbury 
Councillor Paul Scott  
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Allan Daniels, Councillor Patrick Gorrill, Councillor Malcolm Grainger and Councillor Iain 
Greaney 
 
Staff Present 
 
B Carlin, H Davies, A FitzGerald and G Roach 
 
219. Minutes  

 
Councillor Heaslip commented that a number of points raised by members at 
the previous meeting had not been recorded and asked that they be amended 
as follows; 
 
Under minute number 196. Monitoring of Regeneration Programmes – 
Workington & Maryport – in relation to the paragraph on the Sports Village, to 
include ‘Members raised their concerns around the tight timescale for 
completion of the project and urged the Executive to ensure it was progressing 
swiftly’. 
 
Under minute number 197. Gypsy and Traveller Site Report in the last 
paragraph include ‘Members stressed the importance of having a site to 
accommodate casual visitors to the area as well as more or less permanent 
residents’. 
 
Under minute number 200. Verbal Update on Local Government Reorganisation 
in the last paragraph include ‘where were the predicted savings to come from, in 
particular if all buildings were to be kept on,…’. 
 
Resolved 
 
The minutes were agreed as a correct record subject to the above 
amendments. 
 

220. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

221. Questions  
 
None received. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



222. Public Participation  
 
None received. 
 

223. Verbal Update on Cost of Living Measures  
 
The Strategic Advisor – Corporate Policy provided the Committee with a verbal 
update on the cost of living measures being taken by the Council. At the 
previous meeting members were informed that options were being explored on 
how a pot of unallocated money could be used to assist residents. A package 
had now been agreed and the funds were to be divided as follows; 
 
Homelessness - £20k - This funding allocation was to fill the funding gap left by 
DLUHC confirming that there would be no winter provision grant allocation this 
year for providing emergency accommodation under the SWEP (Severe 
Weather Emergency protocol); 
Foodbank - £25k - This would fund £10 vouchers for households coming to the 
Foodbank. Targeted primarily at families picking up out of term time free school 
meal packs, as well as other families in emergency need.  The £10 vouchers 
could be used at local businesses for fresh produce (fruit and veg, fresh meat 
etc.);   
Warm spots/rooms/hubs through community centres or village halls - £25k - 
A number of projects were already being developed across different places. The 
council’s contribution may be to top up funds available to support warm spots 
further into the winter; 
Third sector grants - £50k - Grants to support third sector support agencies 
offering help with issues exacerbated by cost of living pressures e.g. mental 
health, alcohol and drug services, domestic violence; 
Cumbria Community Foundation Winter Warmth Fund - £10k - Donation into the 
fund that supports vulnerable older people who struggle to heat their homes, so 
they can stay warm and healthy during winter. 
 
In addition to those 
- it was also agreed that some remaining funding in the DLUHC Hardship Fund 
would go to DHPs so that there was enough funding there to meet what we 
expect will be increased demand (£146k). 
The Housing Team were also developing proposals with Cafs and AgeUK for a 
winter warmth project for Allerdale residents.    
 
It was agreed that an update would be provided to the Committee on the 
demand and uptake of the above initiatives. 
 
Agreed 
 
That the update be noted. 
 

224. UK Shared Prosperity Investment Plan progress update  
 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Innovation and Commercial) presented the draft 
Executive report to the Committee and answered any questions. 
 

Page 4



Questions were asked around the delivery arrangements including timescale 
and communication strategy.  
 
It was explained that the year one funding would need to be spent, or at the 
very least committed, by the end of this financial year making the programme 
timetable quite tight to manage, in particular with all of the administrative 
process involved with grant applications. Therefore to assist with that a lot of 
groundwork was being carried out now through identifying which interventions 
and projects were already in the Councils control that could be expanded upon 
and using targeted communication campaigns. 
 
Members enquired about the methodology as to establishing the list of agreed 
funding awards as set out in the report. 
It was confirmed the Executive had prioritised the programme cross-referenced 
against the Council Plan.  
 
The report was due to go to Executive on 23 November 2022 for approval. 
 
Agreed 
 
That the update be noted. 
  

225. Progress on responses to questions on Safer Streets Project  
 
The Committee considered a further response received from the Safer Streets 
Co-ordinator, from that brought a conclusion to some of their earlier queries on 
why the focus of the project was around burglaries in particular. It was 
confirmed that the focus had been specified by the Home Office along with strict 
guidelines in relation to the funding. 
 
Members still felt that a number of their questions remained unanswered. It was 
the quantitative information they were interested in, such as the number of 
burglaries in the area at the start of the Safer Streets project and the figures 
afterwards. That information could demonstrate the added value from the 
scheme.  
 
The Chair resolved to engage again with both the Co-ordinator and the Police to 
try and get the responses to outstanding questions from the Committee. 
 
Agreed  
 
That the update be noted. 
 

226. Verbal Update on Local Government Reorganisation  
 
The Strategic Advisor – Corporate Policy provided members with a verbal 
update on LGR. 
All workplans had been reviewed to ensure they were robust and focused on 
‘day one readiness’, 20% across all plans had been achieved to date. 
 
The Cumberland Council Plan had now been agreed and an initial draft of the 
Target Operating Model for the new council developed. The operating model 

Page 5



was a detailed description of how the Council would work in the future, with the 
key aims of putting better outcomes for residents and the delivery of the Council 
Plan at the centre of all operations. 
 
The budget setting process was well underway and Shadow Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees were being consulted. 
 
Agreed 
 
That the update be noted. 
 

227. Forward Plan  
 
The Forward Plan was noted. 
 

228. Work Programme and Outcomes Monitoring  
 
Members noted the work programme and discussed the expected items for the 
next meeting on Friday 9 December 2022. 
 
It was noted that a new item was to be included for this meeting on the Housing 
Grants and Assistance Policy and the Housing Manager would be in 
attendance.   
 
The Chair also requested that a further update on responses to the questions 
on the Safer Streets project be included for this meeting if responses had been 
received from the Safer Streets Co-ordinator and/the Police in time. 
 

229. Task and Finish Group/Working Group Updates  
 
Verbal updates were provided on the TFGs; 
 
Access to Health Services 
The first meeting had taken place with the lead commissioner for Dental 
services in Allerdale. Councillors heard that Cumbria was the most challenging 
part of the area that covers Northeast England and North Cumbria. The 
commissioners had been unsuccessful in replacing the contract capacity in 
Workington but continue to use all local tools available to the commissioners 
within the confines of the national framework. This had included paying dentists 
for fixed sessions, paying above the average for new capacity, working with 
UCLAN on training and linking this with trying to attract new dentist providers to 
the area. 
The next meeting was due to take place with the Director of Place and Primary 
Care at the NHS with responsibility for Cumbria on 18 November.  
The committee was also seeking to meet with Healthwatch Cumbria and with 
the North Cumbria Integrated Care Partnership. 
 
Customer Services 
The Customer services TFG had met with the Head of Paid Service and 
discussed the approach of Allerdale to customer services and the problems that 
had arisen over recent years with tackling the COVID pandemic. The recent 
mystery shopper survey was shared with the group including how work to 

Page 6



improve as a result of the issues highlighted. Staff turnover was being managed 
and replacement staff were shortly to start and the team would be back to full 
strength. 
Councillors had visited Customer Services on 8 November to meet front line 
staff and listen in on calls. 
The TFG was due to meet shortly to agree its final report and recommendations 
to bring to the December Committee meeting. 
 
It was hoped that once the Customer Services TFG had finalised their report 
work could start on the final TFG on ‘Democratic Participation in Voting’. 
Democratic Services would circulated a further request to members for anyone 
wanting to be involved. 
 

The meeting closed at 2.45 pm 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 11 January 2023 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy –The Regulatory 
Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 

 
 
Portfolio holder Councillor Marion Fitzgerald, Strategy Policy and 

Performance 
 

Report from Sharon Sewell - Chief Officer (Place and Governance) 

Wards affected   All outside of the National Park Planning Authority 

Is this a key decision  Yes 
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

1.1 This report provides details of a Housing Grants and Assistance Policy, which sets 
out the circumstances in which the Council can provide financial assistance to 
improve the conditions, adapt existing housing and provide a prevention service 
that enables people to continue to manager more safely within their home. 

1.2 This policy is being updated as the current policy should reflect the introduction of 
the Adult Social Care Reform White Paper, published in December 2021 and the 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) Delivery: Guidance for Local Authorities in 
England. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That the Executive supports the introduction of updated Housing Grants and 
Assistance Policy. 

2.2  That the Executive formally adopts the updated Housing Grants and Assistance 
Policy. 

2.3 That any future minor amendments are delegated to the Chief Officer Place and 
Governance in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing. 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 National Policy - The Council is required to approve applications made under 

section 23(1) of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 that 
satisfy the requirements of the Act, for example mandatory Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFGs). 

3.2 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 
(RRO) equipped local authorities to address housing issues.  In 2008-09, the 
Government extended the RRO powers to provide assistance for housing renewal 
based on the principles that repairs are fundamentally the responsibility of the 
property owners, but grant assistance should be given in particular circumstances, 
and for the purpose of improving living conditions. 

3.3 This policy makes use of these powers to broaden the scope of Disabled Facilities 
Grants and to offer alternative forms of grants for disabled, elderly and other 
vulnerable residents in Allerdale.  

3.4 To provide financial assistance for housing repairs and improvements, the local 
housing authority must first adopt and publish a policy setting out how it intends to 
use this general power to award assistance.  

3.5 This report seeks to replace the Housing Grants and Assistance Policy 2017. 

3.6 This policy will strengthen the Council’s position in working with local partners to 
ensure that there is a common vision backed by commitment of resources from the 
principle delivery agencies. 

4.0  Content (to include alternative options considered) 

4.1 The RRO gives discretion to local authorities, and it is important to note that 
authorities still have a statutory duty to approve DFG applications, which meet the 
statutory requirements.  

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

5.1 The mandatory and discretionary grants set out in Appendix 1 are delivered by the 
Council’s Housing Team. 

5.2  The additional proposal within the policy is to introduce a handy person service, 
which the Council will seek to work with key partners to help deliver.  This service 
will also support the streamlining of the application process for minor grants, whilst 
creating a service that will help with prevention and early intervention. 

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

This policy supports the Resilient Communities priority set out in the Council 
Strategy 2020-2030, specifically the objective to address inequalities.  It also 
contributes to the Thriving Towns and Villages priority, by seeking to ensure that the 
Council enables “suitable, affordable, decent homes for all”. 

Page 10



 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

6.2.1  The policy dictates that both mandatory and discretionary grants will be offered.  
Where grants are provided repayment may be demanded on the sale of the 
property, although discretion will be used depending on the financial circumstances 
of the client at that time.  The provision of mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants will 
be given priority over discretionary grants. 

6.2.2 The proposed policy makes changes to the amounts of funding available for 
discretionary grants (Please note Mandatory Grant funding is set and cannot be 
increased). 

6.2.3 The policy introduces a new handy person service and is seeking to utilise £100K of 
the Councils allocated grant towards the commissioning of this new service 
annually or until such time as the policy is reviewed. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

6.3.1 The policy ensures that the Council is compliant with the Regulatory Reform 
(Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002. 

6.4 Risk analysis 

6.4.1 The table below set out a scored and mitigated risk log.  There are no additional risk 
management implications arising from the recommendations of this report. 

 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Challenges to the 
policy. 

Delay in making 
available funding for  
housing grant to those 
who need it most. 

Individuals and 
families health and 
wellbeing suffers as a 
result of decisions 
being made delays . 

Impacts on wider 
statutory organisations 
such and Health and 
Social Care agencies 
who are also trying to 
deliver services and 
meet the needs of 
vulnerable people in 
our community. 

Timeframe in place 
to review policy. 

Appeals process set 
out within the policy. 

Medium/High 

Policy isn’t 
approved 

There is a legal 
requirement of the 
local authority to have 
in place a published 
policy.  

Council’s risk of 
legal challenge. 
 

Medium 

Page 11



 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service  

6.5.1 The revised policy has taken into consideration the governments ambition to give 
people greater choice to live independently and healthier in their own homes.  It 
aims to minimise the need for hospital stays and reduce the need to move into more 
longer term care establishments either to early or where this is not the desire of the 
individual.   

6.6 Equality impacts 

 An equality impact assessment is being updated to reflect the updates within the 
revised policy and is included within the body of the Housing Grants and Assistance 
Policy. 

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

 None 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

6.8.1 This policy makes a positive contribution to the health and wellbeing of those in 
greatest need of assistance through the disable grants fund. 

6.8.2 Through the introduction of a handy person service, this will enhance the Council’s 
offer of support and bridges a gap in service provision in Allerdale for those who 
cannot access services following a Care Act Assessment.   

 The benefits of a prevention, early intervention service that support the health and 
wellbeing of individuals will have a positive impact on the need for more expensive 
health and social care services. 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

  None 

6.10 Other significant implications 

 None 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

1 Housing Grants and Assistance Policy 

Background documents available – none  

Name of background 
document 

Where it is available 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
Guidance 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-
facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-
authorities-in-england 
 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england


 

Adult Social Care Reform White 
Paper 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-
at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-
paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-
reform 
 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Officer name Andrea Smith 
Senior Manager Housing 
andrea.smith@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 516667 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
mailto:andrea.smith@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Grants and 
Assistance Policy 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) 
Order 2002 

Xxxxx 2022 
 

 January 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2017 

 

Page 15



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 2 

 

Document title Housing Grants and Assistance Policy 

Document author Andrea Smith – Senior Manager - Housing 

Who is accountable for 
this criteria/strategy? 

Senior Manager- Housing 

Current version no. V2.0 

Effective from date January 2023 

Approval body Executive 

Approval date Proposed 11th January 2023 

Review frequency Yearly 

Next review due 2024 

Is the document 
confidential? 

No 

 
Revision History 
 

Date Version 
Summary of Changes    
Keep VERY brief 

Section(s) 
Changed 

xx.2023 2.0 
Review of document – replaces previous 
Housing Grants and Assistance Policy 
April 2017 

Updating 
expenditure  
Removal of old 
projects 
Introduction of 
new handy 
person service 

 
Equalities Impact Assessment This must be done each time a criteria/strategy is 
fundamentally revised 
 

Assessment date tbc 

Assessment 
location 

Allerdale House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 3 

 

 

CONTENTS 

1.0   Introduction  

2.0   Policy Context 

3.0   Scope of the Criteria 

4.0    Budget Allocation and Overview of Assistance 

5.0   Process 

6.0   Appeals 

7.0   Monitoring and Review 

Appendix 1:  Type of Grant 

Appendix 2: Preliminary and Ancillary services and charges 

Appendix 3: Equality Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 4 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to set out the forms of financial assistance, which 

are available from Allerdale Borough Council to assist all vulnerable owner-

occupiers, tenants, licensees, to improve or adapt their homes providing they 

are eligible.  

1.2 This policy also aims to introduce a discretionary grant to support a handy 

person service that provides a rapid response to urgent safety issues, which 

are hazardous to the person’s individual’s needs which will enable them to 

continue to manage more safely within their home. 

1.3 Private Sector Landlords and Registered Housing Providers (RHP) may also 

apply for a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) on behalf of a disabled tenant but 

the tenant must also satisfy the relevant requirements under the same means 

testing arrangements.  

1.4 At times, where DFGs are in demand the Council will be obliged to priorities 

referrals to the services based on need. 

2. POLICY CONTEXT 

2.1 National Policy - The Council is required to approve applications made under 

section 23(1) of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 

that satisfy the requirements of the Act, for example mandatory Disabled 

Facilities Grants (DFGs) 

2.2  The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 

2002 equipped local authorities to address housing issues.  In 2008-09, the 

Government extended the RRO powers to provide assistance for housing 

renewal based on the principles that repairs are fundamentally the 

responsibility of the property owners, but grant assistance should be given in 

particular circumstances, and for the purpose of improving living conditions. 

2.3  This policy makes use of these powers to broaden the scope of Disabled 

Facilities Grants and to offer alternative forms of grants for disabled, elderly 

and other vulnerable residents in Allerdale. 

2.4  To provide financial assistance for housing repairs and improvements, the 

local housing authority must first adopt and publish a policy setting out how it 

intends to use this general power to award assistance. 

2.5 Local Policy – The 2017 Housing Grants and Assistance policy was reviewed, 

following the completion of the 2016 Housing Study and Stock Condition 

Survey. A new Housing Study was complete in 2022 and will contribute 

Page 18



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 5 

 

toward an evidence base for housing in the borough .  The Borough continues 

to see a ‘super ageing’ population, which is likely to see an increased demand 

for older person’s accommodation and a need for adaptations to aid 

independent living, and improve safe living conditions for disabled people.   

2.6  The stock condition survey is due for renewal; however, the key issues 

identified from the 2016 survey are still relevant as there is a continued need 

to address hard to treat dwellings where the cost of renovation is often very 

high.  More recently, there is greater emphasis on improving poor performing 

housing stock as fuel poverty and thermal comfort becomes more apparent.   

The Green Homes Grant and Sustainable Warmth agenda gives greater 

consideration for worst performing homes in Allerdale and the opportunities 

for residents to seeking funding to upgrade or improve their homes.  

2.7  This Policy contributes to the Council Strategy 2020-2030.  Everything the 

Council does is aimed at improving the lives of our residents. 

The strategy sets outs the Council’s ambition, priority objectives and 

principles for ten years.  The Housing Grants and Assistance policy supports 

the following priority theme and objectives: 

 Thriving Towns and Villages with a focus on ensuring there are 

suitable, affordable, decent homes for all, and ensuring that we deliver 

our housing grants scheme to enable people to stay in their own 

homes for longer.  

2.8  This policy will remain in force until it is reviewed and amended.  It is intended 

that there will be a management review of the policy within 24 months so that 

demand for the revised assistance can be assessed, and the policy amended 

accordingly to account for this and any further funding changes. 

2.9 It is also proposed that this policy provides a safe and legal basis as Allerdale 

Borough Council transitions into the new Cumberland Council on 1st April 

2023.  A Cumberland Council policy must be adopted within 24 months of 

Vesting Day. 

2.10 Allerdale Borough Council will work closely with all partners to ensure that the 

grants and assistance set out within the policy reach those that require it the 

most.  We want to ensure the people of Allerdale can live at home 

independently within a healthy and safe environment for as long as possible. 

3. SCOPE OF THE CRITERIA  

3.1 The Housing Grants and Assistance policy sets out a framework in which to 

make available financial assistance to support vulnerable people in Allerdale.  

Page 19



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 6 

 

This will improve or restore independent living privacy, confidence and dignity 

for individuals and their families, and prevent or delay long stays in hospital. 

3.2  This policy will support improvements in health and well-being, as well as 

having a positive impact on the quality of local neighbourhoods.  It will  

improve and maintain healthy living conditions for vulnerable people and 

remove the most severe health and safety risks. 

3.3 We will help to assist people within neighbourhoods who are vulnerable and 

find it difficult to access their homes and outside space due to their disability. 

3.4  By adapting homes, this policy will meet the needs of older, disabled and 

vulnerable people and help keep them safe at home, avoid or delay the need 

to move into residential care facilities. 

3.5 Fundamentally, underlying the purpose and scope of this policy is the 

improvement of accessibility for vulnerable people.  Ensuring that everyone 

has the opportunity to live in decent and appropriate accommodation. 

  

Objective Outcomes 

To facilitate adaptation or other more 

appropriate course of action to restore or 

enable independent living, privacy, 

confidence, and dignity for individuals 

and their families, and prevent or delay 

long stays in hospital. 

 Prevent hospital admissions 

 Delayed discharge into care 

 Improved health and wellbeing 

 Improved independence and 
confidence in everyday activities 

To improve and maintain healthy living 

conditions for vulnerable homeowners by 

removing the most severe health and 

safety risks 

 Reduce the risk of home accidents 

 Improve health and wellbeing 

 Remain living in their own home 

To assist people within neighbourhoods 

who are vulnerable and find it difficult to 

access their homes and outside space 

due to their disability. 

 Improve access to outdoor space 

To meet the needs of older, disabled and 

vulnerable people and help keep them 

safe at home, avoid or delay the need to 

move into residential care facilities 

 Improve living conditions within the 
home  

 Maintain independence and stay at 
home as long as possible. 

 Minimise the need to care support 
accommodation. 

Page 20



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 7 

 

4. BUDGET ALLOCATION AND OVERVIEW OF ASSISTANCE 

4.1   Funding for DFGs in England is channelled into the Better Care Fund (BCF) 

which, consists of pooled resources from a number of sources, including NHS 

England. One of the aims of the BCF is to achieve improved integration of 

care and support services. 

4.2  The budget allocation for the Council is £1.17M (2022-23). The annual 

amount may vary each year as it is determined by central Government.  

4.3  The Council will always seek to apply for funding streams that become 

available throughout the year to ensure our residents benefit from such 

streams. 

4.4  The Council recognises that assistance cannot be made available to all 

residents. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants will continue to be offered to 

applicants who meet the eligibility criteria.   

4.5   All forms of discretionary assistance beyond the Mandatory Disabled Facilities 

Grant Capital funding are dependent on the availability of external funding.   

4.6   Mandatory DFG applicants will not be disadvantaged by discretionary grants. 

4.7   A discretionary fund of £100,000 (maximum) per year is made available from 

the annual grant award to support the provision of a handy person service.  

This provides a rapid response to urgent safety issues which are hazardous to 

the person’s individual needs and enable them to be safe within their homes.  

The Council will work with third sector organisations to support the delivery of 

a handy person service. 

4.8  Below is an overview of the types of grants that will be available within this 

policy. 

 Assistance Target 

Group 

Maximum 

Assistance 

Type of 

Assistance 

Eligibility 

Criteria 

Means 

Tested? 

1. Mandatory 

Disabled 

Facilities 

Grant  

People with 

disabilities 

£30,000 Grant 
Local 

Charge 
may be 

placed on 
property 
where 

works over 
£5,000 

10 years 
 

Assessed as 
needing 

adaptation by 
occupational 
therapist or 

Trusted 
Assessors 

Yes 
excluding 
children 

2. Discretionary People with £20,000 Grant  Where cost of N/A 

Page 21



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 8 

 

Disabled 
Facilities Top 

Up Grant 

disabilities works exceeds 
Mandatory 

DFG 
maximum. 

Owner 
Occupier and 

Tenants, 
licensee 

 

3. Discretionary 

Disability  

Relocation 

Grant 

People with 

disabilities  

£5,000 Grant Existing home 

cannot be or is 

not cost 

effective to 

adapt. 

More suitable 

property to be 

considered 

No 

4. Discretionary 

Disability 

Grant  

People with 

disabilities 

£30,000 Grant 
Assistance 

Legal  
Charge 
may be 

placed on 
property 
where 

works over 
£5,000 

10 years 
 

 

 

Dual residency 

of child/adult 

(joint parenting 

responsibilities) 

 

Meets adult 

social care 

means test 

criteria and has 

a nil 

contribution 

from Care Act 

financial 

assessment. 

 

Care Act 

eligible works  

 

Stair lift 

referrals not 

means tested 

 

Emergency 

adaptations 

(exceptional 

circumstance) 

No 

 

 

No 

 

 

 

 

No 

 

 

No 

 

 

 

No  

 Assistance Target Maximum Type of Eligibility Means 

Page 22



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 9 

 

Group Assistance Assistance Criteria Tested? 

5. Discretionary 

Handy person 

service (see 

appendix X)  

(This is NOT 

a repair 

service) 

All age 

groups – to 

be used to 

ensure safe 

environment 

for more 

efficient 

hospital 

discharge 

and/or 

prevention.   

Up to 

£1,000  per 

request and 

limited to 

two 

submissions 

in a rolling 

calendar 

year (max) 

Rapid 

Response 

to urgent 

safety 

issues that 

are 

hazardous 

Limited to 

miscellaneous 

works that are 

not available 

from other 

sources 

No 

 

5. PROCESS 

5.1  Appendix 1 sets out the types of grants available within the Housing Grants 

and Assistance Policy.  The process for applying for Housing Grants and 

Assistance is also included. 

6. APPEALS 

6.1 Complaints and Redress 

All applications for assistance will be considered against the published criteria. If the 

application does not meet the criteria the Council will inform the applicant in writing 

of the reason why they have been refused assistance. 

Where an applicant is refused assistance, and they wish to appeal against the 

decision, they should appeal in writing to the Council within 28 days of the date of 

refusal. 

It is recognised that there may be situations where the refusal of assistance would 

disproportionately disadvantage the applicant. In these circumstances, the Council 

may give discretion against the eligibility criteria, minimum or maximum amounts, or 

conditions of assistance based on the individual circumstances, and approve the 

application for assistance.  

An Appeals Panel of Senior Housing Officers/Manager will consider all cases on an 

individual basis in a fair and transparent way. The decision of the Appeals Panel will 

be final in respect of that individual case and will not be binding upon future 

applications made by that or any other applicant.al complaints scheme. 

 

7.  MONITORING AND REVIEW 

Page 23



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 10 

 

7.1  General 
 
From the date, that the Council approves this revised policy all new approved 

applications for assistance will be considered against the criteria set out within this 

policy. 

All applications for assistance approved under the previous Housing Grants and 

Assistance Policy (April 2017) will continue to be valid in accordance with the 

specific conditions of assistance contained within that Policy. 

This policy or any part of it can be withdrew with immediate effect for individual 

applications yet to be approved. In such cases, applicants will remain eligible for the 

existing national mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant. 

This Policy will be reviewed on an annual basis or sooner if required. 

7.2  Key Service standards 

Service standards relating to the timescales in which applicants can expect to 

receive a service, however there may be occasions when the service may be 

delayed and in which case we will address this as soon as practicable:  

 Receipt of Occupational Therapist (OT) referral/customer enquiry to first visit 

by Housing Grants Officer or Specialist Housing Technician will be as soon as 

practicable. 

 Length of time from inspection to schedules being sent to contractors – 10 

working days 

 Receipt of full application to approval – 5 working days  

 Notification of works complete to payment 15 working days (subject to works 

completed to a satisfactory standard) 

 Date grant approved to completion of adaptation – 12 months  

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 11 

 

APPENDIX 1 – TYPE OF GRANT 

1. MANDATORY DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFG) 

Disabled Facilities Grants are a means tested grant for essential adaptations to give 

disabled people better freedom of movement into and or around their home as well 

as giving access to essential facilities within the home. 

Eligible applicants 

Any person with a qualifying owners, tenants or occupiers interest in the property 

who is over the age of 18. 

You must have the right to live in the United Kingdom, whether as a citizen of the UK 

or a person with indefinite or exceptional leave to remain. 

In the event that there is a change in the applicants circumstances ( e.g. no longer 

living at the property) once a Mandatory Grant has been approved the Council will 

review the award of grant offer in line with the legislation and it may result in the 

withdrawal of the grant offer and any other funding linked to the application. 

Eligible properties 

Dwellings qualifying houseboats and caravans are eligible for assistance. 

The property will be located in the borough of Allerdale. 

The property must be the only or main residence of the disabled person for whom 

the adaptation is intended.  

Eligible works 

The works must be necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled 

person. 

It must be reasonable and practicable to carry out the works, having regard to the 

age and condition of the property. 

The works must be for at least one of the following purposes: 

a) Facilitating access by the disabled person to and from the dwelling, qualifying 

houseboat or caravan, or the building in which the dwelling is situated; 

b) Making the dwelling, qualifying houseboat or caravan, or the building in which 

the dwelling is situated, safe for the disabled person and other persons 

residing with them; 

c) Facilitating access by the disabled person to a room used or usable as the   

principal family room; 

Page 25



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 12 

 

d) Facilitating access by the disabled person to, or providing for them, a room 

used or usable for sleeping; 

e) Facilitating access by the disabled person to, or providing for them, a room in 

which there is a lavatory, or facilitating for the disabled person the use of a 

lavatory; 

f) Facilitating access by the disabled person to, or providing for them, a room in 

which there is a bath or shower (or both), or facilitating for the disabled person 

the use of a bath or shower; 

g) Facilitating access by the disabled person to, or providing for them, a room in 

which there is a wash hand basin, or facilitating for the disabled person the 

use of a wash hand basin; 

h) Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food by the disabled person 

i) Providing or improving any heating system in the dwelling to meet the needs 

of the disabled person 

j) Facilitating the use by the disabled occupant of a source of power, light or 

heat by altering the controls or the position of the controls, or providing 

additional controls 

k) Facilitating access around the dwelling, qualifying houseboat or caravan for 

the disabled person to enable them to provide care for another person who is 

normally resident there 

l) Facilitating access to and from the garden for the disabled person 

m) Making access to and from the garden safe for the disabled person 

n) Such other purposes as may be specified by order of the Secretary of State. 

Works that are started or completed prior to the approval of the application for 

grant assistance will not be considered. 

Eligible works will be determined by the Housing Team Case Officer in consultation 

with Adult Social Care. 

Amounts 

The maximum amount of grant allowed will be £30,000, or other such amount 

determined by the Secretary of State. 

Applicants will be subject to a Test of Resources in accordance with the Housing 

Renewal Grants Regulations 1996 (as amended) to determine whether all or any 

assistance will be made available. Where the applicant is in receipt of a means-

Page 26



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 13 

 

tested benefit or the adaptations is for a disabled child under 16 years of age or a 

young person in full-time education under 20 years of age, there will be no Test of 

Resources. 

Where applicants are assessed as having to make a financial contribution following a 

Test of Resources, the amount of grant to be awarded for eligible works will be 

reduced by an amount equivalent to the assessed contribution. 

The maximum amount of grant will include the cost of eligible works, any VAT on 

eligible works, and eligible fees. 

Eligible fees that may be included as part of the application for the grant are listed at 

Appendix 2. 

The Council currently charges a local authority fee for the administration of the grant. 

This is associated with the professional, technical and administration charges 

incurred in providing advice, preparing schedules, supervision and project 

management of successful enquiries for financial assistance.  

This fee is 12% (+VAT at 20%) of the cost of the works required. This will be made 

clear to the Applicant prior to approval of the Grant. A form for signature will be 

included with the approval documents. 

Application process 

Applicants must submit a valid application, consisting of: 

i. a completed application, together with evidence of any welfare benefit 

entitlement, income, savings, shares and capital 

ii. details of the works to be carried out, 

iii. two written quotations for each type of work from contractors, unless otherwise 

directed by the Council, 

iv. owner’s, tenant’s, and/or occupier’s certificate, 

v. details of any charges for preliminary services and fees, and 

vi. proof of ownership and /or written consent of all owners. 

The Council must satisfy itself that the works are necessary and appropriate by 

consulting with the Adult Social Care department, and will assess whether the 

proposed works are reasonable and practicable, and will carry out a Test of 

Resources to determine financial eligibility. 

The Council will approve or refuse the application for grant assistance in writing not 

later than six months from the date of a valid application, together with the value of 

Page 27



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 14 

 

the grant that has been approved. Where an application for assistance is refused, 

the Council will provide a written statement of the reasons for refusal, and details of 

any appeals procedure. 

Carrying out and completion of the works 

Works must be carried out by a contractor whose quotation was accepted as part of 

the application for assistance. A request to change the contractor must be made in 

writing. Consent will not be unreasonably withheld by the Council. 

The eligible works must be started and completed within twelve months of the date 

of approval, or other such date stipulated by the Council. Requests for additional 

time to carry out the works must be made in writing before the expiry date. 

Consent will not be unreasonably withheld by the Council. 

In the event of unforeseen work or an increase in costs arising during the course of 

the works, the amount of the grant may be increased, subject to the maximum grant 

of £30,000.00. 

A completion certificate will be issued once the works are complete. 

Conditions relating to payment of assistance are listed at Appendix 2. 

Conditions of the grant 

In accordance with the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: 

Disabled Facilities Grant (Conditions relating to approval or payment of grant) 

General Consent 2008: 

If the applicant disposes of the property within 10 years of the certified date of 

completion, and the applicant has a qualifying owner’s interest in the property, the 

amount of assistance in excess of £5,000 may become repayable, subject to a 

maximum amount repayable of £10,000. 

A local land charge may be placed against the property.  

The Council may, at its discretion, waive any demand for repayment of assistance 

once it has considered: 

i. the extent to which the grant recipient would suffer financial hardship were 

they to be required to repay all or any of the grant; 

ii. whether the disposal of the premises is to enable the grant recipient to take up 

employment, or to change the location of their employment; 

iii. whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with the physical or 

mental health or well-being of the grant recipient or of a disabled occupant of 

the premises; and 

Page 28



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 15 

 

iv. whether the disposal is made to enable the grant recipient to live with, or near, 

any person who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the grant 

recipient is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care of which 

the grant recipient is in need by reason of disability or infirmity. 

Requests for exemptions to repayment must be made in writing. 

Where an applicant has provided false or misleading information in their application 

for assistance or in their request for payment, the approval of assistance will be 

withdrawn and a demand made for repayment of any monies already paid. 

 

2. DISCRETIONARY DISABLED FACILITIES TOP UP GRANTS 

A Discretionary Disabled Facilities Top Up Grant is for cases where the cost of 

eligible works exceeds the Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants maximum. The Top 

Up Grant up to £20,000.00 will be available for owner occupiers, tenants and 

licensees.     

Where a change of circumstances occurs (e.g. the applicant in no longer living at the 

property as their main residence) the Council will review the award of the 

Discretionary Grant and may this with be withdrawn. 

Eligible applicants 

Any person with a qualifying owner’s interest in the property who is over the age of 

18. 

You must have the right to live in the United Kingdom, whether as a citizen of the UK 

or a person with indefinite or exceptional leave to remain. 

Eligible properties 

The property must be located in the borough of Allerdale. 

The property must be the only or main residence of the disabled person for whom 

the adaptation is intended.  

Eligible works 

The following types of work are eligible for the grant: 

Adaptations that meet the purposes specified in the Housing Grants, Construction 

and Regeneration Act 1996 (refer to ‘Eligible Works’ under Disabled Facilities 

Grants), where the cost of the eligible works, VAT and fees exceeds the maximum 

Disabled Facilities Grant. 

Page 29



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 16 

 

A grant will not be given for works that are not considered to be necessary and 

appropriate in the opinion of the Council. 

Works that are started or completed prior to the approval of the application for 

grant will not be considered. 

Eligible works will be determined by a Housing Team Case Officer in consultation 

with Adult Social Care. 

Amounts 

The maximum amount of assistance is £20,000.00. 

The amount will be calculated as the total amount of assistance required in excess of 

the maximum permitted Disabled Facilities Grant.  

The Council currently charges a local authority fee for the administration of the grant. 

This is associated with the professional, technical and administration charges 

incurred in providing advice, preparing schedules, supervision and project 

management of successful enquiries for grants.   

This fee is 12% (+VAT @ 20%) of the cost of the works required. This will be made 

clear to the Applicant prior to approval of the grant. A form for signature will be 

included with the approval documents. 

Application process 

Applications must be made on the Council’s official application form, and be 

accompanied by any information that the Council considers necessary to be able to 

consider an application for the grant. 

The Council will advise whether an application for a grant has been approved or 

refused in writing, together with the value of the assistance that has been approved. 

Where an application for a grant is refused, the Council will provide a written 

statement of the reasons for refusal, and details of any appeals procedure. 

Carrying out and completion of the works 

Works must be carried out by a contractor whose quotation was accepted as part of 

the application for assistance. A request to change the contractor must be made in 

writing. Consent will not be unreasonably withheld by the Council. 

The eligible works must be started and completed within twelve months of the date 

of approval, or other such date stipulated by the Council. Requests for additional 

time to carry out the works must be made in writing before the expiry date. Consent 

will not be unreasonably withheld by the Council. 

A completion certificate will be issued once the works are complete. 

Page 30



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 17 

 

Conditions relating to payment of assistance are listed at Appendix 2. 

Conditions of assistance 

Where an applicant has provided false or misleading information in their application 

for assistance or in their request for payment, the approval of assistance will be 

withdrawn and a demand made for repayment of any monies already paid. 

 

3. DISABILITY RELOCATION GRANTS 

A Disability Relocation Grant is to cover some of the costs associated with moving 

home. The eligible applicant’s existing home must be assessed as not reasonable 

and practicable to adapt. 

Eligible applicants 

Any person over the age of 18 who is, or is applying on behalf of, a disabled person 

who has been assessed by the Adult Social Care department as being in need of 

adaptations that would meet the criteria for purposes that a Disabled Facilities Grant 

may be made. 

You must have the right to live in the United Kingdom, whether as a citizen of the UK 

or a person with indefinite or exceptional leave to remain. 

Eligible properties 

The current property (that is, the property that the disabled person is moving from) 

must be situated in the Borough of Allerdale and, 

It must not be reasonable or practicable to adapt the current property, or 

The new property (that is, the property that the disabled person intends to reside in 

as their main home) offers a better-suited solution for the disabled person, and the 

solution offers better value for money for the Council. 

The new property must be appropriate to the needs of the disabled person, and any 

necessary adaptations to the new property must be reasonable and practicable. 

The new property must be intended to be the only or main residence of the disabled 

person. 

There are no restrictions on the tenure or location of the new property. 

Eligible properties will be determined by a Housing Team Case Worker in 

consultation with Adult Social Care. 

 

Page 31



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 18 

 

Eligible expenses 

A grant will be awarded towards reasonable costs associated with moving home, 

including: 

i. Removal costs 

ii. Estate agents fees 

iii. Legal costs including fees for searches 

iv. Disconnection and reconnection of household appliances 

v.  Other costs deemed appropriate and reasonable to support the move.  

Expenses that have been incurred prior to the application for assistance will not be 

considered. 

Eligible expenses will be determined by the Housing Teams Case Officer and will be 

considered/approved by the Senior Manager - Housing. 

Amounts 

The maximum amount of grant is £5,000. 

The Council currently charges a local authority fee for the administration of the grant. 

This is associated with the professional, technical and administration charges 

incurred in providing advice, preparing schedules, supervision and project 

management of successful enquiries for financial assistance.  

This fee is 12% (+VAT @ 20%) of the cost of the works required. This will be made 

clear to the Applicant prior to approval of the Grant. A form for signature will be 

included with the approval documents. 

Application Process 

The disabled person must be assessed by the Adult Social Care Department to 

determine what adaptations are necessary and appropriate to meet their needs, and 

the current property will be assessed to determine whether the proposed adaptations 

are reasonable and practicable. 

Applications must be made on the Council’s official application form, and be 

accompanied by any information that the Council considers necessary to be able to 

consider an application for a grant. 

The Council will advise whether an application for a grant has been approved or 

refused in writing, together with the value of the assistance that has been approved. 

Where an application for a grant is refused, the Council will provide a written 

statement of the reasons for refusal, and details of any appeals procedure. 

Page 32



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 19 

 

Payment of grant 

Payment of the grant will only be made upon receipt of a valid invoice or receipt for 

the eligible expenses. An invoice or receipt will be considered valid where it is in the 

name of the applicant. 

Where requests for further grant for unforeseen expenses or additional eligible costs 

incurred as a result of the transfer are received, the Council will only approve 

additional grant where the additional sum requested combined with the original 

approved amount do not exceed the maximum permitted grant of £5,000. 

Conditions of grant 

The transfer to the new property must take place within 6 months from the date of 

approval. Requests for additional time to complete the transfer must be made in 

writing before the expiry of the 6 month period. Consent will not be unreasonably 

withheld by the Council. 

Where an applicant has provided false or misleading information in their application 

for a grant or in their request for payment, the approval of grant will be withdrawn 

and a demand made for repayment of any monies already paid. 

Further applications for financial assistance for disability relocation will not be 

considered from the same applicant under this Policy and subsequent versions of 

this Policy, except where there has been a change in the disabled person’s or their 

carer’s needs and the property cannot be adapted to meet those needs, or the needs 

of another disabled person residing at the property cannot be met. 

 

4. DISCRETIONARY DISABILITY GRANT ASSISTANCE 

Discretionary Disability Grant Assistance is to cover disabled adaptations that fall 

outside of the mandatory DFG criteria and include adaptations for dual residency 

children and certain adults, Care Act eligible works, non-means testing for all stair lift 

referrals, works to enable hospital discharge and adaptations for financial hardship 

cases.  

In the event that there is a change in the applicants circumstances (e.g. no 

longer living at the property) and a grant has been approved the Council will 

review the award of grant offer and it may result in the withdrawal of the grant 

offer and any other funding linked to the application. 

Eligible applicants 

Any person with a qualifying owners, tenants or occupiers interest in the property 

and who is over the age of 18 years old. 

Page 33



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 20 

 

You must have the right to live in the United Kingdom, whether as a citizen of the UK 

or a person with indefinite or exceptional leave to remain. 

Eligible properties 

The property must be located in the borough of Allerdale. 

Dwellings, qualifying houseboats and caravans are eligible for assistance. 

The property must be the only or main residence of the disabled person for whom 

the adaptation is intended except in the case of dual residency of a child or an adult 

where the dual residency is to support community living between two permanent 

addresses.  

Eligible works 

Adaptations that meet the purposes specified in the Housing Grants, Construction 

and Regeneration Act 1996 (refer to eligible works under Disabled Facilities Grants), 

where: 

i. The disabled child has dual residency 

ii. The disabled adult requires dual residency to support community living 

iii. Where the disabled person is not financially eligible under the mandatory DFG 

but they are assessed as a nil contribution under the Fairer Charging Test of 

Resources. 

Clients who require a stair lift will be awarded a grant without being means tested. 

Care Act eligible works that are not classed as eligible works under the mandatory 

Disabled Facilities Grant. Eligible work will be identified by Adult Social Care and 

must contribute towards preventing, reducing and delaying the need for care and 

support. 

Works to enable a client to be discharged from hospital as determined by Hospital 

Occupational Therapists and Adult Social Care. 

Amounts 

The maximum amount of grant allowed will be £30,000. 

Applicants will be subject to a Test of Resources in accordance with the Housing 

Renewal Grants Regulations 1996 (as amended) to determine whether all or any 

assistance will be made available. Where the applicant is in receipt of a means-

tested benefit or the adaptations is for a disabled child under 16 years of age or a 

young person in full-time education under 20 years of age, there will be no Test of 

Resources. 

Page 34



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 21 

 

Where applicants are assessed as having to make a financial contribution following a 

Test of Resources, the amount of grant to be awarded for eligible works will be 

reduced by an amount equivalent to the assessed contribution. 

The maximum amount of grant will include the cost of eligible works, any VAT on 

eligible works, and eligible fees. 

Eligible fees that may be included as part of the application for assistance are listed 

at Appendix 2.  

Where an applicant is not financially eligible under the Housing Renewal Grants 

Regulations 1995 (as amended), Adult Social Care will be informed.  

Due to Adult Social Care’s responsibility under the Care Act there may be cases 

where they will undertake a further test of financial resources – Fairer Charging 

(Care and support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014). 

This takes into consideration the applicants outgoings as well as income and capital.  

If the applicant meets the Fairer Charging test of financial resources, the Council 

may provide a Discretionary Disability Grant because of financial hardship. 

The Council currently charges a local authority fee for the administration of the 

financial assistance. This is associated with the professional, technical and 

administration charges incurred in providing advice, preparing schedules, 

supervision and project management of successful enquiries for financial assistance.  

This fee is 12% (+VAT @ 20%) of the cost of the works required. This will be made 

clear to the Applicant prior to approval of the Grant Assistance. A form for signature 

will be included with the approval documents. 

Application process 

Applicants must submit a valid application, consisting of: 

vii. a completed application, together with evidence of any welfare benefit 

entitlement, income, savings, shares and capital 

viii. details of the works to be carried out, 

ix. two written quotations for each type of work from contractors, unless otherwise 

directed by the Council, 

x. owner’s, tenant’s, and/or occupier’s certificate, 

xi. details of any charges for preliminary services and fees, and 

xii. proof of ownership and /or written consent of all owners. 

Page 35



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 22 

 

The Council must satisfy itself that the works are necessary and appropriate by 

consulting with the Adult Social Care department, and will assess whether the 

proposed works are reasonable and practicable, and will carry out a Test of 

Resources to determine financial eligibility. 

Adult Social Care will carry out a Fairer Charging Test of Resources where 

appropriate.     

The Council will approve or refuse the application for grant assistance in writing not 

later than six months from the date of a valid application, together with the value of 

the grant that has been approved. Where an application for assistance is refused, 

the Council will provide a written statement of the reasons for refusal, and details of 

any appeals procedure. 

Carrying out and completion of the works 

Works must be carried out by a contractor whose quotation was accepted as part of 

the application for assistance. A request to change the contractor must be made in 

writing. Consent will not be unreasonably withheld by the Council. 

The eligible works must be started and completed within twelve months of the date 

of approval, or other such date stipulated by the Council. Requests for additional 

time to carry out the works must be made in writing before the expiry date. Consent 

will not be unreasonably withheld by the Council. 

In the event of unforeseen work or an increase in costs arising during the course of 

the works, the amount of the grant may be increased, subject to the maximum grant 

of £30,000.00. 

A completion certificate will be issued once the works are complete. 

Conditions relating to payment of assistance are listed at Appendix 2. 

Conditions of assistance 

If the applicant disposes of the property within 10 years of the certified date of 

completion, and the applicant has a qualifying owner’s interest in the property, the 

amount of assistance in excess of £5,000 may become repayable. 

A legal charge may be placed against the property.  

The Council may at its discretion, waive any demand for repayment of assistance 

once it has considered: 

v. the extent to which the grant recipient would suffer financial hardship were 

they to be required to repay all or any of the grant; 

Page 36



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 23 

 

vi. whether the disposal of the premises is to enable the grant recipient to take up 

employment, or to change the location of their employment; 

vii. whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with the physical or 

mental health or wellbeing of the grant recipient or of a disabled occupant of 

the premises; and 

viii. whether the disposal is made to enable the grant recipient to live with, or near, 

any person who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the grant 

recipient is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care of which 

the grant recipient is in need by reason of disability or infirmity. 

Requests for exemptions to repayment must be made in writing. 

Where an applicant has provided false or misleading information in their application 

for assistance or in their request for payment, the approval of assistance will be 

withdrawn and a demand made for repayment of any monies already paid. 

 

5. DISCRETIONARY – HANDY PERSON SERVICE (NOT a repair service) 

What is it? 
 
This discretionary grant is to support a handy person service that provides a rapid 
response to urgent safety issues, which are hazardous to the individual, and which 
will enable them to continue to manage more safely within their home. 
 
 
Eligible applicants 
 
Any person (all age groups) with a quality owners, tenants or occupiers interest in 
the property.  The applicant must have had an assessment from a professional in 
any Health and Social Care Services. 
 
You must have the right to live in the United Kingdom, whether as a citizen of the UK 
or a person with indefinite or exemplary leave to remain. 
 
 
Eligible properties 
 
The property must be located in the borough of Allerdale. 
 
Dwellings, qualifying houseboats and caravans are eligible for assistance. 
 
The property must be the only or main residence of the disabled person for whom 
the adaptation is intended except in the case of dual residency of a child or an adult 
where the dual residency is to support community living between two permanent 
addresses. 

Page 37



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 24 

 

Eligible works 
 
This is not a service for general household repairs and maintenance and does not 
replace the responsibility of the tenant or owner to keep the property in good 
condition or for replacement of soft furnishings. It is also, not for the repair of any 
electrical or gas appliance whose maintenance is the responsibility of the landlord or 
property owner. 
 
The following types of work are eligible for grant:   
 

 Changing light bulbs 

 Maintenance work that prevents slips trips and falls 

 Putting up curtains poles 

 Moving furniture to improve safety within the home 

 Fitting doors locks to make properties secure 

 Changing batteries and general maintenance of smoke detectors and carbon 
monoxide monitors 

 Changing or moving furniture to minimise confusion for the clients 

 Works that prevent heat loss or improve thermal comfort 
 

The Council may give discretion on individual cases, where it is not clear from the list 
above what eligible works can be funded to meet the need of the individual. 
 
Amount 
 
The maximum amount of grant will include the cost of eligible works any VAT on 
eligible works and up to £1,000 per request and limited to two submissions in a 
rolling calendar year. 
 
Application process 
 
Applications must be made by a referral from a Health and Social Care professional 
to the Councils delivery partner who will assess and approve or decline the 
application in line with the agreed service  
 
Carrying out and completion of works 
 
Works will be carried by the Handy Person service as part of the application for 
assistance. 
 
The eligible works must be started within a reasonable timeframe to support the 
urgent needs of the client.  Timescales will be agreed between the Council and the 
delivery partner. 
 
Conditions of assistance 
 
Where an applicant has provided false or misleading information in their application 

for a grant or in their request for payment, the approval of grant will be withdrawn 

Page 38



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 25 

 

and a demand made for repayment of any monies already paid by the delivery 

partner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 2. 

Page 39



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 26 

 

Disabled Facilities Grants  
Preliminary and Ancillary services and charges  
 
Preliminary and ancillary services and charges which can be included in applications 
for Disabled Facilities Grants are determined by the Housing Renewal Grants 
(Services and Charges) Order 1996 (S.I. 1996/2889):  
 

 Confirmation that you have an owner’s interest in the property  

 Specialist, technical and/or structural surveys  

 Design and preparation of plans and drawings  

 Preparation of schedules of the relevant works  

 Assistance in completing forms  

 Advice on financing the cost of the relevant works which are not met by the 
Council’s assistance  

 Applications for building regulations approval or planning permission 
(including the application fee and the preparation of related documents)  

 Obtaining estimates for the relevant works  

 Advice on contracts  

 Consideration of tenders  

 Supervision of the relevant works  

 Disconnection and reconnection of electricity, gas, water or drainage utilities 
where this is made necessary by the relevant works (but not charges arising 
from non-payment of bills)  

 Payment of contractors  

 Services and charges of an occupational therapist in relation to the relevant 
works 

 

Payments 

Payment of assistance will be only be made where: 

i. The specified works have been completed in accordance with any statutory 

requirements and/or the Council’s specification, and to the reasonable 

satisfaction of a Private Sector Housing officer, and 

ii. The Council’s standard payment request form has been completed, and 

iii. Upon receipt of a valid invoice or receipt for the works. An invoice or receipt 

will be considered valid where it is in the name of the applicant. 

Requests for interim payments will be considered. The value of interim payments will 

not exceed the value of the works completed, and will not exceed 90% of the total 

value of eligible works that have been approved. 

Where requests for further assistance for unforeseen works or additional eligible 

costs incurred during the carrying out of the works are received, the Council will only 

Page 40



 

Housing Grants and Assistance Policy V0.2 Jan 2023 - 27 

 

approve additional assistance where the additional sum requested does not exceed 

the maximum permitted assistance. 

In the event of a dispute between the applicant and the contractor about the 

satisfactory completion of works, the Council reserves the right to pay the assistance 

to the applicant or contractor if the works have been carried out to the satisfaction of 

a Housing Teams Case Officer. 

Consultation 

As part of the preparation of this Policy, internal consultation has been carried with 

Legal services, Finance Services and Assurance, Risk and Audit Service.  

In addition, the Council has consulted directly with the Cumbria County Council, 

Occupational Teams, Foundations UK.  Further consultation with external partners 

has also been included. 

Equal Opportunities and Access 

This Policy will be made available on the website at www.allerdale.gov.uk. Individual 

copies are available upon request. 

An equality impact assessment to been undertaken see Appendix 3 

APPENDIX 3 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT. 

 
To insert. 

 
Contact Details 

To apply for assistance under this Policy, all applicants will require a referral from 

Adult Social Care to support your application for Disabled Facilities Grant assistance, 

and please contact …………………… 

 
By telephone:   
 
Cumbria County Council -  Adult Social Care Team – 0300 303 3589  
 
Allerdale – 0303 123 1702  
 
By email:  Housing.Grants@allerdale.gov.uk 
 
List of accompanying policy documents 
 
 
Council Plan 2020 – 2030 
Housing Strategy 2016-2021 (to be reviewed) 
Disabled Facilities Grants Delivery: Guidance for Local Authorities in England 

Page 41

mailto:Housing.Grants@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 

Executive – 23 November 2022  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 9 December 2022 

Quarter 2 Performance Report 2022/23
 

Portfolio holder Councillor Mike Johnson – Leader 

Councillor Marion Fitzgerald - Policy, Governance and 
People Resources Portfolio 

Report from Ian Brogden (Strategic Advisor – Performance) 

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  No 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 Sets out the Council’s performance at the end of Quarter 2 2022/23 as measured 
by key projects/activities and key performance indicators (KPIs) set out in the 
Delivery Plan 2022/23. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Members note the information contained within the report with a view to 
seeking continuous improvement in performance. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 The Council’s Corporate Performance Management Framework has been aligned 
with the Council Strategy 2020-2030 through the Delivery Plan 2022/23. The plan 
sets out a series of actions and indicators relating to how the Council will deliver 
against the six priority themes in the Council Strategy 2020-2030 over the year. 

3.2 The Quarter 2 Corporate Performance Report for 2022/23 covers the period from 1 
July to 30 September 2022 and focuses on the key actions and performance 
indicators set out in the Delivery Plan. 

3.3 In line with the Council’s Performance Management Framework the Executive and 
Overview and Scrutiny receive quarterly performance reports based on the Council 
Strategy. 

4.0  Corporate Performance  

4.1 The Corporate Performance Report is attached as Appendix A and contains: 

 Detail of progress on key actions  

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 Detail of performance on key performance indicators  

4.2 The Corporate Performance Report is set out following the six priority themes in the 
Council Strategy 2020-2030: 

 A financially secure council 

 A cleaner, greener Allerdale 

 Invest to grow 

 Outstanding local services 

 Thriving towns and villages 

 Resilient communities 

4.3 The report at Appendix A shows that progress on the 47 projects/activities has been 

good overall so far in 2022/23, with two completed, 43 rated green (on track) and 

two amber. 

4.4 In terms of performance in 2022/23 as measured by key performance indicators, 15 
of the 21 indicators attributed a RAG rating were green (on target), three were 
amber (close to target), and three were red (off target). Full details are given in the 
report at Appendix A.  

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

5.1 Not applicable to this report. 

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

This is a performance report on delivery against the Council’s priorities as set out in 
the Council Strategy 2020-2030. 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

 There are no financial implications directly associated with this report. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

 There are no legal or governance implications directly associated with this report. 

6.4 Risk analysis 

Risk Consequence Controls required Mitigated score 

Indicators and 
performance 
measures are not 
monitored effectively 

Loss of focus on priorities 
as set out in the Council 
Strategy so ambitions not 
achieved. 
Corrective action is not 
identified early. 

Regular performance 
monitoring. 
Any recommendations 
for corrective action are 
followed up. 

Low 

 
All strategic risks identified are contained within the Corporate Risk Log, which is 
regularly reviewed by the Senior Management Team. There are currently 11 key 
risks (those which score 9 and above). A summary showing the key risks and 
mitigation measures and actions can be found at Appendix B to this report. 

Page 44



 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

Projects within the priority area of ‘Outstanding local services’ in the Council 
Strategy relate specifically to customer satisfaction and service.   

6.6 Equality impacts 

Equality impacts are considered in the development of individual projects and 
programmes. There are no negative equality impacts from reporting performance. 

6.7 Health and safety impacts 

There are no health and safety implications directly associated with this report. 

6.8 Health, well-being and community safety impacts 

The performance report shows progress against activities intended to improve 
health, well-being and community safety outcomes. 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

The performance report shows progress against activities intended to improve 
environmental and sustainability outcomes. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

None. 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

Appendix A Q2 Performance Report 2022-23 

Appendix B Key Corporate Risks 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Council Strategy 2020-2030 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-
council/council-strategy-2020-2030/ 

Council Strategy Delivery Plan 
2022/23 

Delivery Plan 2022-2023 

Report author and contact officer: 
Ian Brogden 
Strategic Advisor - Performance 

ian.brogden@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 516680  

Page 45

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/
https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/2c/9c/2c9cc848-df8f-42a5-a8e4-d6a7cb68ea61/delivery_plan_2022-23_final.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



1 

 

Corporate performance report 

Quarter 2 2022/23  

This report summarises our performance during the first quarter of 2022/23 and covers the period 
from 1 July to 30 September 2022.  

Performance overview 

The table below summarises the Quarter 2 position on the projects/activities and performance 
indicators set out in our Delivery Plan 2022/23. 

Summary of Quarter 2 
position 

Total Green Amber Red Blue 
No fixed 

target 

figure1 

No new 
data 

available2 

Projects/activities 47 43 2 0 2 0 0 

KPIs  33 15 3 3 - 8 4 

Projects/activities:  

There are 47 projects/activities set out in the Delivery Plan 2022/23 of which for Q2: 

 4.3% are blue (completed) 

 91.5% are green (on track) 

 4.3% are amber 

 0% are red 

The majority of projects and activities set out in the Delivery Plan are on track. During Q2 there has 
been considerable additional work relating to Local Government Reorganisation. The KPIs in this 
report show the significant work of teams across the organisation to keep day to day services 
running as well as undertaking these LGR-related tasks.   

Particular highlights include the two-day Taste of the Sea festival which took place in Maryport over 
the weekend of 13 and 14 August.  According to an independent evaluation, it had an estimated 
economic impact of £996,168, more than double that of last year’s first event. Almost £25 was 
generated for every pound spent on hosting the festival, compared to £11 in 2021. About 12,000 
people attended the family-friendly event. 

The aim of all the Taste Cumbria festivals, which are organised by the council, is to promote the 
borough and encourage visitors to explore its towns and the wider area. There are two other Taste 
Cumbria events: Cockermouth, which took place on 24/25 September and Christmas on 10/11 
December. 

Two projects/activities have seen some delays or issues: 

Take forward steps to ensure provision of suitable sites following the outcome of the 
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 

                                                 
1 No fixed target figure. In these cases we are not attributing a red, amber or green performance rating 

but are tracking trends in performance and comparing to previous years where appropriate rather than 
measuring against a fixed target figure. 
2 No new data available at the time of reporting.  Some of these measures are only reported once a 
year, others have a time lag on the data.  

Page 47



2 

 

The assessment report has been published and an internal working group will be formed to 
explore options. 

Deliver Green Homes and other affordable warmth grants to address fuel poverty and 
help deliver environmental benefits 

Fifty-five properties in Allerdale have had works completed including solar PV, loft insulation, 
under floor insulation, air source heat pumps etc. In total, 81 measures have been installed, 
of which 71 have so far been confirmed compliant. 

Key performance indicators: 

There are 21 performance indicators attributed a RAG rating of which: 

 71.4% were green (on or better than target) 

 14.3% were amber (close to target) 

 14.3% were red (off target) 

The majority of indicators attributed a RAG rating are on or better than target. Three are showing as 
red, which means action is required and three are amber, which means they are close to target and 
within the tolerance set. 

For the second quarter running, the percentage of abandoned calls in Customer Services was over 
target and rated red. Quarter two was 11% against a target of 7%; Q1 was 9%. Experienced advisors 
have moved into other positions elsewhere in the council and the department is having difficulty filling 
the vacancies. 

The number of housing units granted planning permission fell from 111 in Q1 to 28 in Q2, 
well below the target of 88. The drop is, however, similar to that which occurred in the same 
quarter last year. Economic uncertainty and slow site releases are among the reasons for 
this indicator being pushed into the red. 

The percentage of homeless decisions made within guideline 56 days is also rated red in Q2. 
While the 84% figure was significantly higher than Q1 (70%), it was below the target of 
100%. Six out of 40 cases (15%) were not dealt with within 56 days, which is a guideline 
figure and not a statutory requirement. The complexity of some cases means they cannot be 
resolved within the 56 days. 

The three indicators rated amber were: the occupancy rate of the council’s property portfolio, 
the percentage of invoices from local Cumbrian businesses paid within 14 days and the 
percentage of local land charge searches carried out within 10 working days. 

The occupancy rate was 88% in Q2, down from 96% in Q1. The target was 90%. The drop 
was due to a small number of business closures following the Covid-19 pandemic. We 
currently have five vacant properties. 

The percentage of invoices paid was higher in Q2 - 94.6% - than Q1 (92.3%) but lower than 
the 98% target. Reasons for this include tasks not being allocated to colleagues during 
periods of sickness or leave and suppliers not being on our system. 

Continuing issues with the Arcus computer system and late responses from other bodies meant the 
local land charge searches indicator ended the quarter at 94.7%. While this was up from 90.2% in 
Q1, it was below the 98% target. 

Key corporate risks:  

All strategic risks identified are contained within the Corporate Risk Log, which is regularly 
reviewed by the Senior Management Team. There are currently 11 key risks (those which 
score 9 and above). A summary showing the key risks and mitigation measures and actions 
can be found at Appendix B to this report.  

Page 48



3 

 

Definitions 

Projects/activities: 

G Everything is on target / satisfactory progress is being made / no action required 

A 
There are some concerns over achieving deadlines or outputs / there are issues to rectify, but 
plans are in place to get the project back on track 

R 
There are significant concerns over achieving outputs / there is serious slippage in the timetable / 
there are major issues to rectify 

C Completed 

Key performance indicators: 

G On, or better than, target 



 Improving trend 

A 
Close to target (up to 10% variance) - some action may 
be required to improve performance 



 No change  

R 
Off target (>10% variance) – action required to improve 
performance 



 Getting worse 

Note: Trend is compared to previous quarter or in a few cases same quarter in the previous year. 

Page 49



4 

 

A financially secure council 
Our objectives: Address the projected budget gap    Become self-sufficient by 2030    Become more commercial    Become more 

efficient and productive 

Key projects/activities  Timescales 
Responsible Chief 

Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action 
where red/amber) 

Local Government Reorganisation in Cumbria – 
LGR Programme delivery–collaborating across 
all relevant workstreams and packages 
including: Finance (developing appropriate 
budgets and financial arrangements); Legal and 
Democratic (covering all legal and governance 
arrangements, setting up and running Joint 
Committees, holding Shadow elections and 
delivering the Shadow Authorities); 
Organisational Development and HR (covering 
all aspects of transition of staffing); 
Assets(developing options for the effective 
operation and management of assets); Strategic 
Commissioning, Procurement and Contract 
Management (covering expiry and extension 
dates, contract exemptions, termination dates 
and wider market sensitivities) 

April 2023 Chief Executive G G 

The council has officers engaged in all 
workstreams and has supported the process 
of finalising delivery plans and day one 
implementation actions. 
 

Review the Target Operating Model and working 
practices - Further development of hybrid 
working practices and our accommodation 
strategy 

April 2023 
Assistant CEx 
(Innovation & 
Commercial) 

G G 

Allerdale House has been identified as an 
anchor building for the new Cumberland 
Council. To facilitate hybrid working 
arrangements and future-proof the building to 
allow new ways of working, we continue to 
provide the ability to work remotely, extended 
flexible working spaces on the first and 
second floors and provided breakout areas for 
informal collaboration. AV equipment has 
been installed in a range of meeting rooms to 
facilitate hybrid meetings. Areas on the 
ground floor of Allerdale House have 

P
age 50



5 

 

Key projects/activities  Timescales 
Responsible Chief 

Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action 
where red/amber) 

undergone light refurbishment to provide 
dedicated spaces for members to meet and 
work when in the building. 

Monitor and support the wellbeing of the staff 
team through the LGR transition process 

April 2023 Chief Executive G G 

The wellbeing of staff during the 
reorganisation process continues to be a 
priority for the council. Staff briefings have 
continued throughout the quarter. 

Deliver technology projects in line with the 
Connected Futures strategy to provide improved 
digital platforms and self-service options 
including: 
 * The continued implementation of a cloud 
based built environment and regulatory services 
system 
 * Implementation of a new finance, payroll and 
HR system (ERP system) 

April 2023 
July 2022 

Assistant CEx 
(Innovation & 
Commercial) 

G G 

The implementation of Arcus is now complete, 
with Building Control, Land Charges, 
Planning, Environmental Health, 
Environmental Protection and Housing all live. 
This has allowed us to decommission the 
legacy applications that previously delivered 
these functions and move from on-site data 
storage to a cloud SAAS (software as a 
service) based service. We have completed 
the implementation of the Technology One 
finance system, which will provide 
integrated applications to manage the 
business and offer greater opportunities to 
transform back-office functions. A legacy 
platform has been developed to enable data 
archive and retention requirements. 

Further develop self-service options through 
promotion and development of existing tools and 
systems 

April 2023 

Assistant CEx 
(Innovation & 
Commercial)/Prog
ramme Director 
(Transformation 
and Operating 
Model) 

G G 

Campaigns are ongoing to encourage uptake 
and customers’ use of digital services such as 
MyAllerdale, MiPermit, e-billing and direct 
debits with a view to improving customer 
experience, increasing efficiency and reducing 
costs. 

Implement planned re-routing and re-rounding of 
waste collections to make collection routes more 
efficient and achieve a net positive 
environmental benefit 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

C C Completed. 

P
age 51



6 

 

  

 

Key performance indicators 2021/22  
Q1 

actual 
Q2 

actual 
Trend Target Q2 Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

Overall % of budget coming from balances 

Use of GF  
balances 

£71k against 
revenue 

expenditure 
£18.1m 

Reported annually 

Reduce 
over 

longer 
term 

There is no planned use of balances in 2022/23. 

Level of forecast budget gap 

£2.2m 
2021/22 
£2.1m 

2022/23 

Reported annually 

Reduce 
over 

longer 
term 

This stands at £2.913m in 2023/24 and £3.251m in 
2024/25. 

% of debt outstanding for over 90 days 27.9% 23.0% 17.9%  Reduce Overpayments have reduced the overall debt. 

Occupancy rates of Council’s property portfolio 96.0% 96.0% 88.0%  90.0% 
Occupancy dropped due to a number of new 
vacancies following business closures after Covid. 

NNDR collection rate* 98.67% 33.55% 59.04%  57.10% The Q2 figure last year was 48.61%. 

Council Tax collection rate* 96.93% 29.17% 56.95%  56.93% The Q2 figure last year was 57.10%. 

*Trend is compared to same quarter in the previous year 

  

P
age 52



7 

 

A cleaner, greener Allerdale  
Our objectives: Make sure our neighbourhoods are clean and tidy    Reduce waste and increase recycling    Improve and protect our 

open spaces and green infrastructure    Ensure environmental sustainability is at the heart of our policies    Use our assets to encourage 
green technology 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

LGR Programme delivery –collaborating across 
all relevant workstreams and packages 
including: Climate change (incorporating 
developing an approach to embed activity to 
reduce our environmental impact throughout the 
whole programme and developing the new 
councils’ climate change approaches as 
appropriate); and Waste (incorporating planning 
for the delivery of waste services) 
 

April 2023 
Chief 
Executive) 

G G 

The council has officers engaged in all 
workstreams and has supported the process of 
finalising delivery plans and day one 
implementation actions. 

Carry out targeted enforcement activity to tackle 
environmental crime issues including fly tipping 
 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Place and 
Governance ) 

G G 

Redeployable CCTV is in use and has contributed 
to an increase in the number of FPNs issued 
(135), a high percentage of which relate to fly 
tipping offences. There has been an operation to 
tackle trade waste issues in and around the 
Keswick area. A community engagement event, 
called Grime Scene, saw engagement with more 
than 140 people from the Workington area. We will 
continue to analyse data and deploy officers into 
identified hot spots. 

Deliver strategic green infrastructure and 
biodiversity projects and encourage 
environmental volunteering including 'Get 
Cumbria Buzzing' sites, Workington Nature 
Partnership projects and the Cumbria Coastal 
Forest project. 
 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

G G 

Final tranche of Get Cumbria Buzzing projects 
nearly complete. Planting for Pollinators projects 
delayed due to breakdown of plant that Tivoli had 
booked in for hire in late-September to prepare 
sites for seeding/planting. Replacement from an 
alternative supplier due to arrive w/c 10th October. 
Cumbria Coastal Community Forest - ongoing 

P
age 53



8 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

development of a pipeline of potential planting 
sites for Allerdale in partnership with CCCF Team 
and Cumbria CC. Detailed survey undertaken of 
ABC grazing sites to identify opportunities. WEG 
project at Siddick Pond delayed. EA Flood Risk 
Activity permit came through on 7th September. 
Now working with contractor to update costs and 
discharge planning conditions with Environmental 
Management Plan. Project extension approved by 
WEG Team to enable delivery during 
October/November. 

Explore options to roll out additional doorstep 
recycling facilities to households that do not 
currently have a full suite of recycling options 
 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

G G 

AWSL is waiting for a quote for the supply of gull 
proof hessian sacks to enable the start of paper 
collections in the Moorclose area of Workington. 
This will add 400 properties to the paper recycling 
round. Once that has been completed, AWSL will 
move onto the dry recycling service, which will 
need rebalancing to ensure it has capacity for the 
future. A significant number of properties have 
come online over the last few months, mainly in 
the Cockermouth, Harrington and Seaton areas. 

Carry out recycling initiatives and educational 
campaigns to reduce waste 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

G G 

We have worked with Resource Cumbria, our own 
climate change group and Comms team to dovetail 
our recycling messages and share them with 
CALC. We have worked on plastic recycling 
communications and assisted in the improvement 
of the Recycle for Cumbria website regarding 
plastic recycling. We have shared our What 
happens to your waste? videos with Recycle for 
Cumbria and in turn it is commissioning a similar 
video on how the MBT process works. Master 
composting details have been shared as have 
details of how food waste reduction can help save 
money in the current climate. In preparation for 

P
age 54



9 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

LGR, we are working with other councils to ensure 
that our websites and the advice we give are 
consistent. Recycle Week was postponed due to 
national issues and will now take place between 
the 17 and 23 October. We are working with 
Material Focus on the Take Charge safe battery 
disposal campaign. 

Implementation of the Climate Change Action 
Plan - including establishing a carbon baseline 
for some of our buildings and a pilot of EV 
charging points in our carparks 

April 2023 

Assistant 
Chief 
Executive 
(Policy, 
Performance 
and Economic 
Strategy) 

G G 

An expanded corporate carbon emissions report 
for year 21/22 has been produced and our website 
updated. Work is progressing to establish a carbon 
baseline for the council's buildings and operations. 
EV charge points are due to be installed in 
Wakefield Road car park in Cockermouth in 
Oct/Nov. A further round of climate literacy training 
for officers and members is due to take place in 
Oct/Nov. 

Deliver Green Homes and other affordable 
warmth grants to address fuel poverty and help 
deliver environmental benefits 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Place and 
Governance) 

A A 

Fifty-five properties in Allerdale have had works 
completed including solar PV, loft insulation, under 
floor insulation, air source heat pumps etc. In total, 
81 measures have been installed, of which 71 
have so far been confirmed compliant. Checks are 
continuing on the remainder. In addition, the 
council, in partnership with other district 
authorities, has started promoting the LAD3 & 
HUGs project via social media, newsletters and 
direct mail. 

  
 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend Target Q2 Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

Number of fly tipping incidents  1503 509 526  Reduce  
Fly tipping reports have increased for both quarters 
this year compared to last. Q1 has shown a 65% 
increase (309 Q1 21/22) and Q2 a 36% increase 

P
age 55



10 

 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend Target Q2 Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

(386 Q1 21/22). This is the result of proactive work 
by the enforcement team and use of redeployable 
cameras to identify fly tippers. 

Number of Fixed Penalty Notices issued (fly 
tipping) 

13 14 43  Increase 

There has been an increase in the number of FPNs 
issued compared to Q2 last year (3) due to proactive 
work by the enforcement team and the use of CCTV 
cameras. 

% of household waste sent for reuse, recycling 
and composting* 

36.0% 40.6%   38.5% Q1 target was 41.5%. Q2 figures not yet available. 

Residual waste per household (kgs)* 548.6 136.6   122kg Q1 target was 129kg. Q2 figures not yet available. 

% of bins collected as scheduled  99.94% 99.94% 99.95%  99.92%  

*Trend is compared to same quarter in the previous year 

P
age 56



11 

 

Invest to grow  
Our objectives:  Use our asset portfolio to create new or different opportunities    Work with partners on key economic sites and 

opportunities    Utilise the Allerdale Investment Partnership, the Local Enterprise Partnership and Britain’s Energy Coast to stimulate 

growth     Develop a housing company to provide the right homes in the right places at the right price   

 Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

LGR Programme delivery –collaborating 
across all relevant workstreams and 
packages including: economic development; 
nuclear policy and strategy; assets 
(incorporating an options appraisal and 
blueprint for the capital programmes for each 
of the new councils) 

April 2023 
Chief 
Executive 

G G 
The council has officers engaged in all workstreams 
and has supported the process of finalising delivery 
plans and day one implementation actions. 

Collaborate with Cumbria County Council on 
land at Oldside and potential developments 
at the Port of Workington 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Workington) 

G G 

The joint project team including representatives from 
ABC/CCC/PoW/AIP are meeting regularly to progress 
the implementation of the land remediation scheme to 
be funded by the Workington Town Deal. Further site 
survey work, including an ecological assessment, has 
been commissioned to inform the design and 
planning process. 

Work with AIP and BEC on key strategic 
sites and delivery of projects in key 
regeneration programmes 

April 2023 
Assistant CEx 
(Innovation & 
Commercial) 

G G 

The council approved a project concept and granted 
exclusivity to AIP for the development of a project 
plan in respect of its key employment site at Oldside, 
linked to the Workington Town Deal funded project to 
remediate land at Oldside. The council and AIP are 
working together to secure tenants for the developed 
Lillyhall North site. We continue to work with BEC on 
the development of the former Carlton cinema within 
the Maryport Future High Street Fund programme. 

P
age 57



12 

 

 Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

Deliver the Lillyhall North Infrastructure 
Project  

October 
2022 

Assistant CEx 
(Innovation & 
Commercial) 

G G 

All planning, detailed design and pre-construction 
works have been completed in line with the 
programme. Excavation of road profile and base 
course tarmacadam to spine road completed. 
Attenuation basin and drainage to onsite works 
completed. Works within existing carriageway 
including footpath works and widening of existing 
roadway are ongoing. Project remains on track for 
completion in October 2022. 

Develop and submit an Investment Plan for 
the Shared Prosperity Fund 

September 
2022 

Assistant 
Chief 
Executive 
(Policy, 
Performance 
and 
Economic 
Strategy) 

G G 

The investment plan has been finalised and submitted 
to Government. The council is awaiting the outcome 
of the appraisal process. The council has also now 
received an allocation for the Rural Prosperity Fund 
and work has commenced on preparing the 
submission required by Government. 

  
 

Key performance indicators 
2020/21 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend 
Target 

Q2 
Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

% of major planning applications determined 
within statutory period 

100% 100% 100%  90%  

 

  

P
age 58



13 

 

Outstanding local services 
Our objectives:  Make it easy for customers to contact us    Ensure we get it right first time    Be bold in our use of technology    Look 

at different and better ways to deliver services 

Key projects/activities Timescales Responsible Chief Officer 
Q1 

RAG 
status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

LGR Programme delivery –collaborating 
across all relevant workstreams and 
packages including: ICT (covering 
infrastructure, systems and security as well 
as interim ICT requirements of the Shadow 
Authorities); Customer and Digital (ensuring 
that customers of the new authorities 
experience a seamless transition from the 
current councils and can access services at 
the same or improved level as previously) 

April 2023 Chief Executive G G 

The council has officers engaged in all 
workstreams and has supported the process of 
finalising delivery plans and day one 
implementation actions. 

Deliver technology projects in line with the 
Connected Futures strategy to provide 
improved digital platforms and self-service 
options including: 
 * continued implementation of a cloud 
based built environment and regulatory 
services system 
 * implementation of a new finance, payroll 
and HR system 

April 2023 
July 2022 

Assistant Chief Exec 
(Innovation and 
Commercial) 

G G 

The implementation of Arcus is now complete, 
with Building Control, Land Charges, Planning, 
Environmental Health, Environmental 
Protection, and Housing all live. This has 
allowed us to decommission the legacy 
applications that previously delivered these 
functions and move from on-site data storage to 
a cloud SAAS (software as a service) based 
service. We have completed the 
implementation of the Technology One finance 
system, which will provide 
integrated applications to manage the business 
and offer greater opportunities to transform 
back-office functions. A legacy platform has 
been developed to enable data archive and 
retention requirements. 

P
age 59



14 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales Responsible Chief Officer 
Q1 

RAG 
status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

Further develop self-service options through 
promotion and development of existing tools 
and systems 

April 2023 

Assistant Chief Exec 
(Innovation and 
Commercial)/Programme 
Director (Transformation 
and Operating Model) 

G G 

Campaigns are ongoing to encourage uptake 
and customers’ use of digital services such as 
MyAllerdale, MiPermit, e-billing and direct 
debits with a view to improving customer 
experience, increasing efficiency and reducing 
costs. 

Continue to effectively manage and monitor 
the Allerdale Waste Services contract 

April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) G G 

The Partnering Board met on 18th August to 
review operational matters. The Shareholder 
Group met on 31st August to review the 
2021/22 financial statement, the management 
accounts to 30th June, the update on the 
Service Delivery Plan and the potential impacts 
of LGR on the company. Subsequently, senior 
council managers met with AWSL to discuss 
the impacts on the company of recent fuel price 
rises as well as material and repair costs.   

Make improvements for customers by 
expanding the range of customer queries 
that can be managed through Customer 
Services as a first point of contact 

September 
2022 

Programme Director 
(Transformation and 
Operating Model) 

G G 
Work now underway with Environmental Health 
business support team to review and improve 
customer response process. 

Ensure the successful introduction of the 
new Choice Based Lettings policy and 
system 

September 
2022 

Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

G C 
Completed. The CBL IT system and policy went 
live on 27th April 2022. 

Develop long term options for cemetery 
space at Salterbeck Cemetery 

April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) G G Work ongoing. 

 
 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend  
 Target 

Q2 
Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

P
age 60



15 

 

% of abandoned calls 6% 9% 11%  7% 

Further experienced advisors have moved to other 
positions within the organisation and we continue to 
experience difficulty in recruiting to these 
vacancies. Another position has recently been 
successfully recruited into. 

Number of complaints 609 147 127  Reduce  
This is down by 13 on Q2 last year. It is the second 
successive quarterly drop. 

Customer satisfaction (ring back) 93.0% 92.0% 93.0%  90%  

Overall time ICT systems available for use  99.0% 100% 100%  99.9%  

Digital transactions as a % of total transactions 60.0% 55.0% 53.2%  50%  

Newsletter subscribers/subscriptions 34,721 37,511 39,566 

5% 
growth 

month on 
month 

We are continuing to see growth in subscribers and 
subscriptions. The difference between the end of 
Q1 and Q2 is 5.5%. 

ENewsletter unique open rate (external only) 42.5% 47.1% 43.5%  40%   

  

P
age 61



16 

 

Thriving towns and villages 
Our objectives:  Support businesses    Create deliverable town plans that enable our towns to adapt to the changing nature of the high 

street   Ensure there are suitable, affordable, decent homes for all   Give people a reason to visit our towns (festivals, events, cultural and 

sporting activities, markets)    Increase the number of people living in our town centres    Build communities, not just homes 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

LGR Programme delivery – collaborating 
across all relevant workstreams and packages 
including: housing; economic development; 
planning and building control; culture, leisure 
and events (incorporating further develop of 
options for future provision of leisure services) 

April 2023 
Chief 
Executive 

G G 
The council has officers engaged in all workstreams 
and has supported the process of finalising delivery 
plans and day one implementation actions. 

Progress Workington Town Deal programme 
including: 
 * Design development and appointment of 
construction partner for the Workington 
Innovation Centre 
 * Work with Cumbria County Council to 
progress detailed design work for townscape 
and connectivity improvements in the town 
centre 
 * Work with partners to progress project 
development for the Sports Village 
 * Work with Lakes College to implement the 
Digital Accelerator project 
 * Work with partners to progress further 
survey and design development work for the 
land remediation scheme at the Port of 
Workington/Oldside 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Workington) 

G G 

Work is progressing on the Town Deal Project with a 
focus on the project and design development work 
required. Key activities include the commencement of 
stakeholder engagement and consultation for the 
Workington Townscape and Connectivity Project in 
collaboration with Cumbria County Council and the 
commissioning of further survey work for the Port of 
Workington and Oldside. The survey and design work 
required to develop the Innovation Centre project to 
RIBA Stage 3 has been fully scoped and contractual 
arrangements are being finalised. Lakes College is 
making good progress in relation to the 
implementation of the Digital Accelerator project and 
discussions are ongoing with Workington Town and 
Workington Reds in relation to the further project 
development work required to progress the 
Cumberland Sports Village. 

P
age 62



17 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

Progress delivery of Future High Streets and 
Heritage Action Zone projects within the 
Maryport Regeneration programme. This 
includes: 
 * Complete the refurbishment programmes for 
Maryport Town Hall, Heron Foods and 68 
Crosby Street 
 * Complete the conversion of the Maritime 
Museum building into an art gallery 
 * Commence delivery of: the housing 
improvement programme, redevelopment of 
the Wave Centre, the Christchurch 
redevelopment scheme, the Carlton 
conversion and public realm improvements 
 * Continue delivery of the Shopfront 
Improvement Scheme 
 * Development of the Cultural Consortium and 
delivery of a Cultural Programme for the town 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Maryport) 

G G 

Significant progress has been made in Quarter 2. The 
Carlton is now out for tender for a main contractor to 
deliver the refurbishment of the new community arts 
hub. The Wave Centre and Christ Church will also be 
going out to open tender shortly, with the aim of 
reducing costs, as both schemes were previously over 
budget through the Framework Agreement. A planning 
application will also be submitted shortly for the Wave. 
A temporary home has provisionally been identified for 
the maritime museum collection. The Grant Funding 
Agreement is due to be signed imminently with 
Cumbria County Council to oversee the Public Realm 
improvements, which will provide an enhanced 
customer journey for people arriving at Mayport, 
including improved signposting to the town centre and 
attractions. Handover of the refurbished Town Hall is 
scheduled for 14 October. 

Completion and occupation of the Otley Road, 
Keswick, local affordable housing scheme 

December 
2022 

Programme 
Director 
(Maryport) 

G G 

It is anticipated an affordable housing provider will 
soon be formally appointed. Gas and water supplies 
have been connected and a date is expected shortly 
for the electricity connection. There is a small amount 
of external and internal work to complete once the 
electricity supply has been connected but the 
properties should be ready to let shortly thereafter. 

Work with partners to develop a project in 
Maryport to support the Hadrian’s Wall and the 
wider Roman Frontier element of the 
Borderlands Programme 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Maryport)) 

G G 
Expression of Interest submitted to Borderlands in 
September 2022. 

Support the development (and delivery) of the 
Wigton Town Plan as part of the Borderlands 
Programme 

April 2023 

Assistant 
Chief 
Executive 
(Policy, 
Performance 
and 

G G 

A Programme Initiation Document (PID) has been 
submitted to our Programme Board and Cumbria 
County Council, the lead authority. The project 
elements in the PID are a shop front decoration 
scheme, a high street retail heritage grant scheme, a 
temporary events and performance space, a 

P
age 63



18 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

Economic 
Strategy) 

community arts and performance initiative and events 
grant scheme. 

Work with the High Streets Task Force to 
identify local challenges and develop strategies 
for positive change in Cockermouth 

April 2023 

Assistant 
Chief 
Executive 
(Policy, 
Performance 
and 
Economic 
Strategy) 

G G 

The High Street Task Force visit to Cockermouth has 
been confirmed for 4th November. It will be led by a 
Task Force appointed place development expert who 
will receive an introductory tour of the town before 
conducting a three-hour workshop with stakeholders. 
The expert will then produce a report with 
recommendations to ensure the health of the retail 
centre of the town. 

Deliver a programme of events and festivals in 
our towns 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Workington) 

G G 

Quarter 2 saw Maryport Taste of the Sea return for a 
second year. An independent evaluation of the event 
showed that the economic impact at nearly £1 million 
had doubled that of year one, with every £1 of our 
investment generating £25 spend in the local 
economy. Customer satisfaction was also very high. 
The quarter also saw Taste Cockermouth Food 
Festival take place. An independent evaluation report 
on the event is due shortly and will be reported in the 
next quarter. 

Build on the previous shop front improvement 
scheme in Aspatria to allow further businesses 
to benefit 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Workington) 

G G Plan being developed prior to implementation. 

Work with partners to support the recovery and 
development of the visitor economy 

 April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Workington) 

G G 

Promotional materials were distributed at both Taste 
food events. The winners of the Perfect Day 
competition were announced. The winning entries will 
be used to further promote our area as a destination. 
A Tourism Breakfast Briefing, in partnership with 
Carlisle City Council and Copeland Borough Council, 
was held at the Theatre by the Lake, Keswick. A 
range of expert speakers provided a range of advice 
on how attendees could grow their businesses. 

P
age 64



19 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status 

Q2 
RAG 

status 

Q2 commentary (and management action where 
red/amber) 

Continue to develop business engagement and 
support activity to enable the Council to better 
understand businesses issues, challenges and 
ideas and feed those through to local, regional 
and national forums 

April 2023 
Programme 
Director 
(Workington) 

G G 

Our weekly enewsletter continues to be well read with 
high open rates. The Business Start Up Service, 
which we have commissioned Cumbria Chamber of 
Commerce to deliver in our area, resulted in two 
aspirant businesses receiving 12 hours of expert 
support and advice each. 

Undertake housing needs assessment to 
ensure up to date data is available to support 
planning policy 

September 
2022 

Assistant 
Chief 
Executive 
(Policy, 
Performance 
and 
Economic 
Strategy) 

G G 
A draft report was received in August. This has now 
been reviewed and comments sent to the consultants. 
The final report is due in October. 

 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend 
Target 

Q2 
Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

% of invoices from local Cumbrian 
businesses paid within 14 days 

93.9% 92.3% 94.6%  98% 

Reasons for this include staff sickness/leave and tasks not 
allocated to other staff members, invoice received before 
event took place, supplier not set up on system, order not 
raised before invoice came in, invoices being sent direct to 
department. 
NOTE: 2021/22 actual % amended from 96.1% 

% of Council spend on goods and services 
with local (Cumbrian) suppliers  

52.23% 58.2% 59.4%  50% 
Forecast results - Procurement team continue to work with 
council officers. 

Numbers of affordable homes delivered 12  7 12  
Not 

targeted 

During the quarter, 21 households were added to the 
Discounted Sale register and 12 properties were released by 
developers (2x Calluna Grange at Broughton Moor, 8x 
Strawberry Grange at Cockermouth, 2x Whins View at 
Workington). We received 24 applications (1x Calluna 
Grange at Broughton Moor, 18x Strawberry Grange in 
Cockermouth, 5x Whins View at Workington).   
We have developed a new affordable housing policy. 

P
age 65



20 

 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend 
Target 

Q2 
Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

NOTE: Q1 figure amended from 0 

% of full plans determined within 5 weeks 
(Building Control) 

94% 97.0% 92.0%  85%  

% of minor and other planning applications 
determined within statutory period 

95% 93.0% 93.2%  90%  

No. of housing units granted planning 
permission 

403 111 28  88 

The economy and slow site releases, plus refusals made 
contrary to officer recommendation by Panel, are the key 
factors behind the Q2 total. There was a similar drop in the 
same quarter last year. 

% of Local Land Charges Searches carried 
out within 10 working days 

93.8% 90.2% 94.7%  98% 
Continuing problems with the Arcus system, annual leave 
and late responses from other bodies impacted the Q2 
figure. 

Number of DFGs approved 94 19 26  

Increase 
through 
the year 

 

  

P
age 66



21 

 

Resilient communities  
Our objectives:  Promote healthy, active lifestyles    Address community safety issues    Engage with our communities, and our town 

and parish councils    Prevent and reduce homelessness    Address inequalities 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status
  

Q2 
RAG 

status 
Q2 commentary (and management action where red/amber) 

LGR Programme Delivery –
collaborating across Children and 
Families, Adults and Public Health in 
areas such as homelessness, 
environment, leisure, public 
protection, housing and planning 

April 2023 
Chief 
Executive 

G G 
The council has officers engaged in all workstreams and has 
supported the process of finalising delivery plans and day one 
implementation actions. 

Take an active role in the Creative 
People and Places Consortium to 
develop arts programme with the 
community 

October 
2022 

Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

G G 

Two temporary roles have been commissioned on behalf of 
the consortium - one to develop the strategic plan (the draft 
has been done) and the second to develop a community 
engagement plan and initiate the delivery of the plan with a 
focus on 4 of the 12 target areas. This will involve engagement 
through participation in creative activity. 

Develop full options appraisal for 
leisure centre provision in Keswick 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

G G 

FMG Consultants and Pozzoni Architects have been 
commissioned to carry out an options appraisal for leisure in 
Keswick. Work started in August, looking at the desired facility 
mix alongside the national facilities planning tools and 
potential locations for facilities. Feasible options and a 
recommendation will be presented in December. 

Carry out feasibility study into 
provision of a BMX track in 
Workington 

June 2022 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

A G 

Final draft report received with recommended site and type of 
facility. Initial design has been included. Next step is to 
approve the proposal and develop the design detail, confirm 
the use of land and funding with CCC. Change of use of land 
may be required. 

P
age 67



22 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status
  

Q2 
RAG 

status 
Q2 commentary (and management action where red/amber) 

Further develop the Allerdale Local 
Focus Hub to deliver a multi-agency 
approach to anti-social behaviour, 
community safety and linked 
complex issues 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Place and 
Governance) 

G G 

During the summer, Allerdale Local Focus Hub partners held 
four community events – one in Maryport, two in Workington 
and one in Wigton - as part of the ongoing multi-agency 
collaboration known as Operation Respect. Representatives 
from housing associations were on hand at each event to 
provide advice and guidance on various matters. Skips were 
provided to enable residents to dispose of bulky items they 
were struggling to get rid of. The hub accepted 13 referrals 
during the quarter from housing associations, the police and 
Allerdale council. 

Develop a resilient Covid Control 
Service in partnership with Cumbria 
County Council and further develop 
the wider public health response 

April 2023 

Chief Officer 
(Place and 
Governance)/
Programme 
Director 
(Maryport) 

G G 

Work continued throughout quarter 2 to further develop 
linkages with relevant partners and agencies to enhance the 
service.  In particular, regular meetings with the Director of 
Public Health and District Councils, ensure the process 
continues. 

Deliver grants and support those 
experiencing financial hardship 
including the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and other schemes relating 
to financial hardship as a result of 
the pandemic and rising living costs 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

G G 
Successfully delivered more than 40,000 energy rebates to 
eligible households. In addition, delivered Covid-19 Additional 
Relief Fund payments to nearly 300 businesses. 

Deliver actions in the Homeless 
Prevention and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy action plan including a 
strong focus on prevention activity 
and domestic abuse 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Place and 
Governance) 

G G 
Action plan being implemented and on track pro-active work 
on Ukrainian/refugee support.    

Take forward steps to ensure 
provision of suitable sites following 
the outcome of the Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) 

April 2023 
Chief Officer 
(Place and 
Governance) 

A A 

The GTAA report has been published and an internal working 
group will be formed to explore options. Ongoing engagement 
with the families living on encampments in Allerdale via the 
Inclusions and Diversity Officer and Rough Sleeping 
Coordinator. 

P
age 68



23 

 

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible 
Chief Officer 

Q1 
RAG 

status
  

Q2 
RAG 

status 
Q2 commentary (and management action where red/amber) 

Deliver the Resilient Communities 
Fund – to support community groups 

October 
2022 

Assistant 
CEx (Policy, 
Performance, 
Economic 
Strategy) 

G G 

The small community project grant fund has supported 17 
organisations and groups with their projects covering different 
aspects of resilience and wellbeing. Core grants to key third 
sector agencies have also been issued for 2022/23. Plans are 
being drawn up to utilise the small amount of funding 
remaining to support communities over the autumn/winter. 

  
 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend 
Target 

Q2 
Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

Leisure centre usage  

 
333,681 

(all 
centres) 

102,976 101,116  Increase  

Junior gym sessions were very popular at Keswick 
over the summer. The leisure centres tend to quieten 
down for member usage over the summer, but 
schemes like the Holiday Activity Programme and 10p 
swims have been popular. September is one of the 
busiest uptake months for people taking out 
memberships. However, Workington hasn't seen as big 
a return as normal, possibly due to people considering 
where to focus their spending. 

% of homeless decisions made within 
guideline 56 days 

88% 70% 84%  100% 

Q2 was significantly higher than Q1 and highlights the 
hard work of the small team (2.5 FTE) over the 
summer months in trying to stay on top of cases. Six 
out of 40 cases (15%) were not dealt with within 56 
days, which is a guideline figure and not a statutory 
requirement. The complexity of some cases means 
they cannot be resolved within 56 days. 

% of successful homeless preventions 
and relief outcomes 

67% 71% 78%  50%  

Time taken to process Housing Benefit 
new claims (no. of days) 

10 27 12  15  

Time taken to process Council Tax new 
claims (no. of days) 

17 15 13  20  

P
age 69



24 

 

Key performance indicators 
2021/22 
actual 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
actual 

Trend 
Target 

Q2 
Progress and management action (where red/amber) 

Time taken to process Housing 
Benefit/Council Tax change of 
circumstances (no. of days) 

4 4 4  4  

 

P
age 70



 

 

Appendix B: Corporate Risk Log Summary (risk score 9 or above) @ 19/10/22 

Risk Impact 

R
is

k
 s

c
o

re
 

Mitigation 

P
o

s
t 

m
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 

im
p

a
c

t 

Cyber security and 
information governance: 
Failure to maintain secure 
information systems and 
networks against cyber-attacks. 
Information not managed in line 
with policy, procedure and 
regulatory requirements of Data 
Protection Regulations. 

Continuous and growing risk of attacks (Russia), 
service outage, loss of data or commercial sensitive 
info, business disruption, reduced trust from 
stakeholders, cyber-crime, information lost or stolen, 
breach of GDPR and financial implications, regulatory 
fines, regulatory investigation including ICO, failure to 
provide customer service, loss of income. Reputation, 
trust and confidence. 

16 Independent annual health checks. Compliance with a 
number of regulatory controls and accreditations. Migration of 
systems to the Cloud. Implementation of Advanced Threat 
Protection, identity management and other security tools. Roll 
out of Multi Factor Authentication. Data Protection 
communication plan adopted. Updated Information 
Governance policies and procedures. DPO/SIRO in place. 
Mandatory data protection e-learning for all staff. Compliance 
monitoring and business continuity exercise, phishing 
exercises etc. Ensure all new relevant contracts are cyber 
compliant and routine review of policies and procedures. 

12 

Homelessness: Significant 
increase in homeless demand 

Pressures on the current low volume of temporary 
accommodation - increase in asylum/refugee seekers, 
cost of living crisis and reliance on neighbouring 
councils and housing associations. Increase in 
numbers presenting as homeless and demands on 
existing staff and wider service areas 

16 Increase provision of temporary accommodation from other 
sources. Additional resources (current recruitment) and 
discussions with SERCO and Home Office. Training of staff 
and awareness to other areas through regular 
communications.  Training of for staff, knowledge of asylum 
seekers schemes. Continuously reviewing resource and 
capacity (staff and temp accommodation). 

8 

Severe weather conditions: 
Significant unbudgeted 
expenditure arising from severe 
weather conditions. 

Further deterioration of sea defences and impact on 
low lying coastal properties and land. 

Landslips occurring following severe weather. 

 

12 ABC is a member of Cumbria Coastal Strategy Group and 
the Flood and Coastal Risk Management Group. 
Implementing the Shoreline Management Plan which 
identifies the need to 'do nothing', 'hold the line', 'managed re-
alignment' or 'advance the line' of coastal defence. Annual 
Coastal Protection budget in place.  Cumbria Coastal 
Strategy identifies work needed and provides a timeline for 
these works. ABC, as a Coastal Authority is working in 
partnership with CCC and EA to deliver coastal defence 
projects through a MOU agreement. As part of the CCS the 
EA provide Flood and Coastal Risk Management Grants. 

9 

Balanced budget: Failure to 
maintain a safe and balanced 

Failure to meet statutory obligation to deliver a 
balanced budget, risk to 'going concern' status. 

12 Robust budget monitoring and medium term planning regime; 
regular monitoring meetings and reporting on variances.  

8 

P
age 71



 

 

Risk Impact 

R
is

k
 s

c
o

re
 

Mitigation 

P
o

s
t 

m
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 

im
p

a
c

t 

budget for the delivery of 
services.  This risk includes the 
ongoing uncertainty caused by 
Covid-19, one-year settlement 
only impact and continued 
delays to Fair Funding Review 
and Business Rates Retention 

Increased reliance on reserves/lending. Reductions in 
local services. 

 

Revision to budget at mid-year point.  Review of reserves and 
balances. Business partnering approach to support services, 
informal Executive discussions, introduction of KPI to 
highlight variance from budget. 

Value for money: Failure to 
continue providing value for 
money for expenditure. 

 

Inability to fulfil statutory obligations. Cessation of 
discretionary services. Cannot succeed as a council.  
Inability to achieve plans, loss of key staff and or 
services, further use of reserves. Waste due to 
inefficient processes. 

12 Monitoring and challenge processes adopted to improve 
accountability and responsibility for budget management, and 
drive cost and time performance information. Training for staff 
(budget management, commissioning, and procurement). 
Monthly performance and financial monitoring information 
reviewed by SMT to drive efficiency and effectiveness. 
Budget timetable and reporting managed effectively. Regular 
review of corporate risk log. Detailed business cases and 
options appraisals to support informed decision making. 
Projects include clear measurable, agreed outputs to 
demonstrate the value added by the expenditure. 
Development of a Target Operating Model to support the 
drive for efficiency and growth.  

9 

Change management: Failure 
to implement change 
management processes and 
procedures (LGR, 
transformation, operation, 
productivity, people) 

Uncertainty around LGR. Reduction in customer 
service and satisfaction. Difficulty with staff recruitment 
and retention. Cannot effectively deliver future 
operating model/delivery. Inconsistent messaging and 
direction. Inability to consistently manage the 
productivity and performance. Cannot deliver statutory 
services due to Covid-19 work/absence. Service 
resilience for emergency planning. Volume of single 
point of contacts within the workforce, experience, 
knowledge, single point of failure. Industrial action. 

12 LGR Programme Board and internal groups. Recovery 
Strategy; New Ways of Working programme; 
Communications Strategy - clear vision, transparent, 
engagement with all staff, to share ideas and change 
management visions. 1-2-1 meetings, appraisals, daily 
updates, communications with staff. Work with HR re 
sickness levels and wellbeing. 

Employee Engagement Group and management with 
stakeholders. 

4 

Major regeneration 
programmes: Failure to 
manage, resource and budget 
major regeneration 

Inability to progress major regeneration schemes 
resulting in failure to safeguard or create employment 
opportunities. Increase in construction costs and 
supply chain impacts. Deterioration in environment. 

12 Ongoing dialogue with stakeholders, funders and delivery 
partners; recruitment of capital programmes/projects 
managers; appointment of strategic delivery partner for 
regeneration; identification of range of delivery methods 

6 

P
age 72



 

 

Risk Impact 

R
is

k
 s

c
o

re
 

Mitigation 

P
o

s
t 

m
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 

im
p

a
c

t 

programmes including 
Workington (Town Deal), 
Maryport (FHSF; HAZ) and 
others 

Loss of assets. Reduction in business rates received. 
Loss of retail trade from town centres. 

including alternative economic development models; 
investigate potential private sector funding; competitive 
tendering to drive value for money. 

Business continuity plans: 
Business continuity and 
emergency plans do not meet 
business needs 

 

Significant impact on wellbeing and health of 
residents. The Council does not comply with its duties 
as a Category 1 Responder under the Civil 
Contingencies Act. Priority services are not 
maintained, resulting in bad publicity and loss of 
confidence in management, delayed income 
collection, increased unbudgeted expenditure costs. 
Future consequences of endemic are not considered. 

12 Business continuity plans developed by each service area 
and creation of central Business Continuity Plan.  

Alternative sites identified for emergency response and 
service delivery if required. Transfer of telephony system to 
Microsoft Teams removing requirement for server access at 
Allerdale House. Implementation of Cloud based application 
software (allowing access via any internet capable device) 
and hybrid working. Business Interruption insurance in place 
and insurance cover in respect of council assets, 
reinstatement of data, additional increased cost of working. 
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity bought 
together to provide a combined business resilience unit. 
Review of corporate response Covid-19 and concurrent 
identified good practice and recommended some changes, 
now being implemented. Standing item on SMT agenda. 
Chief Officers tasked with ensuring that their department's 
plans are brought up to date, and regularly monitored. 

9 

Elections: Failure of the 
Authority  to meet its statutory 
duty for Elections 

Reputational damage leading to intervention from 
Electoral Commission; misrepresentation in some 
Wards. 

12 Additional Deputy Returning Officers appointed to improve 
capacity. External support for Individual Electoral Registration 
process and weekly project meetings in run-up to elections. 
Covid-safe risk assessments for all processes; additional 
contingencies for core staff; additional delegation to support 
changes to polling stations; mutual support with other 
authorities. 

12 

Information management: 
Information is not managed in 
line with policy, procedure and 
regulatory requirements.  
Failure to deliver the 

1. Breach of GDPR & financial implications. 2. 
Reputation, trust & confidence. 3. Fines. 4. 
Commercial sensitive information. 5. Damage to 
relationship with partners we work with possibly won't 
work with us again. 6. Potential loss of staff through 

12 Mandatory data protection online training for new staff on 
induction, annual refresher online training for all staff. 

Information Governance Group established June 2022 
meeting bi monthly until vesting day 2023. Information 
Governance Officer (trained and experienced) in post. 

12 

P
age 73



 

 

Risk Impact 

R
is

k
 s

c
o

re
 

Mitigation 

P
o

s
t 

m
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 

im
p

a
c

t 

requirements of the Data 
Protection Regulations. 

dismissal. 7. ICO investigation. 8. Loss/misuse of 
personal data. 9. Loss of business time. 10. Could be 
put into special measures. 11. Substantial fine 12. 
Potential fraud. 

Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) confirmed and lines of 
responsibility for Information Assets. 

Health: Health of the population 
worsens due to the long term 
impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic and impacts from 
cost of living crisis. 

Worsening health of the population places increase 
strain on local services and has an impact on local 
labour markets. 

9 Attendance at Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Board Working 
Group, Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum, linkage with 
Integrated Care Communities and lead the Allerdale Health 
and Wellbeing Forum.  Implementation of the Resilient 
Communities Strategy and further investment into grass roots 
sport. 

4 

 

Definitions  

Risk scores:  

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

4       High risk 

3       Medium risk 

2       Low risk 

1        

  1 2 3 4    

  Impact    

 

P
age 74



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 

Executive – 23 November 2022 

Finance Report for the period April to Sept. 2022 
 

 

Portfolio holder Councillor Colin Sharpe 
 PH Finance and Legal  

Report from Catherine Nicholson, Chief Officer Assets & s151 Officer 
 telephone no: 07711 - 634180  
 email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk  

Wards affected   All 

Is this a key decision  No 
 

 

1.0  The reason for the decision 

1.1 This report informs members of the Council’s financial performance against budget 
for the period April to September 2022 along with the forecast position to 31 March 
2023. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That the contents of the report are noted. 

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 The Council’s Financial Regulations require the Section 151 Officer (Chief Officer - 
Assets) to report regularly, (at least quarterly) to Executive, the latest financial 
position against budget. 

3.2 This report outlines for the Council’s revenue budget (section 5) and capital budget 
(section 9): 

• actual (net) expenditure during the period April to September 2022 

• the projected net expenditure (full year forecast/forecast outturn) against 
budget for the year to 31 March 2023 (section 5) 

• reasons for significant variances (+/- £30k) between the full year forecast and 
the approved estimates (budget) for 2022-23. 

 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



 

 

3.3 This report also provides: 

• details of forecast expenditure on projects funded from earmarked reserves 
(section 7) 

• a summary of forecast income from business rates, council tax and non-
specific (un-ringfenced) grants (section 8)  

• a summary of the impact of the forecast outturn position on earmarked 
reserves and general fund balances (section 10)  

• details of treasury management activity and confirmation of compliance with 
the Treasury and Prudential Indicators included in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement (section 11) 

• an overview of insurance activity during the period (section 12) 

• performance information relating to sundry debtors income and write offs, 
payment of creditor invoices and the collection of council tax and business 
rates income (section 13). 

4.0 Key Messages 

4.1 The headline messages at the end of the first four months of 2022-23 are: 

 Revenue Budget 

(i) The revenue budget, excluding projects funded from earmarked reserves, 
is forecast to be underspent by £237k.  

(ii) There are no projected variances in respect of income from business 
rates, council tax and non-specific (un-ringfenced) grants. The forecast 
outturn position will therefore result in a contribution to General Fund 
reserves of £237k. 

  Earmarked Reserves Budget 

(iii) Expenditure funded from earmarked reserves is forecast to undershoot the 
current budget by £263k. The projected underspend reflects changes to 
the expected timing of expenditure and is included in amounts forecasted 
to be spent in 2023-24 and subsequent years.  

  Capital Budget 

(iv) Expenditure from the capital budget is forecast to underspend by 
£16.667m (before carry forwards); £299k net of anticipated budget carry 
forward requests (re-profiling adjustments). 

 Treasury Management 

(v) Treasury management activities during the period were carried out in 
accordance with the Council’s treasury management and investment 
strategies and within the limits established by the approved Treasury and 
Prudential Indicators for 2022-23. 

(vi) No new external borrowing was undertaken during the six month period 
ending 30 September 2022. 

 

Page 76



 

 

5.0 Summary of Projected Revenue Outturn Position 

5.1 Table 1 shows, as at the end of September 2022, the Council's overall projected 
2022-23 revenue outturn position. It shows:  

 net budgeted expenditure on services of £15.8m 

 projected outturn on services (including contributions to earmarked reserves) 
of £15.563m 

 a projected underspend on services for the year to March 2023 of £237k. 

Table 1 - Summary of Projected Outturn against Annual Budget 

 Budget 

£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£’000 

Projected 
Variance 

£’000 

Report 
Ref. 

Net Expenditure on Services 13,026 12,789 (237)  

Parish Precepts 2,774 2,774 0  

Net Expenditure on Services  15,800 15,563 (237) Section 6 

Expenditure on Earmarked Priorities 2,874 2,611 (263)  

Total Net Expenditure  18,674 18,174 (500)  

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances  (2,874) (2,611) 263 Section 7 

Net Budget Requirement/ Outturn 15,800 15,563 (237)  

Funding:  

Taxation & Government Grants 15,800 15,800 0 Section 8 

Contribution from/(to) General Fund 0 (237) (237) Section 10 

Total Funding 15,800 15,563 (237)  

5.2 The projected underspend will result in a contribution to the Council’s General Fund 
balances of £237k.  

6.0 Analysis of Net Expenditure on Services against Budget 

6.1 A summary of the projected favourable outturn variance of £237k by portfolio is 
shown in Table 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



 

 

Table 2 - Summary of variance by Portfolio 

 
Annual 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Planned 
Contribution 
to Reserves  

Projected 
Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

(278) (123) 0 155 

Finance & Legal 5,309 4,944 0 (365) 

Environmental Services 2,589 2,456 0 (133) 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

2,765 2,732 0 (33) 

Leisure & Tourism 374 379 0 5 

Customer Experience & Innovation 2,267 2,401 0 134 

Parish Precepts 2,774 2,774 0 0 

Total 15,800 15,563 0 (237) 

6.2 A breakdown and analysis of significant variances (i.e. full year forecast variances 
of +/- £30k) by Executive member portfolio is set out in the following paragraphs. 

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking 
Portfolio 

6.3 The forecast net variance against the Economic Growth, Community Development 
& Placemaking portfolio budget is £154,574 (adverse). Significant variances 
underlying the current forecast outturn position are summarised in the following 
table: 

Table 3 - Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking significant 
variances 

Service/Activity 

Gross 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

Planned 
Contr. to 
Reserves 

 
£ 

Net Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable) 
 

£ 

Corporate Property Maintenance 86,497 0 86,497 

Tenanted Properties 35,026 0 35,026 

Footway Maintenance 63,453 0 63,453 

Camping & Caravan Sites (77,825) 0 (77,825) 

Workington Town Centre 112,929 0 112,929 

Sub Total 220,080 0 220,080 

Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k (65,506) 0 (65,506) 

Total variance 154,574 0 154,574 

Corporate Property Maintenance (adverse variance of £86,497)  

6.4 After charging costs of £9.5k to earmarked reserves in line with the 2021-22 budget 
carry forward request, increases in utility charges in respect of gas and electricity 
are forecast to generate a net adverse variance of £92.1k. The current forecast 
reflects the impact of increases in tariffs incurred to date and estimated annual 

Page 78



 

 

consumption. It does not however, include the potential impact of future prices 
increases or the offsetting impact of the Government’s Energy Bill Relief Scheme. 
Further revisions to the forecast outturn position are therefore expected over the 
second half of 2022-23.  

6.5 Based on current forecasts, expenditure on gas and electricity for the year to March 
2023 is anticipated to exceed the 2021-22 outturn position by 235% and 117% 
respectively. 

6.6 The adverse variance on utility costs is offset by a favourable variance of £5.6k from 
expenditure on general repairs and maintenance of buildings.   

Tenanted Properties (adverse variance of £35,026)  

6.7 The variance is due to a shortfall in income due to vacant rooms at Workington 
Town Hall, garage and store premises at Central Car Park Keswick and 11 Market 
Place Cockermouth.  

Footway Maintenance (adverse variance of £63,453)  

6.8 An adverse variance of £56.2k is forecast due to increased electricity charges 
supplying street lighting. Full year costs are currently estimated to be around 90% 
higher than in the previous financial year, taking into account increased tariffs and 
estimated annual consumption. However, as noted in paragraph 6.4 future changes 
to tariffs may require further revisions to the forecast outturn position as the year 
progresses. 

6.9 A forecast overspend of £7.2k against third party payments (covering maintenance, 
installation and disconnection fees) is also estimated.  

Camping & Caravan Sites (favourable variance of £77,825) 

6.10 Current income forecasts based on interim financial statements from the Caravan 
and Camping Club indicate Allerdale’s share will exceed budget by £77.8k. 

Workington Town Centre (adverse variance of £112,929) 

6.11 Washington Square as a retail centre continues to struggle to recover from the 
lasting effects of the pandemic. This includes the impact of changes to working 
patterns towards home and hybrid working, as well as the growing trend in shopping 
preferences towards on-line shopping. Retail rents have reduced, with rent levels on 
lease renewals and new lettings down 30% to 50% on pre-pandemic levels. In 
addition to the fall in income, allowable expenses in the additional rent statements 
have increased mainly due to expenditure incurred to encourage new lettings.  

Finance & Legal Portfolio 

6.12 The forecast net variance against the Finance & Legal portfolio is £365,137 
(favourable). Significant variances underlying the current forecast position are 
summarised in the following table: 

  

Page 79



 

 

Table 4 - Finance & Legal significant variances 

Service/Activity 

Gross 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

Planned 
Contr. to 
Reserves 

 
£ 

Net Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable) 
 

£ 

Banking & Interest (374,343) 0 (374,343) 

MRP & Finance Charges (56,411) 0 (56,411) 

Sub Total (430,754) 0 (430,754) 

Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k 65,617 0 65,617 

Total variance (365,137) 0 (365,137) 

Banking and Interest (favourable variance of £374,343)  

6.13  The favourable variance of £374,343 reflects favourable variances of: 

 £90,343 in respect of interest payable 

 £284,000 in relation to interest income. 

6.14 Although forecast interest rates on new borrowing have increased significantly since 
the 2022-23 budget was prepared - rising by between 300 and 350 basis points 
compared to earlier forecasts - this has been offset by a reduction in the Authority's 
anticipated borrowing requirements.   

6.15 The interest payable budget for 2022-23 of £934,273 was predicated on the basis of 
drawing down additional PWLB borrowing in 2021-22 of up to £2.650m. This figure 
included £1.25m of borrowing in respect of unfinanced capital expenditure (i.e. 
amounts funded from borrowing) incurred in prior years. It also assumed a further 
£4.5m of borrowing in 2022-23. As noted in the 2021-22 capital outturn report, the 
actual amount of capital expenditure funded from borrowing in 2021-22 was £282k 
compared to the revised budget of £1.557m. A variance of £1.275m. Of this, 
£1.269m was carried forward to 2022-23. The in-year expenditure of £282k was met 
from internal borrowing and no new external borrowing was undertaken in 2021-22.  

6.16 Based on current forecasts for capital expenditure in 2022-23, the maximum 
additional external borrowing requirement for 2022-23 is currently estimated at 
£1.91m, with the majority of this (£1.18m) relating to borrowing in respect of 
unfinanced capital expenditure incurred in prior years. After adjusting for changes in 
forecast borrowing rates, the deferment of additional PWLB borrowing from 2021-22 
and the reduction in the 2022-23 borrowing requirement has resulted in a forecast 
reduction in the interest charge for 2022-23 of £90k. 

6.17 The UK Bank Rate at the start of 2021-22 was 0.1% and remained at this level until 
it was increased to 0.25% in December 2021. Two further 25bp increases in 
February and March took the rate to 0.75% at the start of the current financial year. 
Since then, further increases have seen the Bank Rate rise to 1.00% in May, 1.25% 
in July, 1.75% in August and 2.25% in September. At the time of writing, the bank 
rate is forecast to close the year at 5.00%. In comparison, the forecast 
accompanying the 2022-23 Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and used to 
inform the 2022-23 budget, included a forecast rate for the fourth quarter of 2022-23 
of 1.25%. The rise in the Bank Rate over the course of the current year to date has 
been accompanied by a significant upturn in short-term investment yields. At the 

Page 80



 

 

time of preparing the 2022-23 budget these were around 0.01%. In contrast, at the 
end of September, yields on Money Market Funds, which typically account for 
around 60% of the Authority’s investment portfolio, were in the region of 1.7% to 
2.1%. 

6.18 In addition to the increase in investment yields, the average level of funds available 
for investment have remained at elevated levels throughout the current year to date 
when compared to those assumed in the 2022-23 budget. At the end of the 2021-22 
financial year, investment balances were significantly above those reported in 
previous years and have remained at elevated levels throughout the first half of 
2022-23. This has been underpinned by the positive cash flow impact associated 
with the advance receipt of a number of capital grants and with the various fiscal 
measures implemented by central government in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and rising energy costs.  

6.19 Further changes in the base rate are expected during the remainder of 2022-23 as 
the Bank of England seeks to address mounting inflationary pressures. Coupled 
with changes to the level of funds available for investment, this is likely to require 
further adjustments to the forecast outturn position as the year progresses. 

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) – Financing Charges (favourable variance 
of £56,411)   

6.20 The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount required to be set aside from 
the General Fund to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or 
credit arrangements. Pending confirmation of the 2021-22 capital outturn position, 
the MRP budget for 2022-23 was calculated based on the amount of capital 
expenditure, included in the 2021-22 revised capital budget and funded from 
borrowing. The actual amount of expenditure funded from borrowing in 2021-22 was 
£282k compared to a budgeted total of £1.557m. A favourable variance 
(underspend) of £1.275m. The impact of this underspend on capital expenditure 
funded from borrowing is a reduction in the 2022-23 MRP charge of £56k. 

Environmental Services Portfolio 

6.21 The forecast net variance against the Environmental Services portfolio budget is 
£132,917 (favourable). Significant variances underlying the current forecast position 
are summarised in the following table: 

Table 5 - Environmental Services significant variances 

Service/Activity 

Gross 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

Planned 
Contr. to 
Reserves 

 
£ 

Net 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

Trade Waste (149,338) 0 (149,338) 

Recycling (45,866) 0 (45,866) 

Multi-storey Car Park 71,664 0 71,664 

Sub Total (123,540) 0 (123,540) 

Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k (9,377) 0 (9,377) 

Total variance (132,917) 0 (132,917) 

Page 81



 

 

Trade Waste (favourable variance of £149,338) 

6.22 The favourable variance is underpinned by the following: 

 a favourable variance of £142.2k in respect of income from trade waste 
collection services. At the time of setting the budget, it was difficult to 
estimate the demand for the service following the impact of the pandemic on 
businesses. Based on the income achieved to date, a much more favourable 
position is forecast than anticipated 

 a favourable variance of £2.9k on income from the sale of recyclates. This is 
the net of £1.1k shortfall in income due to market prices for recyclable 
materials and £4k increase in income from higher than estimated volume of 
tonnages collected, when compared to budget  

 a favourable variance of £4k in relation to expenditure on disposal and 
cleansing costs  

 a net favourable variance of £0.2k from minor expenditure items.  

 Recycling (favourable variance of £45,866) 

6.23 The favourable variance is underpinned by the following: 

 a net favourable variance of £46.7k on income from the sale of recyclates. 
Since the last reported forecast at the end of July 2022, the market has seen 
reductions in the sale prices for plastic and paper. These falls have been 
reflected in the current forecast and have contributed to a reduction in the 
forecast favourable variance, from £162.6k at 31 July to £55.5k at 30 
September. The £55.5k variance attributable to sales prices is offset by a 
reduction in income of £8.8k, based on the forecast tonnages collected, 
compared to budget  

 a £11.7k adverse variance is forecast from recycling credits income, 
receivable from Cumbria County Council, due to the collection of lower 
tonnages of recycled materials than budgeted  

 a favourable variance of £14.6k against budgeted expenditure for disposal 
and cleansing costs  

 a £3.7k adverse variance on equipment and materials. 

Multi-storey Car Park (adverse variance of £71,664) 

6.24 Visitors to the town centre have not returned to pre-pandemic numbers. Changes in 
peoples shopping habits and people continuing to work from home means there is a 
reduced demand for car parking spaces. In addition, a new car park near the MSCP 
has been offering more competitive rates. The overall impact of this is a forecast 
adverse variance of £71,664 compared to budget.  

6.25 A review of the MSCP charges has been undertaken and a more competitive 
pricing structure was implemented during October to encourage increased usage of 
the facility. The impact of the revised pricing will not be clear until later in the year 
and has therefore not been taken into account in preparing the current forecast.   

  

Page 82



 

 

Policy, Governance & People Resources Portfolio 

6.26 The forecast net variance against the Policy, Governance & People Resources 
portfolio is £33,121 (favourable). Significant variances underlying the current 
forecast position are summarised in the following table: 

Table 6 - Policy, Governance & People Resources significant variances 

Service/Activity 

Gross 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

Planned 
Contr. to 
Reserves 

 
£ 

Net Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable) 
 

£ 

Elections & Democratic Services (32,515) 0 (32,515) 

Sub Total (32,515) 0 (32,515) 

Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k (606) 0 (606) 

Total variance (33,121) 0 (33,121) 

Elections & Democratic Services (favourable variance of £32,515) 

6.27 The forecast favourable variance arises from the decision not to fill the existing 
Senior Management vacancy. The position is being covered by existing staff 
resources and backfilled with an additional supporting role.  

Customer Experience & Innovation Portfolio 

6.28 The forecast net variance against the Customer Experience & Innovation portfolio 
budget is £134,332 (adverse). Significant variances underlying the current forecast 
position are summarised in the following table: 

  Table 7 - Customer Experience & Innovation significant variances 

Service/Activity 

Gross 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

Planned 
Contr. to 
Reserves 

 
£ 

Net 
Variance  
adverse/  

(favourable) 
£ 

IT Services 68,307 0 68,307 

Sub Total 68,307 0 68,307 

Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k 66,025 0 66,025 

Total variance 134,332 0 134,332 

IT Services (adverse variance of £68,307) 

6.29 The variance is due primarily to an overlap in telecommunications service provision 
during the transition from BT OnePhone to the new landline and mobile service 
providers. Discussions are ongoing with BT to finalise arrangements required to exit 
the existing contract. The current forecast is based on the process taking until the 
end of the financial year to complete. However, it is hoped that this will happen 
sooner, in which case the forecast overspend will be reduced.  

6.30 In addition, a number of corporate projects have been delayed, requiring the 
Council to acquire extended support licences to cover the period to January 2023. 
These additional licences are required to meet regulatory and legislative security 
requirements. 

Page 83



 

 

 Other portfolios 

6.31 At the end of quarter 2, there were no significant variances (i.e., variances of +/- 
£30k) to report within the Leisure and Tourism portfolio. 

7.0  Projects funded from Earmarked Reserves  

7.1 At 1 April 2022, the balance held in earmarked reserve was £7.520m, as detailed in 
Appendix D, and comprised: 

 £3.274m held for service expenditure 

 £4.246m held for accounting purposes or as contingency against specified 
risks. 

7.2 Against the balance of £3.274m (reserves held for service expenditure), the profiled 
(budgeted) spend for 2022-23 is £2.874m. The remaining balance is profiled to be 
spent in subsequent financial years.  

7.3 The current forecast outturn for 2022-23 is £2.611m, resulting in a projected 
underspend of £263k.  

7.4 The forecast underspend of £263k is due to a change in the timing of expenditure 
and will be spent in future financial years.  

Table 8 - Summary of projected expenditure from earmarked reserves 

Reserve Funded projects  

Reserve  
Balance 
1-4-2022 

Profiled 
Budget 
2022-23 

Projected 
outturn 

Variance 

Re- 
profiled 
to/(from) 

future 
years 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

619 619 369 (250) 250 

Finance & Legal 1,587 1,345 1,345 0 0 

Environmental Services 529 454 454 0 0 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

397 352 342 (10) 10 

Leisure & Tourism 81 43 43 0 0 

Customer Experience & Innovation 61 61 58 (3) 3 

Total held for service expenditure 3,274 2,874 2,611 (263) 263 

8.0 Taxation and Non-specific grant income 

8.1 Details of the Council’s taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure for 
the year compared with budget, are shown in the following table. This includes 
income received from: 

 Non-ringfenced government grants, such as Revenue Support Grant and 
New Homes Bonus  

 Council tax and Non Domestic Rates (NNDR). 

Page 84



 

 

Table 9 - Taxation and Non-specific grant income 

 Original 
Budget  
£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£’000 

 
Variance 

£’000 

Revenue support grant 207 207 0 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 342 342 0 

New Homes Bonus 291 291 0 

Other Gov. grants (Lower Tier Services Grant) 167 167 0 

Other Gov. grants (Services Grant)  252 252 0 

NNDR funding 9,507 9,507 0 

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - NNDR (3,340) (3,340) 0 

Council tax – excluding parish element 5,577 5,577 0 

Council tax – parish element 2,774 2,774 0 

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax  23 23 0 

Use of /(contribution to) General Fund Balances 0 0 0 

 15,800 15,800 0 

NNDR Funding (business rates) 

8.2 The amount of NNDR income available to the general fund and taken into account 
when setting the budget each year, is based on the figures contained in the 
government return - NNDR1.  

8.3 Although the NNDR1 form fixes a significant portion of NNDR income available to 
the Council’s general fund for the financial year, it does not fix:  

 the levy the Council pays to the Cumbria business rates pool  

 the retained levy that the Council receives back from the pool or  

 the grant it receives from central government to compensate for certain 
business rate reliefs (section 31 grant) 

 the balance of amount payable or receivable in respect of the preceding 
years disregarded income (renewable energy reconciliation adjustment). 

8.4 Amounts relating to levy payments and section 31 grant are based on the Collection 
Fund outturn position, rather than on the estimates included in the NNDR 1 return. 
The retained levy also takes into account the Collection Fund outturn positions of 
other pool members. As a consequence, the amount of income the Council receives 
and pays in relation to these items, is subject to change over the course of the 
financial year. The renewable energy reconciliation adjustment is based on the 
previous year’s outturn position. 

8.5 The composition of funding available from business rates in 2022-23, including 
related s31 grants is summarised in table 10. 

     
  

Page 85



 

 

 Table 10 - NNDR (business rates) funding 2022-23 

Funding element 
Approved 

Budget 
£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£’000 
Variance  

£’000 

Fixed Elements:    

Allerdale Share of NNDR Income  10,126 10,126 0 

Renewable Energy ‘disregard’ retained by billing authority 544 544 0 

Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,418) (7,418) 0 

Share of estimated collection fund deficit (3,340) (3,340) 0 

‘Fixed’ element of NNDR income (88) (88) 0 

Variable Elements:    

Reconciliation adjustment (prior years disregarded income) (11) (15) (4) 

Section 31 grant  3,878 4,379 501 

Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (487) (441) 46 

Variable element of NNDR income 3,380 3,923 543 

Total Fixed & Variable Elements 3,292 3,835 543 

Transfer from Earmarked Reserve - 2021-22 s31 grant 3,334 3,334 0 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserve - 2022-23 retained levy (645) (656) (11) 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserve - 2022-23 s31 Grant (CARF) 0 (664) (664) 

Release of prior year retained levy from Earmarked Reserve  186 318 132 

Net Credit to the General Fund 6,167 6,167 0 

8.6 As part of its Covid-19 response, the Government announced in March 2022 a new 
Covid-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF) to support businesses affected by the 
pandemic but ineligible for existing support linked to business rates. Under the 
scheme, billing authorities are responsible for administering the support (in the form 
of discretionary relief against 2021-22 business rate liabilities) and are reimbursed 
by government by way of a grant under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003 by way of set allocation. The Authority’s CARF funding allocation of 
£1,628,473 was received in March 2022. Although CARF relief can only be applied 
to reduce chargeable amounts in respect of 2021-22, relief can be awarded in 2022-
23 provided it is in respect of a 2021-22 liability. 

8.7 In the six months to September, CARF relief totalling £1,504,961 was awarded to 
business rate payers. This provided 50% relief against 2021-22 business rate 
liabilities to over 280 businesses affected by the pandemic but ineligible for existing 
support linked to business rates such as full small business rates relief, expanded 
retail discount or nursery discount.   

8.8 Whilst the award of CARF relief has reduced collectable rates, it has not impacted 
on the fixed elements of NNDR income (based on the NNDR1 returns for 2022-23) 
credited to the general fund in 2022-23. It will however impact on the 2022-23 
Collection Fund surplus/deficit to be disbursed from/repaid to the Collection Fund in 
2023-24. To offset this, the additional s31 grant received in 2022-23 in respect of 
reliefs awarded under the CARF scheme will be transferred to an earmarked 
reserve and released in 2023-24 to offset the corresponding reduction in business 
rates income. 

Page 86



 

 

9.0 Capital budget 

9.1 The current capital budget is £25.621m, comprising: 

 £19.761m approved budget for 2022-23 (approved February 2022) 

 £4.601m budget carry forward from 2021-22 

 budget adjustments of £1.192m (highlighted in the 2021-22 Capital Outturn 
Report) to reflect grants awarded after approval of the 2022-23 budget 

 further budget adjustment of £67k to reflect the award of Changing Places 
Fund grant. 

9.2 The projected Capital Outturn position for 2022-23 is summarised in table 11. This 
shows: 

 a projected outturn position of £8.954m 

 an underspend compared to budget of £16.667m  

 expected budget carry forward requests (re-profiling adjustments) of 
£16.368m 

 an overall favourable variance (net of carry forward requests) of £299k. 
 
   Table 11 - Capital Programme – Projected Outturn by Portfolio 

 
Current 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Outturn 
Variance 

Projected 
budget 

carry-fwd  
Variance 

 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Expenditure      

Econ. Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking 

21,499 6,633 (14,866) 14,665 (201) 

Finance & Legal  74 0 (74) 0 (74) 

Policy, Governance & People 
Resources 

3,812 2,102 (1,710) 1,703 (7) 

Environmental Services  158 141 (17) 0 (17) 

Leisure & Tourism 78 78 0 0 0 

Customer Experience & 
Innovation 

0 0 0 0 0 

Total - Capital Expenditure 25,621 8,954 (16,667) 16,368 (299) 

Capital Financing           

Capital Grants 19,025 7,550 (11,475) 11,358 (117) 

Capital Receipts 755 554 (201) 149 (52) 

Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 

General Fund Balances  11 32 21 0 21 

Borrowing 5,756 818 (4,938) 4,861 (77) 

Credit Arrangements  74 0 (74) 0 (74) 

Total - Capital Funding 25,621 8,954 (16,667) 16,368 (299) 

Key variances 

9.3 Details of key variances are set out in Appendix B. 

Page 87



 

 

10.0 Impact on General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balances 

10.1 The impact of current budget forecasts on the Council’s general fund and 
earmarked general fund balances (earmarked reserves) is summarised in the 
following table:   

Table 12 - Movement in Balances 

 

Current Budget Projected Outturn 

General 
Fund 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

General 
Fund 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Opening Balances April 2022 3,105 7,520 3,105 7,520 

Transfers to/(from) Reserves:     

Release of E/M to GF 0 0 0 0 

Use for capital programme (11) 0 (32) 0 

Use to support Revenue Budget 0 (2,874) 0 (2,611) 

Planned to Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0 

Requested to Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 190 

Transfer to General Fund Reserve – 
2022-23 surplus 

0 0 237 0 

Transfer from Earmarked Reserve – 
2020-21 s31 grant 

0 (3,334) 0 (3,334) 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserve – 
2021-22 retained levy 

0 645 0 656 

Transfer from Earmarked Reserve - 
release of prior year retained levy  

0 (186) 0 (318) 

Transfer to Earmarked Reserve - 
2022-23 s31 Grant (CARF) 

0 0 0 664 

Increase/(Decrease) in Balance (11) (5,749) 205 (4,753) 

Balance at 31 March 2023 3,094 1,771 3,310 2,767 

Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) 0 (2,700) 0 

Available for Use 394 1,771 610 2,767 

Impact on General Fund Balances 

10.2 This reserve plays an important part in managing unforeseen risk and cash flow 
management of the Authority. At the end of quarter 2, the projected revenue and 
capital outturn positions for the year to March 2023, will result in a net increase in 
the Council’s general fund balance of £205k, compared to the reduction of £11k 
included in the current budget.  

Impact on Earmarked Reserves 

10.3 Profiled (budgeted) spend from earmarked reserves on services is £2.874m. The 
projected outturn at the end of quarter 2 is £2.611m. The projected underspend of 
£263k reflects changes to the expected timing of expenditure and is included in 
amounts forecasted to be spent in 2023-24 and subsequent years. 

Page 88



 

 

10.4 Forecast net transfers from earmarked reserves in respect of business rates income 
is £2.332m, a reduction of £543k compared to budget. This reflects the additional 
transfer to earmarked reserves of s31 grant associated with the award of CARF 
relief, as noted in paragraph 8.8 above, net of the additional transfers required from 
earmarked reserves to offset the current forecast reductions in the variable 
elements of business rates income for 2022-23 (see table 10). 

11.0 Treasury Management  

 Treasury Management Activity 

11.1 A summary of treasury management activity during the six months to 30 September 
2022, including details of investment and borrowing transactions and information 
about the Council’s investment and loans portfolios, is contained in Appendix C. 
During the period ending 30 September 2022: 

 treasury management activities were carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s treasury management and investment strategies 

 no new external borrowing was undertaken. 

Treasury and Prudential Indicators 

11.2 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep under 
review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of loans and other 
forms of credit. The processes the Council must follow in setting these limits (the 
‘Authorised Limit for External Debt’) is set out in the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities to which the Council is required to ‘have regard to’ 
under provisions contained in the 2003 Act. In addition to the Authorised Limit, 
CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes and accompanying sector 
guidance, include a number of other key treasury management indicators designed 
to support and record local decision making in connection with capital and treasury 
activities. 

11.3 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing under the 
Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit beyond which 
external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators and limits required by 
CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes, were set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy for 2022-23. 
This was approved by Full Council in February 2022.  

11.4 During the period April to September 2022, the Council has operated within the 
limits established by the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-23. Further details relating to the 
treasury and prudential indicators, including performance against all forward looking 
prudential indicators are set out in Appendix C. 

  

Page 89



 

 

12.0. Insurance  

12.1 A summary of claims lodged and closed between 1 April 2022 and 30 September 
2022 is set out in the table below: 

Table 13 - Insurance claims from 1 April 2022 to 30 September 2022 
 No. 

Claims 
b/f 

No. Closed 
to date 

No. Lodged 
to date 

No. Claims 
Outstanding 

Public Liability 10 6 0 4 

Employers Liability 0 0 0 0 

Other 0 0 0 0 

Property Damage and Motor 1 0 0 1 

Municipal Mutual (1974 to 1993) 2 0 0 2 

 13 6 0 7 

12.2 The number of claims outstanding at the end of September 2022 was 7. This 
compares to a total of 8 outstanding claims at the end of July 2022. Six claims have 
been closed or settled during the first six months of 2022-23. 

12.3 The cost of settling outstanding claims is currently estimated at £19,043.  Of this 
amount, the estimated cost to be borne by the Authority (the insurance excess) is 
£15,212. 

12.4 At 1 April 2022, the Authority brought forward a provision for insurance liabilities of 
£77,352 and £11,755 has been paid up to the end of September 2022.  Excluding 
the potential cost of existing claims, this leaves a balance of £50,385 currently 
unallocated.  This remaining balance would meet liabilities arising from an additional 
10 claims that may be received in relation to incidents incurred but not yet reported, 
requiring the Council’s maximum excess contribution. 

13.0 Working Capital Management 

 Sundry Debtors and Write-offs 

13.1 The outstanding sundry debt (including Trade Refuse) at 30 September 2022, was 
£1,291,680, which is detailed in the following table: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

 Table 14 - Outstanding Debtors at 30 September 2022 

 Total debt 
outstanding  

Not past 
due 

30 Days 
past due 

60 Days 
past due 

>90 Days 
past due 

 £ £ £ £ £ 

At 30 September 2021 1,223,041 385,088 460,514 102,278 275,161 

% debt 100% 31% 38% 8% 23% 

At 31 December 2021 532,790 118,020 106,308 28,286 280,176 

% debt 100% 22% 20% 5% 53% 

At 31 March 2022 902,719 539,229 102,031 24,095 237,364 

% debt 100% 22% 20% 5% 53% 

At 30 June 2022 962,179 428,190 296,147 1,377 236,465 

% debt 100% 44% 31% <1% 25% 

At 30 September 2022 1,291,680 801,690 147,615 65,592 272,783 

% debt 100% 62% 11% 5% 21% 

13.2 £272,783 (21% of the outstanding debt) is over 90 days old. Of this, £47k is subject 
to a payment plan or is secured through charging orders. The remaining £226k is 
subject to ongoing recovery action. An allowance of £120k is available to offset the 
general fund impact of non-recoverable debt balances. 

13.3 Between April and September 2022, 60 sundry debtor/trade waste invoices were 
written off. 

Table 15 - Write off of debtors 

 

2020-21 
Apr – Sept 2020 

2021-22 
Apr – Sept 2021 

2022-23 
Apr – Sept 2022 

No 
invoices 

Total  
£ 

No 
invoices 

Total  
£ 

No 
invoices 

Total  
£ 

Sundry Debtors 24 2,051 21 3,588 52 16,716 

Trade Waste 27 1,526 55 5,215 8 578 

TOTAL 51 3,577 76 8,803 60 17,294 

Payment of Creditor Invoices 

13.4 The Authority has a target to pay 98% of invoices from suppliers located within the 
Allerdale postal area within 14 days of receipt, and 98% of non-Allerdale supplier 
invoices within 30 days of receipt. 

13.5 During quarter 2 of 2022-23, 94.6% of Allerdale supplier invoices were paid within 
14 days with 509 invoices being paid on time. This compares with 92% achieved in 
the corresponding period last year.  

13.6 During quarter 2 of 2022-23, 99% of national supplier invoices were paid within 30 
days with 961 being paid on time. This compares with quarter 2 2021-22 when 
96.8% was achieved. 

13.7 A summary of the reasons for delays in payment is set out below: 

 

Page 91



 

 

Table 16 - Reasons for delay in payment of supplier invoices (Q2 2022-23) 

Reasons for delay 
Allerdale supplier 

invoices  

No. of invoices 

National supplier 
invoices  

No. of invoices 

Invoices received without a valid purchase order  11 3 

Price discrepancy between invoice and purchase order 
requiring authorisation prior to payment 

1 0 

Purchase order was not goods receipted prior to receipt of 
invoice 

3 1 

Manual authorisation required (purchase order not 
required) 

0 1 

Invoices sent directly to department or individual instead 
of the Invoice Section 

10 2 

Other non-recurring issues 4 3 

Total number subject to delayed payment 29 10 

13.8 As part of the ongoing finance business partnering support provided to budget 
holders and services, the issues identified in Table 16 have been highlighted to all 
services. Communications have also stressed the importance of following 
prescribed procedures for raising purchase orders, receipting goods and processing 
invoices, in order to ensure the timely payment of invoices. Support has also been 
offered to any individual or team who would like clarification or further training on 
any aspect of the process. Specific services identified as impacting adversely on 
performance to date have been targeted to help improve performance. 

13.9 Performance will continue to be monitored and reported in future monitoring reports.  

Council Tax and NNDR – collection statistics 

13.10 During the six months to 30 September 2022, the collection rates for Council tax are 
slightly lower than the corresponding period for 2021-22, yet still show some 
improvement on the 2020-21 collection rates, which were impacted by Covid.  

13.11 As a result of administering the £150 energy rebate scheme, introduced by central 
government in response to the increased charges for energy, the Council 
experienced an influx of Direct Debits at the start of the year. This has resulted in 
instalments being pushed back a month and adversely affecting collection rates in 
the early part of the year.  

13.12 Over the same period, the NNDR collection rates show improvements compared to 
the corresponding periods for both 2021-22 and 2020-21. 

Table 17 - Council Tax and NNDR collection rates as at 30 September 2022 

 
Council Tax 
Collection 

% 

NNDR 
Collection 

% 

CTAX and NNDR as % of Full Year 
Collectable income 

Q2 2022-23 56.95% 59.04% 57.56% - £53.2m (out of £92.5m) 

Q2 2021-22 57.10% 48.61% 54.89% - £47.3m (out of £86.2m) 

Q2 2020-21 56.77% 55.51% 56.53% - £42.5m (out of £75.1m) 

 

Page 92



 

 

14.0  Delivery arrangements 

14.1 Not applicable to this decision/report.  

15.0 Implications and Impact 

 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

15.1 Sound financial management is essential to successful delivery of the Council’s 
financial plans, achievement of value for money, financial sustainability and the 
stewardship and safeguarding of public money.  

 Finance/Resource implications 

15.2 Financial issues and implications are included within the main body of this report. 

 Legal and governance implications  

15.3 There are no legal or governance issues arising from this decision/report. 

 Risk analysis 

15.4 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Increasing satisfaction and service 

15.5 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Equality impacts 

15.6 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health and Safety impacts 

15.7 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

15.8 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

15.9 Not applicable to this decision/report. 

 Other significant implications 

15.10 There are no other significant implications arising from report. 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  Title of appendix 

A Projected revenue outturn by portfolio 

B-1 Capital expenditure to date and forecast outturn 

B-2 Summary of capital variances  

C Summary of Treasury Management Activity 

D Earmarked Reserves 

Page 93



 

 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

None N/A 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 

Catherine Nicholson 
Chief Officer Assets & s151 Officer 
telephone no: 07711 - 634180  
email: catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk 

Barry Lennox 
Senior Manager - Finance (Deputy s151 Officer)  
Telephone no: 07355 - 032774  
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk  

Claire Felters 
Senior Manager - Finance 
telephone no: 07518 - 294404 
email: claire.felters@allerdale.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 94



Appendix A 

Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 

Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE
Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking

(201,949) (277,579) (443,033) 294,606 (58,372) (206,799) 0 70,780 83,794 (123,005) 154,574

Finance & Legal 5,282,833 5,309,283 627,725 277,994 3,951,568 4,857,286 0 (451,997) 86,860 4,944,146 (365,137)

Environmental Services 2,582,777 2,588,777 3,011,794 2,734,348 (3,302,070) 2,444,072 0 (144,705) 11,788 2,455,860 (132,917)

Policy, Governance & People Resources 2,772,647 2,765,177 1,144,321 256,327 1,323,387 2,724,035 0 (41,142) 8,021 2,732,056 (33,121)

Leisure & Tourism 406,405 373,925 39,068 43,691 296,292 379,050 0 5,125 0 379,050 5,125

Customer Experience & Innovation 2,183,408 2,266,538 1,537,221 72,854 790,795 2,400,870 0 134,332 0 2,400,870 134,332

REVENUE Sub Total 13,026,121 13,026,121 5,917,096 3,679,819 3,001,599 12,598,515 0 (427,606) 190,463 12,788,978 (237,143)

Parish Precepts 2,773,694 2,773,694 2,773,694 0 0 2,773,694 0 (0) 0 2,773,694 (0)

TOTAL REVENUE 15,799,815 15,799,815 8,690,790 3,679,819 3,001,599 15,372,209 0 (427,606) 190,463 15,562,672 (237,143)

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS
Economic Growth, Community 
Development & Placemaking

63,640 619,236 82,246 1,905 284,834 368,985 0 (250,251) 250,251 619,236 0

Finance & Legal 70,980 1,345,096 170,902 28,965 1,145,229 1,345,096 0 0 0 1,345,096 0

Environmental Services 0 454,178 88,448 4,500 361,230 454,178 0 0 0 454,178 0

Policy, Governance & People Resources 28,216 351,305 144,511 46,188 150,380 341,078 0 (10,227) 10,227 351,305 0

Leisure & Tourism 0 42,772 30,292 1,215 11,265 42,772 0 0 0 42,772 0

Customer Experience & Innovation 3,229 61,196 (34,400) 1,207 91,160 57,967 0 (3,229) 3,229 61,196 0

TOTAL RESERVES 166,065 2,873,783 482,000 83,980 2,044,097 2,610,076 0 (263,707) 263,707 2,873,783 0

TOTAL 15,965,880 18,673,598 9,172,790 3,763,799 5,045,696 17,982,285 0 (691,313) 454,170 18,436,455 (237,143)

Summary of Projected Outturn by Portfolio

Portfolio

Net

P
age 95



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross 

Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 

Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE
1015 revenue Corporate Property Maintenance 451,140 456,100 302,251 48,603 191,743 542,597 0 86,497 0 542,597 86,497

1018 revenue Tenanted Properties (217,120) (217,120) (107,094) 500 (75,500) (182,094) 0 35,026 0 (182,094) 35,026

1019 revenue Industrial Units (257,371) (257,371) (132,625) 0 (116,500) (249,125) 0 8,246 0 (249,125) 8,246

1020 revenue Other Land & Buildings (82,760) (82,760) (42,598) 0 (43,700) (86,298) 0 (3,538) 0 (86,298) (3,538)

1023 revenue Footway Maintenance 126,940 126,940 67,103 42,430 80,860 190,393 0 63,453 0 190,393 63,453

1024 revenue Coastal Protection & Inland Flooding 44,000 44,000 16,851 0 27,149 44,000 0 (0) 0 44,000 (0)

1025 revenue Camping & Caravan Sites (797,991) (797,991) 14,130 0 (889,946) (875,816) 0 (77,825) 0 (875,816) (77,825)

1027 revenue Workington Town Centre (447,900) (447,900) (150,000) 0 (184,971) (334,971) 0 112,929 0 (334,971) 112,929

1028 revenue Circuses & Fairs (5,700) (5,700) (10,273) 0 1,350 (8,923) 0 (3,223) 0 (8,923) (3,223)

1032 revenue Harrington Harbour 22,500 22,500 10,455 1,317 10,728 22,500 0 0 0 22,500 0

1051 revenue Confidential Waste 3,600 3,600 1,001 948 1,600 3,549 0 (52) 0 3,549 (52)

1054 revenue Building Control - Chargeable (318,940) (318,940) (611,592) 1,145 292,089 (318,358) 0 582 0 (318,358) 582

1058 revenue Planning and Development (505,250) (505,250) (461,405) 42,082 (100,699) (520,022) 0 (14,772) 0 (520,022) (14,772)

1069 revenue Public Building Cleaning 97,190 97,190 43,791 2,264 45,600 91,655 0 (5,535) 0 91,655 (5,535)

1070 revenue Public Conveniences 107,320 107,320 56,696 1,189 47,600 105,485 0 (1,835) 0 105,485 (1,835)

1073 revenue Markets (98,898) (98,898) (96,177) 1,640 (33,655) (128,192) 0 (29,294) 0 (128,192) (29,294)

1096 revenue Gypsy & Travellers 44,000 8,000 0 5,013 0 5,013 0 (2,987) 0 5,013 (2,987)

1116 revenue Festivals & Events 125,340 125,340 52,832 16,879 28,973 98,684 0 (26,656) 0 98,684 (26,656)

1118 revenue Car Parks Inspection 38,000 38,000 8,161 3,432 26,500 38,093 0 93 0 38,093 93

1122 revenue Building Control - Non-Chargeable 1,010 1,010 11,975 0 (11,884) 91 0 (919) 0 91 (919)

1142 revenue Corporate Property (26,000) (26,000) (14,637) 0 (9,500) (24,137) 0 1,863 0 (24,137) 1,863

1170 revenue Street Naming & Numbering (4,000) (4,000) (4,573) 0 (400) (4,973) 0 (973) 0 (4,973) (973)

1171 revenue Asset Transfer 0 0 (1,921) 20,096 (18,175) 0 0 0 0 0 0

1185 revenue Housing Development (7,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1187 revenue Place Development 0 0 10,750 21,750 (32,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0

1194 revenue Future HighStreet 5,000 5,000 (5,785) 0 7,300 1,515 0 (3,485) 0 1,515 (3,485)

1204 revenue Workington Town deal 25,000 25,000 0 0 25,000 25,000 0 0 0 25,000 0

1220 revenue Levelling Up fund 0 0 (90,000) 0 9,000 (81,000) 0 (81,000) 81,000 0 0

1222 revenue Maritime Museum - Temp Location 0 47,626 500 40,167 4,165 44,832 0 (2,794) 2,794 47,626 0

5002 revenue Property & Estates Manager 57,240 57,240 32,991 0 30,607 63,598 0 6,358 0 63,598 6,358

5100 revenue Property Services Pay Group 124,000 124,000 64,452 70 59,405 123,927 0 (73) 0 123,927 (73)

5260 revenue Building Control Pay Group 289,780 289,780 133,808 25,578 130,393 289,779 0 (1) 0 289,779 (1)

5300 revenue Planning and Development Pay Group 454,210 454,210 206,666 5,581 248,562 460,809 0 6,599 0 460,809 6,599

5740 revenue Business Support Unit 313,610 313,610 170,610 (0) 142,639 313,249 0 (361) 0 313,249 (361)

5800 revenue Estates 125,125 125,125 62,149 0 62,623 124,772 0 (353) 0 124,772 (353)

5910 revenue Programme Director for Maryport Regeneration 54,850 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6535 revenue Disposal of Allerdale Sites 10,000 10,000 3,761 0 7,500 11,261 0 1,261 0 11,261 1,261

6585 revenue Maryport HAZ 47,626 2,760 16,558 0 (13,798) 2,760 0 0 0 2,760 0

6589 revenue Re-Opening High Streets 0 0 3,548 13,920 (13,920) 3,548 0 3,548 0 3,548 3,548

6607 revenue Community Lottery 0 0 (5,391) 0 5,391 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0)

(201,949) (277,579) (443,033) 294,606 (58,372) (206,799) 0 70,780 83,794 (123,005) 154,574

PORTFOLIO: ECONOMIC GROWTH, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & PLACEMAKING

Cost 
Centre

Description

Net

Total Revenue

P
age 96



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross 

Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 

Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

PORTFOLIO: ECONOMIC GROWTH, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & PLACEMAKING

Cost 
Centre

Description

Net

6142 reserve Community Housing Fund 0 2,495 (1,319) 0 3,814 2,495 0 0 0 2,495 0

6720 reserve Footway Lighting Scheme 0 14,182 14,181 0 1 14,182 0 0 0 14,182 0

6770 reserve Gypsey & Traveller Sites 0 26,803 0 0 26,803 26,803 0 0 0 26,803 0

6772 reserve Community Stadium 0 5,261 0 0 5,261 5,261 0 0 0 5,261 0

6774 reserve Future High Streets 0 70,711 7,234 0 42,417 49,651 0 (21,060) 21,060 70,711 0

6775 reserve Towns Fund 0 47,302 3,699 1,905 (0) 5,604 0 (41,698) 41,698 47,302 0

6776 reserve Social Investment Fund 0 4,760 0 0 4,760 4,760 0 0 0 4,760 0

6788 reserve Northside Allotments Demolition 0 17,577 0 0 17,577 17,577 0 0 0 17,577 0

6794 reserve Local Heritage List Campaign 0 32,821 0 0 32,821 32,821 0 0 0 32,821 0
6800 reserve Community Lottery 0 11,329 0 0 11,329 11,329 0 0 0 11,329 0

6801 reserve Tenanted Properties 0 7,955 0 0 7,955 7,955 0 0 0 7,955 0

6802 reserve Prog Dir Maryport Regen 26,000 26,000 0 0 26,000 26,000 0 0 0 26,000 0

6803 reserve Maryport HAZ 37,640 53,809 11,998 0 21,006 33,004 0 (20,805) 20,805 53,809 0

6804 reserve Delivering Economic Benefits 0 4,800 4,800 0 0 4,800 0 0 0 4,800 0

6810 reserve Coastal Defence Work 0 28,696 4,313 0 24,383 28,696 0 0 0 28,696 0

6811 reserve Corporate Property Maintenance 0 18,388 9,500 0 8,888 18,388 0 0 0 18,388 0

6812 reserve Business Support Unit - Development Services 0 15,000 0 0 15,000 15,000 0 0 0 15,000 0

6813 reserve Planning & Development staff resource 0 49,015 17,195 0 31,820 49,015 0 0 0 49,015 0

6831 reserve Maryport Regeneration 0 67,700 10,644 0 5,000 15,644 0 (52,056) 52,056 67,700 0

6832 reserve Strategic Partner 0 114,632 0 0 0 0 0 (114,632) 114,632 114,632 0
63,640 619,236 82,246 1,905 284,834 368,985 0 (250,251) 250,251 619,236 0

(138,309) 341,657 (360,787) 296,511 226,462 162,186 0 (179,471) 334,045 496,231 154,574TOTAL

RESERVES

Total Reserves

P
age 97



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross 

Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 

Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE

1004 revenue Corporate Management 98,220 98,220 (11,286) 82,416 27,090 98,220 0 0 0 98,220 0

1034 revenue Banking and Interest 1,013,773 1,013,773 162,845 13,676 462,908 639,430 0 (374,343) 0 639,430 (374,343)

1035 revenue MRP & Finance Charges 1,174,958 1,174,958 0 0 1,118,547 1,118,547 0 (56,411) 0 1,118,547 (56,411)

1036 revenue Insurances 253,975 253,975 269,006 0 (11,755) 257,251 0 3,276 0 257,251 3,276

1041 revenue Contingencies 884,680 881,160 11,439 0 782,861 794,300 0 (86,860) 86,860 881,160 0

1062 revenue Licensing Service (184,660) (184,660) (47,547) 0 (136,038) (183,585) 0 1,075 0 (183,585) 1,075

1063 revenue Land Charges Service (94,140) (94,140) (42,019) 25,993 (55,000) (71,026) 0 23,114 0 (71,026) 23,114

1078 revenue Health and Safety 1,437 1,437 680 0 757 1,437 0 0 0 1,437 0

1080 revenue Food and Occupational Health (3,990) (3,990) (4,109) 1,210 (269) (3,168) 0 822 0 (3,168) 822

1081 revenue Environmental Protection (16,150) (16,150) (1,357) 17,088 (9,909) 5,822 0 21,972 0 5,822 21,972

1123 revenue Pension Deficit 548,100 548,100 0 0 548,100 548,100 0 0 0 548,100 0

1173 revenue Council Tax Discounts 3,500 3,500 12,522 0 (9,022) 3,500 0 (0) 0 3,500 (0)

1175 revenue New Finance System 0 0 1,250 36,874 (38,124) 0 0 0 0 0 0

1211 revenue Export Health Certificate Support Funds 0 0 (30,000) 0 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
1218 revenue Gypsy & Travellers - Legal Costs 0 24,000 0 0 24,000 24,000 0 0 0 24,000 0

5001 revenue Health, Safety & Resilience Pay Group 102,627 102,627 57,219 0 55,401 112,620 0 9,993 0 112,620 9,993

5007 revenue Legal & Information Governance 249,446 255,416 100,877 58,699 99,078 258,654 0 3,238 0 258,654 3,238

5008 revenue Environmental Health & Housing 57,240 57,240 31,658 6,600 18,982 57,240 0 0 0 57,240 0

5009 revenue Environmental Health 422,805 422,805 184,271 25,440 215,021 424,732 0 1,927 0 424,732 1,927

5080 revenue Internal Audit Pay Group 122,483 122,483 13,045 9,248 100,190 122,483 0 0 0 122,483 0

5120 revenue Finance and Accounting Pay Group 557,379 557,379 406,859 750 149,770 557,379 0 0 0 557,379 0

5320 revenue Licensing Pay Group 91,150 91,150 47,214 0 46,959 94,172 0 3,022 0 94,172 3,022

6571 revenue Licensing Agency Staff 0 0 (175,961) 0 173,052 (2,909) 0 (2,909) 0 (2,909) (2,909)

6582 revenue Business Grants COVID-19 0 0 88 0 0 88 0 88 0 88 88

6590 revenue Test & Trace Support Payments 0 0 (172,424) 0 172,424 0 0 0 0 0 0

6623 revenue Disc Council Tax Rebate Scheme 0 0 (220,091) 0 220,091 0 0 0 0 0 0

6624 revenue LGR Staff costs 0 0 33,546 0 (33,546) 0 0 0 0 0 0
5,282,833 5,309,283 627,725 277,994 3,951,568 4,857,286 0 (451,997) 86,860 4,944,146 (365,137)

1038 revenue Parish Precepts 2,773,694 2,773,694 2,773,694 0 0 2,773,694 (0) 0 2,773,694 (0)

6719 reserve Direct Debits & System Developments 0 22,576 0 0 22,576 22,576 0 0 0 22,576 0

6769 reserve New Finance System 60,980 227,227 94,535 0 132,692 227,227 0 0 0 227,227 0

6789 reserve Legal Services Support 0 22,500 22,500 0 0 22,500 0 0 0 22,500 0

6796 reserve Contingencies 10,000 453,957 30,868 0 423,089 453,957 0 0 0 453,957 0

6797 reserve Council Tax Harship Fund 0 236,593 0 0 236,593 236,593 0 0 0 236,593 0

6798 reserve Business Grants Covid-19 0 229,489 0 0 229,489 229,489 0 0 0 229,489 0

6805 reserve Internal Audit 0 57,955 0 9,955 48,000 57,955 0 0 0 57,955 0

6806 reserve Food Safety & Occupational Health staff 0 23,819 9,601 8,734 5,483 23,819 0 0 0 23,819 0

6809 reserve LGR Implementation 0 1,339 0 0 1,339 1,339 0 0 0 1,339 0

6814 reserve Environmental Protection 0 28,916 13,398 10,276 5,243 28,916 0 0 0 28,916 0

6815 reserve Finance & Accounting 0 26,125 0 0 26,125 26,125 0 0 0 26,125 0

6816 reserve Environmental Health & Housing Manager 0 14,600 0 0 14,600 14,600 0 0 0 14,600 0
70,980 1,345,096 170,902 28,965 1,145,229 1,345,096 0 0 0 1,345,096 0

8,127,507 9,428,073 3,572,321 306,959 5,096,796 8,976,076 0 (451,997) 86,860 9,062,936 (365,137) 

PORTFOLIO: FINANCE & LEGAL

Net

Cost 
Centre

Description

Total Revenue

RESERVES

Total Reserves

TOTAL

P
age 98



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 
Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE

1053 revenue Bereavement Services (138,045) (138,045) (84,374) 72,261 (126,697) (138,810) 0 (765) 0 (138,810) (765)
1067 revenue Parks and Grounds Maintenance 442,952 442,952 340,374 127,046 (31,176) 436,244 0 (6,708) 0 436,244 (6,708)
1068 revenue Street Cleansing 1,059,169 1,065,169 425,861 600,475 38,832 1,065,169 0 (0) 0 1,065,169 (0)
1071 revenue Animal Welfare 49,795 49,795 11,201 32,642 3,151 46,993 0 (2,802) 0 46,993 (2,802)
1072 revenue Pest Control 6,270 6,270 3,547 0 7,380 10,927 0 4,657 0 10,927 4,657
1075 revenue Domestic Waste 1,856,892 1,856,892 1,263,282 595,840 (1,241) 1,857,881 0 989 0 1,857,881 989
1076 revenue Trade Waste (785,338) (785,338) (26,486) 257,244 (1,165,434) (934,676) 0 (149,338) 0 (934,676) (149,338)
1077 revenue Recycling 467,348 467,348 1,148,232 371,010 (1,097,760) 421,482 0 (45,866) 0 421,482 (45,866)
1079 revenue Environmental Initiatives 73,210 73,210 (1,665) 10,327 64,548 73,211 0 1 0 73,211 1
1083 revenue Off-street - Owned Car Parks (2,089,779) (2,087,979) (1,050,330) 49,275 (1,111,150) (2,112,205) 0 (24,226) 0 (2,112,205) (24,226)
1085 revenue Multi-storey Car Park 259,850 258,050 227,614 178,428 (76,329) 329,714 0 71,664 0 329,714 71,664
1086 revenue Off-street - Managed Car Parks (46,296) (46,296) (13,142) 0 (33,154) (46,296) 0 (0) 0 (46,296) (0)
1112 revenue Sports & Leisure Centres 522,342 522,342 310,493 300,420 (90,000) 520,913 0 (1,429) 0 520,913 (1,429)
1114 revenue Sports Development 41,700 41,700 (52,232) 18,595 74,250 40,613 0 (1,087) 0 40,613 (1,087)
1115 revenue Maryport Wave 205,206 205,206 100,947 106,101 0 207,048 0 1,842 0 207,048 1,842
1136 revenue Supporting Leisure Activity 0 0 0 3,610 (3,610) 0 0 0 0 0 0
1153 revenue Workington Nature Partnership 15,500 15,500 (10,648) 67 26,081 15,500 0 (0) 0 15,500 (0)
1166 revenue Multi Store Car Park Utility & Maintenance 87,410 87,410 40,897 4,130 63,316 108,343 0 20,933 0 108,343 20,933
1168 revenue Allerdale Fleet 59,642 59,642 57,291 3,325 5,530 66,146 0 6,504 0 66,146 6,504
1217 revenue Harrot Hill Maintenance 7,367 7,367 1 0 (4,422) (4,421) 0 (11,788) 11,788 7,367 0
5004 revenue Operations Pay Group 67,610 67,610 34,446 0 34,445 68,891 0 1,281 0 68,891 1,281
5820 revenue Community Services Pay group 86,780 86,780 38,021 425 43,392 81,838 0 (4,942) 0 81,838 (4,942)
5960 revenue Sport Parks Development 81,470 81,470 36,028 0 35,061 71,089 0 (10,381) 0 71,089 (10,381)
5970 revenue Bereavement Services 88,520 88,520 47,833 0 47,445 95,278 0 6,758 0 95,278 6,758
6574 revenue Siddick Pond - Water Environment Grant 0 0 (391) 391 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6613 revenue Bin Deliveries 163,202 163,202 163,201 0 0 163,201 0 (1) 0 163,201 (1)
6617 revenue Planting for Pollinators 0 0 1,793 2,735 (4,528) (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0)

2,582,777 2,588,777 3,011,794 2,734,348 (3,302,070) 2,444,072 0 (144,705) 11,788 2,455,860 (132,917)

6748 reserve Sports Development 0 76,411 11,595 4,500 60,316 76,411 0 0 0 76,411 0
6761 reserve Clean Streets Campaign 0 3,835 3,835 0 0 3,835 0 0 0 3,835 0
6780 reserve Allerdale Waste Services 0 246,335 29,180 0 217,155 246,335 0 0 0 246,335 0
6781 reserve Waste Services - Legal Costs 0 11,865 0 0 11,865 11,865 0 0 0 11,865 0
6785 reserve Physical Activity on Referral 0 4,222 612 0 3,610 4,222 0 0 0 4,222 0
6826 reserve Clearance & Security project at Oldside 0 65,074 27,966 0 37,108 65,074 0 0 0 65,074 0
6827 reserve Purchase of bins 0 16,136 16,136 0 0 16,136 0 0 0 16,136 0
6828 reserve Tree Survey Works 0 30,300 (876) 0 31,176 30,300 0 0 0 30,300 0

0 454,178 88,448 4,500 361,230 454,178 0 0 0 454,178 0

2,582,777 3,042,955 3,100,242 2,738,848 (2,940,840) 2,898,250 0 (144,705) 11,788 2,910,038 (132,917) 

PORTFOLIO: ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Net

Cost 
Centre

Description

Total Revenue

RESERVES

Total Reserves

TOTAL

P
age 99



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross 

Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 

Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE
1000 revenue Communications and Marketing 38,500 38,500 14,864 7,200 16,436 38,500 0 0 0 38,500 0

1001 revenue Training 73,010 73,010 47,410 18,249 7,352 73,010 0 0 0 73,010 0

1002 revenue Corporate Recruitment 5,000 5,000 59 0 600 659 0 (4,341) 0 659 (4,341)

1003 revenue Pensions 155,500 155,500 40,895 106,466 (1,524) 145,837 0 (9,663) 0 145,837 (9,663)

1007 revenue Mayoral Services 12,630 12,630 9,047 200 5,289 14,536 0 1,906 0 14,536 1,906

1008 revenue Mayor's Fund 0 0 (1,150) 0 0 (1,150) 0 (1,150) 0 (1,150) (1,150)

1009 revenue Members Services 255,280 255,280 122,738 150 126,645 249,533 0 (5,747) 0 249,533 (5,747)

1010 revenue Leaders Services 29,410 29,410 13,332 0 14,332 27,664 0 (1,746) 0 27,664 (1,746)

1011 revenue Electoral Registration 50,000 50,000 26,322 0 15,400 41,722 0 (8,278) 0 41,722 (8,278)

1012 revenue Elections 5,000 5,000 6,490 66 2,350 8,906 0 3,906 0 8,906 3,906

1046 revenue Corporate Improvement Team 11,900 11,900 6,757 0 4,240 10,997 0 (903) 0 10,997 (903)

1089 revenue Housing Strat Function (1,040) (1,040) 3,675 0 (1,070) 2,605 0 3,645 0 2,605 3,645

1092 revenue Homelessness 22,140 22,140 1,594 10,212 9,393 21,200 0 (940) 0 21,200 (940)

1093 revenue Assistance - Housing Services (81,500) (81,500) 21,421 28,702 (102,194) (52,071) 0 29,429 0 (52,071) 29,429

1098 revenue Strategic Partnership 32,980 32,980 11,625 22,541 (1,186) 32,980 0 (0) 0 32,980 (0)

1100 revenue Grants to Voluntary Organisation 0 0 (26,377) 0 26,377 0 0 0 0 0 0

1101 revenue Planning Policy 15,000 15,000 (16,647) 21,475 10,172 15,000 0 0 0 15,000 0

1152 revenue Leaders Portfolio 10,000 16,000 7,939 0 8,061 16,000 0 0 0 16,000 0

1154 revenue Allerdale Options 0 0 (1,110) 87 1,024 0 0 0 0 0 0

1193 revenue Cumbria CBL Partnership 10,000 10,000 6,684 1,023 2,293 10,000 0 (0) 0 10,000 (0)

1197 revenue Moorclose Community Centre 10,000 10,000 0 0 10,000 10,000 0 0 0 10,000 0

1207 revenue Housing Studies 0 0 (10,250) 10,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1208 revenue Climate Change 20,000 20,000 3,000 0 17,000 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 0

5000 revenue Human Resources Pay Group 136,240 136,240 68,849 6,648 66,232 141,729 0 5,489 0 141,729 5,489

5003 revenue Homelessness Pay Group 25,520 25,520 12,998 0 12,997 25,995 0 475 0 25,995 475

5005 revenue Elections & Democratic Services 244,120 238,150 92,024 10,000 103,611 205,635 0 (32,515) 0 205,635 (32,515)

5010 revenue Housing 223,120 223,120 102,407 7,800 109,052 219,260 0 (3,860) 0 219,260 (3,860)

5011 revenue Housing Options 137,540 137,540 73,882 0 63,658 137,540 0 (0) 0 137,540 (0)

5012 revenue Commercial & Contracts 108,302 108,302 33,583 0 81,965 115,548 0 7,246 0 115,548 7,246

5013 revenue Policy 140,809 140,809 68,677 0 69,300 137,977 0 (2,832) 0 137,977 (2,832)

5014 revenue Spatial 140,809 140,809 73,558 0 71,286 144,844 0 4,035 0 144,844 4,035

5015 revenue Performance 137,009 137,009 68,166 0 68,185 136,350 0 (659) 0 136,350 (659)

5016 revenue Communications & Marketing 121,798 121,798 56,799 0 67,735 124,534 0 2,736 0 124,534 2,736

5019 revenue Executive Support 112,884 112,884 55,118 0 57,275 112,393 0 (491) 0 112,393 (491)

5680 revenue Chief Executive & PA 0 0 2,107 690 (2,797) 0 0 0 0 0 0

5990 revenue Chief Executive + Chief Officers 567,686 567,686 219,560 0 330,108 549,668 0 (18,018) 0 549,668 (18,018)

6578 revenue Rapid Rehousing Pathway (RRP) 0 (7,500) (11,860) 0 3,579 (8,281) 0 (781) 0 (8,281) (781)

6579 revenue Prevention Fund 0 0 (81,491) 0 81,491 0 0 0 0 0 0

6580 revenue ICTIS Project 0 0 63,968 4,570 (68,538) (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0)

6584 revenue Domestic Abuse Funding 0 0 (149,411) 0 149,411 0 0 0 0 0 0

6586 revenue NSAP 0 0 (9,470) 0 9,470 0 0 0 0 0 0

6587 revenue Track & Trace 0 0 9,730 0 (9,730) 0 0 0 0 0 0

6591 revenue Coronavirus Enforcement 0 0 233 0 (233) 0 0 0 0 0 0

6594 revenue Civic Dinner 3,000 3,000 (61) 0 3,000 2,939 0 (61) 0 2,939 (61)

6602 revenue 2021 PCC/CCC/By-Election 0 0 35,862 0 (35,862) 0 0 0 0 0 0

6618 revenue Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delive 0 0 (65,743) 0 65,743 0 0 0 0 0 0

6619 revenue COMF Changing Futures Funding 0 0 (70,000) 0 70,000 0 0 0 0 0 0

6620 revenue Elections 2022 0 0 213,665 0 (213,665) 0 0 0 0 0 0

PORTFOLIO: POLICY, GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Net

Cost 
Centre

Description

P
age 100



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross 

Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 

Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

PORTFOLIO: POLICY, GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Net

Cost 
Centre

Description

6626 revenue Tenancy Sustainability 0 0 (7,145) 0 (876) (8,021) 0 (8,021) 8,021 0 0
2,772,647 2,765,177 1,144,321 256,327 1,323,387 2,724,035 0 (41,142) 8,021 2,732,056 (33,121)

6135 reserve Allerdale Options 0 18,036 1,968 4,702 11,366 18,036 0 0 0 18,036 0

6149 reserve Health & Well-being Group 0 3,057 0 0 3,057 3,057 0 0 0 3,057 0

6744 reserve SBCB 28,216 31,040 4,667 0 26,373 31,040 0 0 0 31,040 0

6778 reserve Cumbria CBL Partnership 0 3,283 0 0 3,283 3,283 0 0 0 3,283 0

6791 reserve Economic Development Strategy work 0 12,255 0 0 12,255 12,255 0 0 0 12,255 0

6799 reserve Communities Activities Fund 0 9,900 7,425 0 2,475 9,900 0 0 0 9,900 0

6808 reserve Housing Improvement 0 2,768 2,648 120 0 2,768 0 0 0 2,768 0

6817 reserve Leaders Portfolio 0 3,500 0 0 3,500 3,500 0 0 0 3,500 0

6818 reserve Senior Business Support Case Officer - DFG 0 75,674 3,702 41,366 20,379 65,447 0 (10,227) 10,227 75,674 0

6819 reserve Housing Studies 0 20,500 20,500 0 0 20,500 0 0 0 20,500 0

6820 reserve Settlement Characterisation Study 0 40,000 40,000 0 0 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 0

6821 reserve DEFRA Biodiversity Grant 0 10,047 0 0 10,047 10,047 0 0 0 10,047 0

6822 reserve Climate Change 0 13,985 7,500 0 6,485 13,985 0 0 0 13,985 0

6823 reserve Grants to voluntary organisations 0 56,100 56,100 0 0 56,100 0 0 0 56,100 0

6824 reserve Communications & Marketing activities 0 23,103 0 0 23,103 23,103 0 0 0 23,103 0

6825 reserve Domestic Abuse Crisis Fund 0 28,057 0 0 28,057 28,057 0 0 0 28,057 0
28,216 351,305 144,511 46,188 150,380 341,078 0 (10,227) 10,227 351,305 0

2,800,863 3,116,482 1,288,832 302,515 1,473,766 3,065,113 0 (51,369) 18,248 3,083,361 (33,121) 

Total Revenue

RESERVES

Total Reserves

TOTAL

P
age 101



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 
Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE

1056 revenue Silloth TIC 12,360 12,360 5,312 0 7,048 12,360 0 (0) 0 12,360 (0)
1106 revenue Contribution to AONB 31,200 30,895 0 0 30,895 30,895 0 0 0 30,895 0
1110 revenue Museums 48,835 48,835 27,500 15,000 6,000 48,500 0 (335) 0 48,500 (335)
1111 revenue Arts Development 10,150 10,150 5,154 0 4,600 9,754 0 (396) 0 9,754 (396)
1144 revenue Carnegie Trust 45,000 45,000 37,500 22,500 (15,000) 45,000 0 0 0 45,000 0
1158 revenue Tourism Incentive 57,500 57,500 37,049 4,968 15,484 57,500 0 0 0 57,500 0
5017 revenue Destination 185,470 185,470 89,310 0 102,017 191,327 0 5,857 0 191,327 5,857
6501 revenue Solway  AONB Core 15,890 (16,285) (57,977) 1,223 40,469 (16,285) 0 (0) 0 (16,285) (0)
6517 revenue Solway Wetlands Project 0 0 (110,503) 0 110,503 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0)
6616 revenue Farming in Protected Landscapes 0 0 5,724 0 (5,724) 0 0 0 0 0 0

406,405 373,925 39,068 43,691 296,292 379,050 0 5,125 0 379,050 5,125

6155 reserve Solway AONB 0 37,099 30,292 1,215 5,592 37,099 0 0 0 37,099 0
6755 reserve Remembering the Solway 0 5,673 0 0 5,673 5,673 0 0 0 5,673 0

0 42,772 30,292 1,215 11,265 42,772 0 0 0 42,772 0

406,405 416,697 69,360 44,906 307,556 421,822 0 5,125 0 421,822 5,125

PORTFOLIO: LEISURE & TOURISM

Net

Cost 
Centre

Description

Total Revenue

RESERVES

Total Reserves

TOTALP
age 102



Approved 
budget

Current
Budget

Actuals Commitments Forecast
Projected 

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr 

to Reserves
Gross Variance

Unplanned 
Contr to 
Reserves

Projected 
Outturn

Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE

1047 revenue IT Services 434,337 444,900 447,414 14,034 51,760 513,207 0 68,307 0 513,207 68,307
1048 revenue Shared Revenues & Benefits IT Costs 82,584 82,584 113,366 0 (34,000) 79,366 0 (3,218) 0 79,366 (3,218)
1050 revenue Multi-functional Printers 10,530 10,530 7,360 10,082 (6,741) 10,701 0 171 0 10,701 171
1059 revenue Revenue (349,240) (349,240) 2,049 0 (335,433) (333,384) 0 15,856 0 (333,384) 15,856
1060 revenue Benefits (614,726) (614,726) (293,931) 0 (310,695) (604,626) 0 10,100 0 (604,626) 10,100
1061 revenue Shared Revs & Bens 113,500 113,500 84,322 0 20,000 104,322 0 (9,178) 0 104,322 (9,178)
1064 revenue Community Safety 10,000 10,000 385 0 9,615 10,000 0 0 0 10,000 0
1065 revenue Emergency Planning 20,914 20,914 0 0 20,914 20,914 0 0 0 20,914 0
1140 revenue Shared ICT Costs 49,700 49,700 42,777 26,211 (5,369) 63,619 0 13,919 0 63,619 13,919
1146 revenue Referral Centre 5,000 5,000 5,865 0 0 5,865 0 865 0 5,865 865
1165 revenue Corporate Postage & Stationery 134,030 134,030 66,379 11,856 55,796 134,030 0 0 0 134,030 0
5006 revenue Community Safety & Resilience 235,250 265,250 127,893 561 138,131 266,586 0 1,336 0 266,586 1,336
5018 revenue Customer & Fulfilment 519,799 518,079 241,644 0 275,946 517,590 0 (489) 0 517,590 (489)
5160 revenue Shared IT Services Pay Group 275,783 275,783 141,046 0 134,285 275,331 0 (452) 0 275,331 (452)
5280 revenue Customer Services Pay Group 0 0 0 2,500 2,500 5,000 0 5,000 0 5,000 5,000
5700 revenue Customer & Transformation 385,440 440,290 33,044 0 406,588 439,632 0 (658) 0 439,632 (658)
5850 revenue Revs, Bens & Recovery Pay group 765,320 765,320 385,447 0 384,958 770,405 0 5,085 0 770,405 5,085
6564 revenue Arcus 94,624 94,624 110,382 7,610 4,320 122,312 0 27,688 0 122,312 27,688
6596 revenue AWSL ICT Support Costs 10,563 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6621 revenue ICT LGR Workstream Implementation 0 0 21,779 0 (21,779) 0 0 0 0 0 0

2,183,408 2,266,538 1,537,221 72,854 790,795 2,400,870 0 134,332 0 2,400,870 134,332

6137 reserve Major Incident Response 0 4,363 (262) 1,207 3,418 4,363 0 0 0 4,363 0
6154 reserve IT Services-Corporate Printers 3,229 3,229 0 0 0 0 0 (3,229) 3,229 3,229 0
6706 reserve Community Safety 0 0 (34,138) 0 34,138 0 0 0 0 0 0
6753 reserve ARCUS System 0 4,910 0 0 4,910 4,910 0 0 0 4,910 0
6829 reserve Revenues 0 38,694 0 0 38,694 38,694 0 0 0 38,694 0
6830 reserve Customer & Fulfilment 0 10,000 0 0 10,000 10,000 0 0 0 10,000 0

3,229 61,196 (34,400) 1,207 91,160 57,967 0 (3,229) 3,229 61,196 0

2,186,637 2,327,734 1,502,821 74,061 881,954 2,458,837 0 131,103 3,229 2,462,066 134,332

PORTFOLIO: CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE & INNOVATION

Net

Cost 
Centre

Description

Total Revenue

RESERVES

Total Reserves

TOTAL

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 104



Appendix B1

Actual Commitments Projected
Approved  Virements / Current Year (PO's Raised Department Projected Outturn

Cost Budget Adjustments Budget to Date but not yet paid)  Forecast Outturn  Variance Budget C/F  Variance
 Centre Description £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking
8005 Strategic Acquisitions 0 379,329 0 379,329 0 0 0 0 (379,329) 379,329 0
8012 Lillyhall - Infrastructure 625,634 1,522,147 0 2,147,781 917,763 663,998 513,451 2,095,212 (52,569) 0 (52,569)
8018 Riverbank Works - Millfield Workington 0 6,350 0 6,350 0 0 6,350 6,350 0 0 0
8024 Maryport Regeneration (HAZ) 284,690 110,812 0 395,502 88,886 33,472 338,911 461,269 65,767 (56,218) 9,549
8026 Regeneration and investment 2,100,000 0 0 2,100,000 0 0 0 0 (2,100,000) 2,100,000 0
8101 Kirkgate Centre Contribution 0 100,000 0 100,000 0 0 100,000 100,000 0 0 0
8505 Workington Hall Repair Scheme 75,000 94,989 20,050 190,039 17,275 2,250 0 19,525 (170,514) 170,514 0
8509 Public Toilets Review Works 0 11,289 0 11,289 0 0 11,289 11,289 0 0 0
8031 Maryport Future High Streets initiative 7,312,407 369,560 0 7,681,967 191,595 136,467 1,570,273 1,898,335 (5,783,632) 5,798,162 14,530
8034 Workington - Towns Accelerated funding scheme 0 468,749 0 468,749 198,700 10,192 87,525 296,417 (172,332) 0 (172,332)
8035 Workington - Towns funding scheme 7,900,000 51,070 0 7,951,070 0 0 1,677,500 1,677,500 (6,273,570) 6,273,570 0
8201 Changing Places 0 0 66,999 66,999 0 0 66,999 66,999 0 0 0

TOTAL - Econ. Growth, Community Develop. & Placemaking 18,297,731 3,114,295 87,049 21,499,075 1,414,219 846,379 4,372,298 6,632,896 (14,866,179) 14,665,357 (200,822)

Finance and Legal
8029 Leased Assets - property, vehicles & equipment 74,000 0 0 74,000 0 0 0 0 (74,000) 0 (74,000)

TOTAL 74,000 0 0 74,000 0 0 0 0 (74,000) 0 (74,000)

Policy, Governance and People Resources
8001 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 1,377,505 1,211,108 0 2,588,613 134,178 0 751,324 885,502 (1,703,111) 1,703,111 0
8003 Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 0 0 0 0 (2,500) 0 8,834 6,334 6,334 0 6,334
8011 Discretionary Grants 0 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 50,000 50,000 0 0 0
8023 Conversion of Otley Road 0 0 0 0 16,576 10,448 300 27,324 27,324 0 27,324
8050 Social Housing Decarbonisation 1,172,945 1,172,945 0 0 1,132,945 1,132,945 (40,000) 0 (40,000)

TOTAL - Policy, Governance and People Resources 1,377,505 1,261,108 1,172,945 3,811,558 148,254 10,448 1,943,403 2,102,105 (1,709,453) 1,703,111 (6,342)

Environmental Services 
8019 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes 11,136 137,792 0 148,928 36,580 12,292 54,569 103,441 (45,487) 0 (45,487)
8909 Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 0 9,424 0 9,424 (11,262) 12,368 36,462 37,568 28,144 0 28,144

TOTAL - Environmental Services 11,136 147,216 0 158,352 25,318 24,660 91,031 141,009 (17,343) 0 (17,343)

Leisure and Tourism
8109 Solway Coast Pathway 0 78,126 0 78,126 25,641 7,630 44,855 78,126 0 0 0
8601 Helena Thompson Museum Development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -Leisure and Tourism 0 78,126 0 78,126 25,641 7,630 44,855 78,126 0 0 0

Customer Experience and Innovation
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL - Customer Experience and Innovation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 19,760,372 4,600,745 1,259,994 25,621,111 1,613,432 889,117 6,451,587 8,954,136 (16,666,975) 16,368,468 (298,507)

Capital Budget Monitoring 2022/23 - Period April to September 2022

Carry fwd from 
2021/22

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 106



Appendix B2 

Capital Budget Monitoring 2022-23 - April to September 2022: Summary of Key 
Variances 

 
Variance 

£’000 

Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking  

Strategic Acquisitions:  

The Strategic Acquisitions capital budget was established to meet the cost of acquiring and 
redeveloping commercial properties to support business start-ups and the small business 
sector. No capital expenditure was recorded against this budget in the six months to 
September 2022.  

The current intention is for this budget to be used to support necessary land acquisition in 
connection with the proposed Workington Gateway project submitted by the Council through 
DLUHC’s Levelling Up Fund Round 2 call for projects. A key component of the highway 
improvement focused element of the project are junction improvements and road widening at 
Ramsay Brow and Hall Brow (A66/A596). Government is expected to announce in autumn 
2022 which projects will receive grant funding. Should the Authority’s bid be successful, the 
available budget is expected to be utilised in the final quarter of 2022-23 to provide a match 
funding contribution towards the costs of acquiring the land and buildings required for delivery 
of the highway improvements at Ramsay Brow. 

(379) 

Lillyhall Infrastructure  
The capital budget of £2,148k covers a hybrid planning application for enabling infrastructure 
and speculative industrial and commercial development, along with the delivery of enabling 
infrastructure works, on Council owned land at Lillyhall. Workington. The scheme (total cost 
£2,825,634 inclusive of expenditure incurred in 2020-21 and 2021-22 of £437,494 and 
£240,359 respectively) is financed from Growth Deal grant funding from Cumbria LEP 
(£1,789,761), capital receipts (£485,874) and borrowing (£549,999).    
In response to growing cost pressures, the length of internal spine road to be delivered has 
been reduced to contain costs within the available. As a consequence the forecast outturn is 
currently expected to undershoot the available budget by £52,571.  

(52) 

Maryport Regeneration (HAZ):  
The capital element of this programme of works includes:  

• the refurbishment of four key high street buildings (including Maryport Town Hall, the 
Maritime Museum, Heron Foods and 68 Crosby Street),  

• an extensive shop-front grant scheme to facilitate the replacement of some of the poorer 
quality shopfronts in the vicinity of Senhouse St. Maryport 

• small-scale public realm improvements.  
The total expenditure budget for the programme of £727k is profiled to be spent across 
financial years 2020-21: £21k (actual), 2021-22 £254k (actual), 2022-23: £396k and 2023-24 
£56k. To reflect the intended delivery and funding arrangements, expenditure of £155k funded 
from private sector contributions is excluded from the budgeted sum.  
The scheme is funded from Heritage Action Zone grant from Historic England of £593k 
(including capital funding of £458k); capital receipts of £150k and borrowing of £119k. 
The reported adverse variance of £66k (overspend) comprises; Town Hall (£22k overspend) 
and Maritime Museum (£44k overspend. The reported overspend is underpinned by a 
combination additional works and changes to the timing of expenditure over the lifetime of the 
programme. 

66 

Page 107



Appendix B2 

 
Variance 

£’000 

Regeneration and investment:  
The budget of £2.1m represents the balance of a £5m capital budget established in 2019-20 to 
support regeneration and investment opportunities. £600k was reallocated to provide match 
funding for the Lillyhall Infrastructure scheme as part of the 2020-21 revised budget and 
address the funding shortfall arising from the loss of third party contributions toward scheme 
costs. The remaining budget (£4.4m), to be funded from borrowing, was reprofiled from 2021-
22 to 2022-23 as part of the 2021-22 revised budget cycle.  
A further £2.3m was reallocated as part of the 2022-23 budget cycle to provide match funding 
for the Workington Sports Village (£1m) and Workington Innovation and Entrepreneurship 
Programme (£1.3m) elements of the Towns Deal scheme (see below). No expenditure has 
been charged against the available budget during the six-month period April to September 
2022 and no formal plans to utilise the remaining budget of £2.1m have been submitted. It is 
anticipated that, at the end of the current financial year, any unused budget will be subject to a 
carry forward request to re-profile the unused budget to 2023-24.  

(2,100) 

Workington Hall Repairs  
The budget of £190k covers the ongoing programme of major repairs and consolidation works 
to ensure continued progression towards eventual removal of the building from the At Risk 
Register. The current budget includes £95k underspend brought forward from 2021-22 to 
supplement the budget of £75k, approved as part of the 2022-23 budget cycle and £20k grant 
awarded by Heritage England.  
The total cost of the proposed scheme of works was previously estimated at £260k. This 
includes costs of £100k (not included in the current budget provision) to be met from grant 
funding and subject to the outcome of the Authority’s grant application to Heritage England. 
The remainder was budgeted to be funded from capital receipts (£75k) and borrowing (£95k). 
Following an unsuccessful initial tender, exercise a second tender exercise was completed in 
September. However, whilst this resulted in two bids, neither tenderer was able to meet the 
required timetable for commencing work in order to comply with ecological constraints on site 
access. 
Tenders received were also significantly higher than the available budget. Work is currently 
ongoing to ascertain the programme of works achievable within the available funding envelope 
ahead of the next ecological window in the spring of 2023. 
 

(171) 

Page 108



Appendix B2 

 
Variance 

£’000 

Maryport Future High Streets (FHS) Initiative: 
The scheme incorporates a number of projects relating to the regeneration of Maryport Town 
Centre. These cover:  

• enhancement of the public realm areas with a focus on pedestrian improvements and 
surface enhancements on Curzon & Senhouse Streets, landscaping work and 
rationalising street furniture 

• developing a semi covered market space on vacant land at 64 Senhouse Street (Empire 
Yard) 

• redevelopment of the former Carlton Cinema as a community hub 
• redevelopment of The Wave to provide a more comprehensive leisure and activities hub 

which will incorporate a leisure pool as well as additional features such as ebike hire and 
charging centre 

• purchase and redevelopment of Christchurch building to form an Arts and Heritage Hub 
• conversion of retail units into high quality apartments. (Grant scheme). 

The remaining budget for the initiative (including budget of £369,560 carried forward from 
2021-22) is profiled to be spent across financial years 2022-23: £7,682k and 2023-24: £3,866k. 
Costs of £31k and £673k, funded from FHS grant, were incurred in 2020-21 and 2021-22 
respectively. The total capital budget for the scheme is £12,252k. 
The primary source of funding for the project is a capital grant of £11,528k from the 
Governments Future High Streets Fund. The balance is funded from other grants £17k, capital 
receipts £75k and borrowing £632k. 
The 2022-23 capital budget (including budget carry forwards from 2021-22)  comprises: 

 £2,335,818 - Carlton Cinema* 
 £1,614,674 -  Christchurch* 
 £2,929,994 - The Wave & ebike Hub* 

 £192,131 - Public Realm* 
 £609,349 - Residential grants 

Following the decision to scale back the Empire Yard scheme as a result of difficulties in 
securing the land holdings needed to progress the project, the 2022-23 capital budget 
allocation also includes the reallocation of £1,261,382 previously assigned to the Empire Yard 
scheme to meet increased costs of other projects*. 
Forecast expenditure for the year to March 2023 is £1,898,335 giving rise to a net forecast 
underspend of £5,783,632 against the 2022-23 budget of £7,681,967. Underpinning the net 
underspend are variances of:  

• £1,709,494 in respect of the Carlton Cinema as a result of additional survey work and 
design work required to address party wall issues. This has delayed the tendering 
process and the commencement of on-site works.  

• £1,504,662 in respect of redevelopment of Christchurch building and  
• £2,183,382 relating to The Wave following an extension to the procurement process and 

reissuance of tenders. Tender returns are due to be received in December 2022. 
Subject to meeting required procurement criteria including affordability and contract 
award, work is expected to commence around February 2023. 

• £330,007 relating to the Residential Grant scheme as a result of delays experienced by 
applicants in obtaining and planning consents and requisite numbers of tenders, and  

• £56,054 in respect of public realm works. 
The unused budget in 2022-23 will be carried forward to 2023-24. 

(5,784) 

Page 109



Appendix B2 

 
Variance 

£’000 

Workington (Accelerated) Towns funding scheme:  
The capital budget of £468,749 (carried forward from 2021-22), funded from the Accelerated 
Towns Fund grant (£149,996) and borrowing (£318,753), was established to cover the 
acquisition and demolition of the former Opera House, Workington. The total budget for this 
scheme is £502,136, inclusive of costs of £20,295 incurred in 2020-21 and £13,092 in 2021-22. 
The original scope for the Opera House project was to purchase and then demolish the original 
building. However, following negotiations, the current owner offered to demolish the building 
enabling the Authority to purchase the cleared site. Contracts were exchanged on 16 March 
2021. Purchase of the site was completed on 17 August 2022 following completion of 
demolition works and the resolution of outstanding party wall issues. The change from 
acquisition and demolition of the former Opera House to purchase of the cleared site has had a 
favourable impact on costs and contributed to a favourable forecast variance for 2022-23 of 
£172,332. 

(172) 

Workington - Towns funding scheme:  
The three-year capital programme 2022-23 to 2024-25 includes £23,251k relating to capital 
expenditure on the five priority projects contained in the Workington Town Deal funding offer of 
£23.1m (including capital funding of £22.4m) and related Heads of Terms Agreement between 
the Authority and DLUHC signed in April 2021.The budget also includes £2.3m of match 
funding from Allerdale BC (reallocated from the previously agreed £4.4m Regeneration and 
Investment budget) to be met from borrowing. Expenditure of £49k was incurred in 2021-22. 
The remaining expenditure is currently profiled to be spent across financial years 2022-23 
(£7,951k including £51k b/fwd from 2021-22); 2023-24 (£10,100k); 2024-25 (5,200k) and 2025-
26 (£1,400k). The five priority projects are: 

1. Port of Workington – Clean Energy and Logistics Hub 
2. Innovation and Entrepreneurship Programme  
3. Townscape and Connectivity Improvements  
4. Digital Accelerator  
5. Workington Sports Village.  

Pending the completion of phase 2 of the Towns Fund process, the current profile of the 
expenditure budget across financial years 2021-22 to 2025-26 was established to mirror the 
indicative values included in the financial profile submitted to DLUHC in September 2021 and 
set out in the early business cases for each of the five projects. 

Phase 2 has now been completed and funding for year one of the programme (£5,415k) has 
been received by the Authority. Projects have now transitioned to the delivery phase with 
current forecasts based on estimates of costs expected to be incurred on site surveys and 
detailed design work required to confirm cost plans and support the submission of planning 
applications. Forecasts will be reviewed and updated as this work progresses. Any unused 
budget in 2022-23 will be re-profiled to 2023-24. 

(6,274) 

Total variance: Economic Growth, Community Development & Placemaking (14,866) 

Finance and Legal  

Leased Assets - property, vehicles & equipment: 
The budget of £74k was established to accommodate the expected budget implications arising 
from the planned implementation of IFRS 16 - Leases from 1 April 2022. However, following an 
emergency consultation during February and March 2022 on proposals for changing the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for 2021-22 and 2022-23, CIPFA LASAAC issued a 
further statement in April 2022 deferring the implementation of IFRS 16 until 1 April 2024. 
However, both the 2022-23 and the 2023-24 Codes are expected to allow for adoption as of 1 
April 2022 or 2023. Following CIPFA LASAAC’s latest statement on IFRS 16 and, having 
regard to the Authority’s ongoing involvement with local government reorganisation in Cumbria, 
and the preparedness of existing sovereign authorities to implement IFRS 16 in 2022-23, a 
collective decision was taken by sovereign authorities not to implement IFRS 16 prior to 
Vesting Day on 1 April 2023. The budget of £74k is therefore no longer required in 2022-23. 

(74) 

Total variance: Finance & Legal (74) 

Page 110



Appendix B2 

 
Variance 

£’000 

Policy, Governance and People Resources  

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants:  
This scheme involves mandatory grant support to individuals to meet the cost of housing 
adaptations that enable people to stay living in their own home for longer. The Authority has a 
statutory duty to provide adaptations to the homes of disabled people who qualify for a 
mandatory DFG. Expenditure on DFGs is fully funded from an annual grant paid to upper-tier 
authorities as part of the Better Care Funding allocations and cascaded to district councils 
responsible for providing DFGs.  
The budget for 2022-23 is £2,588,613 including £1,211,108 carried forward from 2021-22. 
Total expenditure on DFGs in the six months to September 2022 was £134,178. This 
compares with expenditure of £270,649 and £134,279 for the corresponding six-month periods 
in 2021-22 and 2020-21 respectively. 
Based on the value of grants approved but not yet paid and current levels of grant approvals, 
the forecast outturn expenditure for the year to March is £885,502. This results in a forecast 
underspend for the year March 2023 of £1,703,111 against the current budget and £492,003 
when compared to the original budget, (i.e. excluding budget carried forward from 2021-22). At 
the end of the current financial year, any unused budget will be re-profiled to 2023-24.       

(1,703) 

Social Housing Decarbonisation: 
The budget of £1,172,945 relates to a programme of works, to be delivered in partnership with 
Home Housing Group, designed to improve the energy performance of the Group’s social 
housing stock. Eligible works include capital expenditure on energy efficiency and heating 
measures compatible with the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) that will help improve 
properties to the required performance standards. This includes, but is not limited to, energy 
efficiency measures (such as wall, loft, and underfloor insulation) and low carbon heating 
technologies. The expenditure is fully funded from a grant from the Government’s Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund. The grant award includes £40,000 to cover administrative and 
ancillary costs incurred by the Council and capitalised in accordance with proper practices. At 
the end of July no such costs had been incurred or identified. 

(40) 

Items < £30k  33 

Total variance: Policy, Governance & People Resources (1,710) 

Environmental Services  

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure programmes 
The budget of £148,928 (including £137,792 carried forward from 2021-22) relates to a number 
of environmental initiatives including the Get Cumbria Buzzing – West Cumbria’s Pollinator 
project and Siddick Pond Wetland Creation Scheme. The current budget is funded from  
Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) grant funding (allocated via Cumbria Wildlife Trust) of £99,283, 
capital contributions from Cumbria County Council (£10,000) and borrowing (£39,645). 
As a result of changes made to the nature and scale of work carried out in relation to schemes 
associated with the Get Cumbria Buzzing project, along with the significant use of volunteers 
working alongside officers (Workington Nature Partnership Officer & Nature Ranger) the costs 
of delivering these schemes are expected to be lower than budget.  
As a consequence, it is anticipated that £45,487 of the £99,283 remaining from the £172,043 
HLF allocation, will not be required. 

(45) 

Items < £30k  28 

Total variance: Environmental Services (17) 

Total variance  (16,667) 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



Appendix  C

Summary of Treasury Management Activity 

 Investment Activity August to September 2022  Investment Activity 2022-23 - year to date

Made Repaid Made Repaid

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Call Accounts AA- 0 0 0 0 Call Accounts AA- 0 0 0 0

Call Accounts A+/A/A- 11,758 9,541 (9,546) 11,753 Call Accounts A+/A/A- 8,048 32,618 (28,913) 11,753

Notice Accounts (DMO) AA- 2,135 32,105 (30,265) 3,975 Notice Accounts (DMO) AA- 0 74,200 (70,225) 3,975

Money Market Funds AAA 20,000 0 0 20,000 Money Market Funds AAA 16,255 3,745 0 20,000

Equity Shares - 12 0 0 12 Equity Shares - 12 0 0 12

Total 33,905 41,646 (39,811) 35,740 Total 24,315 110,563 (99,138) 35,740

Comment:

At 30 September 2022  investment balances totalled £35.74m. This compares with a balance of £24.32m at 31 March 2022 and £33.91m at 31 July 2022.  The average investment balance during the 

period was £39.85m (year to date £34.77m). This compares with an average of £28.85m for the corresponding period last year. 

Underpinning this average balance are the significant cash balances associated with various grant support packages and other measures implemented by central government in response to Covid-19 pandemic 

and cost of living crisis, along with the cash flow impact of capital grants received in advance.

In accordance with the Council's approved Investment Strategy, all investments made during the period were restricted to approved investment instruments with counterparties holding a credit rating of 

not less than A-. The term of all investments made did not exceed the maximum permitted durations determined by reference to the creditworthiness of the counterparty. 

Borrowing Activity August to September 2022 Borrowing Activity 2022-23 - year to date

01-Aug-22
New 

Borrowing
Borrowing 

Repaid
30-Sep-22 01-Apr-22

New 
Borrowing

Borrowing 
Repaid

30-Sep-22

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Long-term Long-term

PWLB – fixed rates 15,782 0 (260) 15,522 PWLB – fixed rates 15,871 0 (349) 15,522

Short-term Short-term

Local Bonds 31 0 0 31 Local Bonds 31 0 0 31

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54 Trust Funds 54 0 0 54

15,867 0 (260) 15,607 15,956 0 (349) 15,607

Comment:

No new borrowing or rescheduling of existing loans took place during the period August to September 2022.  At 30 September 2022 the total net premature redemption premium payable was £4.55m

(31 July: £8.91m; 31 March 2022: £11.77m). This comprises premia of £5.16m less discounts of £606k

Non specified investments Non specified investments

Credit 
Rating

01-Apr-22
Investments 

30-Sep-22

Specified investments Specified investments

Credit 
Rating

01-Aug-22
Investments 

30-Sep-22

P
age 113



Composition of PWLB loans portfolio Maturity profile of borrowing (inc. non PWLB)
 30 Sept 

2022
 31 July 

2022
 31 Mar 

2022
 31 Dec 

2021
 30 Sept 

2021
 30 Sept 

2022
 31 July 

2022
 31 Mar 

2022
 31 Dec 

2021
 30 Sept 

2021
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maturity loans 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 Less than 1 year 790 791 786 784 781

Annuity loans 1,315 1,316 1,365 1,373 1,414 Between 1 & 2yrs 715 715 710 709 705

EIP Loans 6,207 6,466 6,506 6,804 6,804 Between 2 & 5yrs 2,034 2,212 2,195 2,192 2,178

Total 15,522 15,782 15,871 16,177 16,218 Between 5 & 10yrs 1,860 1,861 1,904 2,086 2,115

Redemption Value* 20,261 24,817 27,844 31,294 30,497 Between 10 & 20yrs 2,168 2,248 2,281 2,371 2,404

Between 20 & 30yrs 40 40 80 120 120

Average interest  % 5.18% 5.13% 5.14% 5.08% 5.09% Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000

Average maturity (Yrs) 24 24 24 24 24 Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 0 0 0

Weighted average life (Yrs) 21 21 21 21 21 15,607 15,867 15,956 16,262 16,303

* including accrued interest

Prudential and Treasury Indicators Lower/upper limits on % of borrowing maturing in each period
2021/22 
Actual

2022/23 
Approved

2022/23
At 30.9.22

2022/23 
Forecast

At 31.3.22 
Actual

Lower limit 
2021/22 

Upper limit 
2021/22 

At 30.9.22 
Actual

Forecast at 
31.3.23 

£000 £000 £000 £000 % % % % %

Actual capital expenditure1 3,040 25,554 1,613 8,954 Under 12 months 4.92 0 20 5.06 5.19

Capital financing requirement (31 March)2 20,292 24,889 19,449 19,991 12 months to 2 years 4.44 0 20 4.58 4.76

Gross debt & CFR: (under)/over borrowing (31 March) (4,336) (2,621) (3,842) (2,831) 2 years to 5 years 13.76 0 20 13.03 12.60

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream (%) 12.6 13.3 N/A 12.4 5 years to 10 years 11.94 0 30 11.92 13.21

Authorised Limit for External Debt2 25,000 27,500 27,500 27,500 10 years to 20 years 14.3 0 40 13.89 14.34

Operational boundary for external debt2 23,000 25,500 25,500 25,500 20 years to 30 years 0.5 0 40 0.26 1.59

12 20 12 12 30 years to 40 years 50.14 0 80 51.26 47.47

40 years to 45 years 0 0 80 0 0.42
1 £19,761k approved plus approved 2021-22 budget carry-forwards and adjustments 46 years to 50 years 0 0 80 0 0.42
2 Element related to borrowing only (i.e. excluding lease element); current budget £24,871k
3 Measured at fair value. The nominal value (historic cost) of principal sums investment at 31 July is £1k 

Upper limit on total principal invested for periods of 

more than 365 days3

P
age 114



Appendix D

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Footway Lighting Scheme 14,182 14,182 14,182 0 14,182 0 0

Community Housing Fund 2,495 2,495 2,495 0 2,495 0 0

Community Stadium 5,261 5,261 5,261 0 5,261 0 0

Future High Streets 117,591 117,591 (46,880) 70,711 (46,880) 0 49,651 21,060 0

Towns Fund 47,302 47,302 47,302 0 5,604 41,698 0

Social Investment Fund 4,760 4,760 4,760 0 4,760 0 0

Northside Allotments 17,577 17,577 17,577 0 17,577 0 0

Local Heritage List Campaign 32,821 32,821 32,821 0 32,821 0 0

Gypsy & Traveller 26,803 26,803 26,803 0 26,803 0 0

Community Lottery 11,329 11,329 11,329 0 11,329 0 0

Tenanted Properties 7,955 7,955 7,955 0 7,955 0 0

Prog Dir Maryport Regen 26,000 26,000 26,000 0 26,000 0 0

Maryport HAZ 53,809 53,809 53,809 0 33,004 20,805 0

Delivering Economic Benefits 4,800 4,800 4,800 0 4,800 0 0

Coastal Defence Work 28,696 28,696 28,696 0 28,696 0 0

Corporate Property Maintenance 18,388 18,388 18,388 0 18,388 0 0

Maryport Regeneration 20,820 20,820 46,880 67,700 46,880 0 15,644 52,056 0

Strategic Partner 114,632 114,632 114,632 0 0 114,632 0

Business Support Unit - Development Services 15,000 15,000 15,000 0 15,000 0 0

Planning & Development staff resource 49,015 49,015 49,015 0 49,015 0 0

Levelling Up fund 0 0 0 0 0 81,000 81,000 0

Maritime Museum 0 0 0 0 0 2,794 2,794 0

619,236 619,236 0 619,236 0 0 0 368,985 83,794 334,045 0

Financial System Developments 22,576 22,576 22,576 0 22,576 0 0

New Finance System 227,227 227,227 227,227 0 227,227 0 0

Legal Services Support 22,500 22,500 22,500 0 22,500 0 0

Contingencies 672,677 498,957 (45,000) 453,957 (45,000) 173,720 453,957 86,860 260,580 0

Council Tax Hardship Fund 236,593 236,593 236,593 0 236,593 0 0

Business Grants Covid-19 229,489 229,489 229,489 0 229,489 0 0

Int Audit Pay Group 57,955 57,955 57,955 0 57,955 0 0

Food Safety & Occupational Health staff resource 23,819 23,819 23,819 0 23,819 0 0

Local Government Reorganisation Implementation Fund 24,672 1,339 1,339 23,333 1,339 23,333 0

Environmental Protection 28,916 28,916 28,916 0 28,916 0 0

Finance & Accounting 26,125 26,125 26,125 0 26,125 0 0

Environmental Health & Housing Manager 14,600 14,600 14,600 0 14,600 0 0

1,587,149 1,390,096 (45,000) 1,345,096 (45,000) 0 197,053 1,345,096 86,860 283,913 0

Transfers 
between reserves

Forecasted Spend 
2023/24 onwards

Held as 
Accounting/
Contingency 

reserves

Economic Growth, Comm Dev & Placemaking

Finance & Legal

Planned spend at 
31 July 2022 

(budget)

Earmarked Reserves

Reserves
Balance at 
01/04/2022

Balance at 
31/03/2023

Planned  
Contributions to 

Reserves

Forecast Spend in 
2022/23

Forecast 
contributions to 

to/(from) reserves

Adjustments to 
planned spend 

(budget)

Current Budget at 
30 September 

2022

P
age 115



Appendix D

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Transfers 
between reserves

Forecasted Spend 
2023/24 onwards

Held as 
Accounting/
Contingency 

reserves

Planned spend at 
31 July 2022 

(budget)

Earmarked Reserves

Reserves
Balance at 
01/04/2022

Balance at 
31/03/2023

Planned  
Contributions to 

Reserves

Forecast Spend in 
2022/23

Forecast 
contributions to 

to/(from) reserves

Adjustments to 
planned spend 

(budget)

Current Budget at 
30 September 

2022

Provision for Elections 40,000 0 0 40,000 0 40,000 0

Allerdale Options - Employee Engagement Activities 18,036 18,036 18,036 0 18,036 0 0

Health & Well-being Group 3,057 3,057 3,057 0 3,057 0 0

SBCB 31,040 31,040 31,040 0 31,040 0 0

Cumbria CBL Partnership 3,283 3,283 3,283 0 3,283 0 0

Economic Development Strategy work 12,255 12,255 12,255 0 12,255 0 0

Communities Activities Fund 9,900 9,900 9,900 0 9,900 0 0

Housing Improvement 15,622 15,622 (12,854) 2,768 (12,854) 0 2,768 0 0

Leaders Portfolio 3,500 3,500 3,500 0 3,500 0 0

Senior Business Support Case Officer - DFG 17,820 17,820 57,854 75,674 57,854 0 65,447 10,227 0

Housing Studies 70,500 20,500 20,500 50,000 20,500 50,000 0

Settlement Characterisation Study 40,000 40,000 40,000 0 40,000 0 0

DEFRA Biodiversity Grant 10,047 10,047 10,047 0 10,047 0 0

Climate Change 13,985 13,985 13,985 0 13,985 0 0

Grants to voluntary organisations 56,100 56,100 56,100 0 56,100 0 0

Communications & Marketing activities 23,103 23,103 23,103 0 23,103 0 0

Domestic Abuse Crisis Fund 28,057 28,057 28,057 0 28,057 0 0

Tenancy Sustainability 0 0 0 0 0 8,021 8,021 0

396,305 306,305 45,000 351,305 45,000 0 90,000 341,078 8,021 108,248 0

MSCP Utilities & Maint fund 75,000 0 0 75,000 0 75,000 0

Sports Development 76,411 76,411 76,411 0 76,411 0 0

Clean Streets Campaign 3,835 3,835 3,835 0 3,835 0 0

Allerdale Waste Services 246,335 246,335 246,335 0 246,335 0 0

Waste Services - Legal Costs 11,865 11,865 11,865 0 11,865 0 0

Physical Activity on Referral 4,222 4,222 4,222 0 4,222 0 0

Clearance & Security project at Oldside 65,074 65,074 65,074 0 65,074 0 0

Purchase of bins 16,136 16,136 16,136 0 16,136 0 0

Tree Survey Works 30,300 30,300 30,300 0 30,300 0 0

Harrot Hill Maintenance 0 0 0 0 0 11,788 11,788 0

529,178 454,178 0 454,178 0 0 75,000 454,178 11,788 86,788 0

Solway AONB 75,478 37,099 37,099 38,379 37,099 38,379 0

Remembering the Solway 5,673 5,673 5,673 0 5,673 0 0

81,151 42,772 0 42,772 0 0 38,379 42,772 0 38,379 0

IT Services - corporate printers 3,229 3,229 3,229 0 0 3,229 0

ARCUS System 4,910 4,910 4,910 0 4,910 0 0

Community Safety 4,363 4,363 4,363 0 4,363 0 0

Revenue 38,694 38,694 38,694 0 38,694 0 0

Customer & Fulfilment 10,000 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 0 0

61,196 61,196 0 61,196 0 0 0 57,967 0 3,229 0

Leisure & Tourism

Customer Experience & Innovation

Policy, Gov & People Resources

Environmental Services

P
age 116



Appendix D

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Transfers 
between reserves

Forecasted Spend 
2023/24 onwards

Held as 
Accounting/
Contingency 

reserves

Planned spend at 
31 July 2022 

(budget)

Earmarked Reserves

Reserves
Balance at 
01/04/2022

Balance at 
31/03/2023

Planned  
Contributions to 

Reserves

Forecast Spend in 
2022/23

Forecast 
contributions to 

to/(from) reserves

Adjustments to 
planned spend 

(budget)

Current Budget at 
30 September 

2022

Earmarked Reserves on Services 3,274,215 2,873,783 0 2,873,783 0 0 400,432 2,610,076 190,463 854,602 0

NNDR Rate Pool Volatility Fund 363,421 185,212 185,212 645,244 823,453 316,547 1,319,754 0 1,366,628

Section 31 NNDR 3,831,727 3,334,000 3,334,000 497,727 3,334,000 0 497,727

Hugh Barbour Bequest 8,661 0 8,661 0 8,661

Enterprise Answers Loan & Accrued Interest 42,099 0 42,099 0 42,099

Earmarked Reserves on Funding 4,245,908 3,519,212 0 3,519,212 0 645,244 1,371,940 3,650,547 1,319,754 0 1,915,115

Total Earmarked Reserves 7,520,123 6,392,995 0 6,392,995 0 645,244 1,772,372 6,260,623 1,510,217 854,602 1,915,115

Corporate resources - * held for accounting purposes or as contingency against specific risks

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 118



Allerdale Borough Council – Executive Reports and Key Decisions 
 
1 December 2022 to 31 March 2023 
 

Decision Date decision to be 
made and decision 
maker 

Open/Exempt Portfolio Holder Officer contact details 

1 Senhouse Street, 
Maryport, Heritage 
Action Zone 
 
Key Decision 
 
Approval of appointment 
of main contractor, 
following a competitive 
procurement exercise, to 
deliver capital works to 
convert the former 
Maryport Maritime 
Museum to an art gallery 
with an artist in 
residence apartment, as 
part of the Heritage 
Action Zone (HAZ) 
programme. 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial) 
 
November 2022 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial) 
 
 

Treasury Management 
Operation Annual 
Report 2021/22 
 
Key Decision 
 

Audit Committee  
 
26 September 2022  
 
Council 
 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Barry Lennox, Financial 
Services Manager 
 
barry.lennox@allerdale.
gov.uk 

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 11



: To inform members of 
the performance of the 
Council’s treasury 
management activities 
for the year 

7 December 2022 

Treasury Management 
Operations – Mid-year 
review 2022/23 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s treasury 
management activities 
during the six-month 
period ending 30 
September 2022 

Audit Committee  
 
28 November 2022  
 
Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Barry Lennox, Financial 
Services Manager 
 
barry.lennox@allerdale.
gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder 
updates (non-key) 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Update 
Report 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Councillor Michael 
Heaslip, Councillor Carni 
McCarron-Holmes 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 
 

P
age 120



Appointment of 
Returning Officer and 
Electoral Registration 
Officer 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Lee Jardine, Senior 
Specialist Electoral 
 
lee.jardine@allerdale.go
v.uk 

Governance Update 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
7 December 2022 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Hybrid Mail Decision 
 
Key Decision 
 
The report provides a 
summary of the activity 
taken to procure Hybrid 
Mail Services. 
Reviewing progress of 
previous procurement, 
and actions taken to 
move to contract award. 
This is a summary of the 
most recent 
procurement activity for 
a joint procurement 
bringing together 
Carlisle, Copeland and 
Allerdale’s requirements 

Executive 
 
11 January 2023 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Paul Wood, Programme 
Director 
(Transformation) 
 
paul.wood@allerdale.go
v.uk 

P
age 121



ahead of the transition to 
Cumberland Council. 
Allerdale will coordinate 
the procurement activity 

Christ Church - Future 
High Streets tender 
 
Key Decision 
 
Executive is requested 
to approve the award of 
the contract to a main 
contractor to deliver a 
programme of capital 
works at Christ Church, 
Maryport, following a 
competitive tender 
process, in accordance 
with the Council's 
procurement 
regulations. 

Executive 
 
11 January 2023 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial) 
 
 

The Wave Centre, 
Maryport - Future High 
Streets tender 
 
Key Decision 
 
Executive is requested 
to approve the award of 
the contract to a main 
contractor to deliver a 
programme of capital 

Executive 
 
11 January 2023 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial) 
 
 

P
age 122



works at the Wave 
Centre, Maryport, 
following a competitive 
tender process, in 
accordance with the 
Council's procurement 
regulations. 

The Carlton, Maryport - 
Future High Streets 
Tender 
 
Key Decision 
 
Executive is requested 
to approve the 
appointment of a main 
contractor to deliver a 
programme of capital 
works to redevelop the 
Carlton, Maryport, as 
part of the Future High 
Streets programme, 
following a competitive 
tender process, in 
accordance with the 
Council's procurement 
regulations. 

Executive 
 
11 January 2023 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Innovation 
and Commercial) 
 
 

Procurement of 
Elections Management 
and Electoral 
Registration System 
for Cumberland 

Executive 
 
11 January 2023 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 

Lee Jardine, Senior 
Specialist Electoral 
 
lee.jardine@allerdale.go
v.uk 

P
age 123



Council 
 
Key Decision 

Fitzgerald) 

Housing Grants and 
Assistance Policy 
 
Key Decision 

Executive 
 
11 January 2023 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald) 

Andrea Smith, Housing 
Manager 
 
andrea.smith@allerdale.
gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder 
updates (non-key) 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
25 January 2023 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Update 
Report 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
25 January 2023 

Open 
 
 

Councillor Michael 
Heaslip, Councillor Carni 
McCarron-Holmes 

Sharon Sewell, Chief 
Officer (Place and 
Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer 
 
sharon.sewell@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Award of construction 
contract for 
Workington Innovation 
Centre 
 
Key Decision 

Executive 
 
8 February 2023 

Fully exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Programme Director for 
Workington 
 
 

Award of operator 
contract for 
Workington Innovation 

Executive 
 
8 February 2023 

Fully exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 

Programme Director for 
Workington 
 

P
age 124



Centre 
 
Key Decision 

Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

 

Cumberland Sports 
Village 
 
Key Decision 
 
To consider the 
business case for the 
development of the 
proposed Cumberland 
Sports Village 

Executive 
 
8 February 2023 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Programme Director for 
Workington 
 
 

Portfolio Holder 
updates (non-key) 
 
Non-Key Decision 

Council 
 
1 March 2023 

Open 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

Boardwalk, Maryport - 
Future High Streets 
tender 
 
Key Decision 
 
Executive is requested 
to approve the award of 
the contract to a main 
contractor to deliver a 
programme of capital 
works to develop a new 
boardwalk between 

Executive 
 
15 March 2023 

Part exempt 
 
 

Leader and Executive 
Member: Economic 
Growth, Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Graeme Wilson, 
Programme Director for 
Maryport Regeneration 
 
graeme.wilson@allerdal
e.gov.uk 

P
age 125



Maryport harbour and 
promenade, following a 
competitive tender 
process, in accordance 
with the Council's 
procurement 
regulations. 

Quarter 3 Finance 
Report Oct to Dec 2022 
 
Key Decision 
 
To inform members of 
the Council’s financial 
performance against 
budget for the period 
April to December 2022 
along with the forecast 
position to 31 March 
2023 

Executive 
 
15 March 2023 

Open 
 
 

Executive Member: 
Finance and Legal 
(Councillor Colin 
Sharpe) 

Catherine Nicholson, 
Chief Officer (Assets) 
and S151 Officer 
 
catherine.nicholson@all
erdale.gov.uk 

Quarter 3 Performance 
Report 2022/23 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
A report detailing 
performance against the 
Council Strategy 
Delivery Plan 2022/23 at 
the end of Quarter 3 
2022/23. 

Executive 
 
15 March 2023 

Open 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Policy, Governance and 
People Resources 
(Councillor Marion 
Fitzgerald), Leader and 
Executive Member: 
Economic Growth, 
Community 
Development and 
Placemaking (Councillor 
Mike Johnson) 

Ian Brogden, Digital 
Transformation Officer, 
Alex FitzGerald, Senior 
Policy and Improvement 
Officer 
 
ian.brogden@allerdale.g
ov.uk, 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale
.gov.uk 

P
age 126



 
Meetings of the Council, Executive and Scrutiny Committees are open to the public (except when exempt (confidential) items are 
being considered).  It is advisable to check the agenda before attending a meeting, as decision dates may be subject to change.   
Agendas and supporting documents for meetings of the Executive can be found on the Council’s website www.allerdale.gov.uk or 
at Allerdale House, Workington, Cumbria, CA14 3YJ 
 
Further information is available by calling 01900 702502 
 
Any representations as to why a meeting should be open to the public should be made in writing to Democratic Services at the 
above address. 
 
A list of the Executive members can be found at http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=11

P
age 127

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=11


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 128



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Work Programme 2022-2023 

 

2022 

Friday 9 December 

 Quarter 2 Performance Report  

 Quarter 2 Finance Report 

 Progress on responses to questions on Safer Streets Project  

 Housing Grants & Assistance Policy Review 

 Update from Task and Finish Groups 

 Update on Local Government Reorganisation 

 

2023 

Friday 13 January 

 Update from Task and Finish Groups 

 Update on Local Government Reorganisation 

 Economic Recovery and Growth Strategy progress report 

 Cost of Living Measures Update 

Friday 17 February 

 Quarter 3 Performance Report  

 Quarter 3 Finance Report 

 Cumbria Community Safety Partnership Annual Report and Review 

 Cost of Living Measures Update 

 Update from Task and Finish Groups 

 Update on Local Government Reorganisation 

 Monitoring of regeneration programmes 

Friday 17 March 

 Overview & Scrutiny Committee sign off report  

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Housing Grants and Assistance Policy
	Housing Grants and Assistance Policy Jan 2023 - FINAL DRAFT

	7 Quarter 2 Performance Report 2022/23
	Appendix A for Quarter 2 Performance Report 2022/23
	Appendix B for Quarter 2 Performance Report 2022/23

	8 Quarter 2 Finance Report
	Appendix A - Projected Revenue Outturn by Portfolio - period April to September 2022
	Appendix B1 - Capital Expenditure v Budget April to September 2022
	Appendix B2 - Capital Variances - period April to September 2022
	Appendix C - Treasury Management Activity April to September 2022
	Appendix D - 2022-23 Earmarked Reserves at 30 September 2022

	11 Forward Plan
	12 Work Programme and Outcomes Monitoring

